SHARING STORIES OF DEVELOPMENT: HOW SCHOOL LEADERS PERCEIVE DEVELOPING A TRAUMA-INFORMED SCHOOL

By

Mandy L. Cyr

Bachelor of Arts in Environmental Studies from the University of New England 1999 Master of Science in Educational Leadership from the University of New England 2009

A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Affiliated Faculty of The College of Graduate and Professional Studies at the University of New England

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of Requirements For the Degree of Doctor of Education

It was presented on 2/9/2024 and reviewed by:

Rosette Obedoza, EdD, Lead Advisor University of New England

Susan Noyes, PhD, Secondary Advisor University of New England

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

© 2024

Mandy Cyr

Doctor of Education Final Dissertation Approval Form

This Dissertation was reviewed and approved by:

Date: March 2, 2024

SHARING STORIES OF DEVELOPMENT: HOW SCHOOL LEADERS PERCEIVE DEVELOPING A TRAUMA-INFORMED SCHOOL ABSTRACT

This narrative inquiry explored how educational leaders perceive the development of a traumainformed school. A trauma-informed school acknowledges the impact of trauma and responds by integrating effective practices, programs, and procedures to build resilience. Because of the rising numbers of students having adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), the problem addressed by this study was the lack of targeted skills school staff need to help students mitigate trauma. Further, this qualitative study fills the gap in literature by providing the lived experiences of educational leaders in developing trauma-informed schools. Through narrative research, semistructured interviews, which lasted up to 60 minutes, were individually conducted with five educational leaders who worked in trauma-informed schools in Maine. Data analysis included restorying the interview transcripts and coding the data. Each narrative was sent to participants for member checking to ensure accuracy. Restoried narratives were examined in depth and revealed the following themes: connections, readiness for change, and availability of time. Key findings showed connections are the foundation of a trauma-informed school to foster belonging. Readiness for change among staff is necessary for professional development to be meaningful, and time is essential to engage in the work. Success is measured by whole-child well-being over test scores. Implications suggest a collaborative, whole-school approach may promote a student's daily resilience.

Keywords: adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), trauma-informed schools, professional development, social–emotional learning (SEL)

iv

DEDICATION

This dissertation stands as a testament to the unwavering support and sacrifices I have received throughout this journey.

To my parents, you will always be my biggest fans and foundation of support. Thank you for each morning phone call and your messages of support. You have always believed in me.

To my family, the early mornings filled with quiet determination, the sidelines of bustling soccer games, basketball courts, and swim meets each doubled as impromptu research and writing spaces. All these moments offered me your unwavering commitment to my aspirations.

To my husband, your endless encouragement and understanding during those early mornings and late nights fueled my perseverance. Your unwavering belief in me, even amidst the chaos of balancing academia, family, and profession, has been my anchor.

Last, but not least, to my extraordinary children. Your patience, resilience, and adaptability never cease to amaze me. Amid the whirlwind of games and competitions, your understanding and support allowed me to pursue this dream. Your cheers from the sidelines motivated me. Your sacrifices, unwavering support, and the countless moments you dedicated to allowing me to pursue this endeavor have not gone unnoticed. I am endlessly grateful for you.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

To my lead advisor, Dr. Rosette Obedoza, thank you for your support throughout this entire process. I am grateful for your advice, eye for detail, and thoughtful feedback.

To my secondary advisor Dr. Susan Noyes, thank you for your thoughtful questions and comments along my journey. I am grateful for your support. I left one particular comment on my manuscript for the entire revision process. It was a reminder of the evolution of my work and something I continue to be proud of. Thank you.

To my classmates, thank you for your support, phone calls, e-mails and text messages. We were able to move forward together. Our journeys were unique to each of us, yet we all were on the rollercoaster of the *Doctoral Journey*. Your friendship is cherished.

To my participants, thank you for sharing your experiences and stories with me. I appreciate your honesty and candid responses. Thank you for making this study possible.

CHAPTER 1: INTRO	DUCTION	1
Definitions of	Key Terms	4
Statement of t	he Problem	4
Purpose of the	Study	6
Research Que	stions and Design	7
Conceptual an	d Theoretical Framework	7
Assumptions,	Limitations, and Scope	10
Rationale and	Significance	12
Summary		13
CHAPTER 2: LITER	ATURE REVIEW	16
Conceptual an	d Theoretical Frameworks	8
Person	al Interest	8
Topica	l Research	8
Theore	tical Framework	19
Adverse Child	hood Experiences	21
Advers	se Childhood Experiences and Long-Term Impacts	22
Impact	of Adverse Childhood Experiences on Learning	23
Maine Integra	ted Youth Health Survey	24
Resilience		26
Comm	unity Partnerships	27
Resilie	nce in the Classroom	28
Resilie	nce Cultivation to Cope With Adverse Childhood Experiences	30

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Social–Emotional Learning	0
Trauma-Informed Practices	3
Trauma-Savvy Practices	5
Need for Trauma-Informed Practices	6
Professional Development	7
Professional Development Implementation	8
Role of School Leadership in Professional Development	8
Efficacy of Trauma-Informed Professional Development Interventions	9
Barriers to Implementing Professional Development	0
Trauma-Informed Schools	0
Brockton School District	2
Spokane Public School District42	2
Summary	3
CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY 40	6
Site Information and Demographics	8
Participants and Sampling Method 48	8
Instrumentation and Data Collection	0
Data Analysis	1
Limitations, Delimitations, and Ethical Issues	2
Limitations	2
Delimitations	3
Ethical Issues	3
Trustworthiness	5

Credibility
Transferability
Dependability
Confirmability
Summary 57
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS
Analysis Method 61
Presentation of Findings
Narratives
Themes
Summary 123
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION
Interpretation and Importance of Findings 126
Interpretations and Importance of Research Question 1 127
Interpretations and Importance of Research Question 2
Implications
Recommendations for Action
Recommendations for Further Study
Conclusion
REFERENCES
APPENDIX A
APPENDIX B
APPENDIX C 159

APPENDIX D 162

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. MIHYS Data for High School and Middle School Students	
Table 2. MIHYS Data for Children in Grades 5 and 6	
Table 3. Participant Demographic Information	

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

In the state of Maine, nearly 1 in 4 high school students have experienced three or more adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), as noted by the 2021 Maine Integrated Youth Health Survey (MIYHS; Maine Department of Health and Human Services [MDHHS], 2021), which reported an increase in ACEs since 2019 (MDHHS, 2019). ACEs result from traumatic events children have experienced and could include physical, emotional, and sexual abuse; physical and emotional neglect; and household dysfunction, such as caregiver mental illness, physical abuse in the home, divorce, incarcerated relative, and substance abuse (Felitti et al., 1998). Subsequent studies have expanded ACEs to include additional adversities in the child's environment that can alter their feeling of safety and stability at home (Rossen, 2020). Children who have endured ACEs are more likely to struggle in school academically and have behavioral challenges, including the ability to focus on instruction and self-regulation (Murphey & Sacks, 2019). To combat the impact of ACEs, it is necessary to focus on the development of the whole child during the school experience to increase positive outcomes (Frey et al., 2019). School staff can work with all students to learn strategies to build resilience against the impact of ACEs. Although the prevalence of trauma-informed schools has grown, there remains a wide range of systematic implementation of trauma-informed practices (Rossen, 2020). School leaders would benefit from collaborative learning regarding what trauma-informed schools are and how they are created (Rossen, 2020).

Research on ACEs has been conducted for decades (Felitti et al., 1998; Frey et al., 2019; Rossen, 2020). Exposure to ACEs has been correlated to negative health outcomes in adulthood (Felitti et al., 1998; Webster, 2022), as research has shown a high number of ACEs is associated with an increased likelihood of experiencing negative health impacts such as heart disease,

1

diabetes, or cancer (Felitti et al., 1998). Beyond the negative impact of higher numbers of ACEs on adult health, children who have experienced a higher number of ACEs than their peers are more likely to present with behaviors that may limit their academic growth (Felitti et al., 1998; Frey et al., 2019).

Children in the state of Maine have experienced trauma in connection with ACEs (MDHHS, 2019, 2021). In 2019, 20% of high school students in Maine reported experiencing four or more ACEs; by 2021, that number had increased to 25% (MDHHS, 2019, 2021). In other words, 1 out of every 4 high school students has experienced more than four ACEs. According to the MDHHS (n.d.), MIYHS data support the development of public policy in favor of trauma-informed resources and other trauma mitigating responses in Maine schools.

The focus of this study was on Maine school leaders and their ability to drive change in the education setting when creating a trauma-informed school. A trauma-informed school is an educational institution that acknowledges and comprehends the far-reaching effects of trauma on students, faculty, and the entire school community (National Child Traumatic Stress Network [NCTSN], 2018). Many students arrive at school every day and struggle emotionally and behaviorally (Rossen, 2020), but support can be put in place to better meet the needs of students served (Eller & Hierck, 2022). One of those supports can be a trauma-informed school environment; such an environment can promote safety, trust, and empowerment with the goal of fostering resilience and supporting the healing process (NCTSN, 2018). Trauma-informed schools prioritize students' well-being and emotional needs by implementing strategies and practices that promote positive mental health and academic success (NCTSN, 2018).

Effective professional development for school staff is necessary to transition to a traumainformed school (Thomas et al., 2019). Trauma-informed practices are strategies used to create environments infused with awareness to trauma exposure, responsiveness to the impact of trauma, and mindfulness of using resources that encourage healthy development and support when trauma occurs (Margolius et al., 2020). Those professional development opportunities equip all staff to implement trauma-informed practices and use the tools necessary to mitigate the impact of ACEs on students by building resilience (Herrenkohl et al., 2019). School leaders can initiate a transition to a trauma-informed school by requiring professional development for school staff (Eller & Hierck, 2022; Rossen, 2020).

School leaders can respond to the impact of trauma their students have experienced through schoolwide professional development for all staff that focuses on a foundational awareness of ACEs and the integration of trauma-informed practices (Eller & Hierck, 2022; Rossen, 2020). Consistent implementation of trauma-informed practices may help create an environment in which staff recognizes and responds to trauma, thereby increasing the resiliency in the youth (Thomas et al., 2019). In addition to the implementation of trauma-informed practices, school staff may also learn more about social–emotional learning (SEL) through professional development.

The integration of SEL into curriculum can empower students to navigate various situations they may encounter (Frey et al., 2019) because SEL focuses on supporting student development of life skills such as empathy, emotional intelligence, and goal setting (Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning [CASEL], n.d.-a). SEL skills are crucial for student learning, and they can benefit all students, including those who have not been affected by adverse childhood experiences (Keane & Evans, 2022). Trauma-informed schools can promote student learning by implementing strategies to mitigate the impact of trauma while

affording opportunities to increase resilience and grit and allowing them to learn (Eller & Hierck, 2022).

Definitions of Key Terms

Adverse Childhood Experiences. Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) are potentially traumatic events that occur in childhood and may include violence, abuse, and family environments with mental health or substance use problems (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2021).

Social–Emotional Learning. Social–emotional learning (SEL) is the process by which all youth and adults acquire and apply the knowledge, skills, and attitudes needed to create healthy identities, manage emotions, achieve goals, demonstrate empathy, establish and maintain relationships, and make responsible and caring decisions (CASEL, n.d.-b).

Trauma-Informed Teaching Practices. Trauma-informed teaching practices are strategies used by youth-serving systems and professionals to create environments infused with awareness of trauma exposure, responsiveness to the impact of trauma, and mindfulness of using resources that encourage healthy development and support when trauma occurs (Margolius et al., 2020).

Statement of the Problem

Due to an increased rate of ACEs impacting students, the problem addressed by this qualitative narrative research was school support staff have been unable to provide necessary, targeted assistance to help students build resilience and learn coping strategies to combat the impact of ACEs (Murphey & Sacks, 2019; Rossen, 2020). Schools have become a safe place to support students who experience ACEs; however, school personnel have varying expertise in addressing student needs (Hunter et al., 2021). School support professionals (e.g., counselors, social workers, and even school nurses) have different levels of formal educational training when

it comes to understanding the impact of ACEs (Bachmann & Bachmann, 2018; Hertz, 2020). Furthermore, these professionals' daily interactions with students are not consistent, which can reduce the effectiveness of the staff in assisting students to build resiliency (Bachmann & Bachmann, 2018; Hertz, 2020). Teachers, administrative assistants, educational technicians, and school administrators are just a sample of school personnel who interact with students, yet they often lack best practice skills to meet the needs of students they serve; school counselors or social workers cannot be the only answer (Hertz, 2020). McInerney and McKlindon (2014) emphasized establishing a trauma-informed school necessitates fundamental changes in the mindset of all staff members. This shift involves fostering essential modifications in school culture and climate and laying a strong foundation of additional support in curriculum and necessary interventions.

Professional development can inform school staff how to respond to and mitigate the negative impact of ACEs while supporting student learning and creating a positive school climate (Guarino & Chagnon, 2018). Public schools are ideal for this type of work, as children are required to attend school 180 days (i.e., about 6 months) per year for a minimum of 5 hours per day (National Center for Education Statistics, n.d.). Students who have been exposed to three or more ACEs are more likely to fail in school, perform lower on standardized tests, have behavioral challenges, and exhibit an increased number of special education referrals than their peers (Felitti et al., 1998; Offerman et al., 2022; Rossen, 2020). For these reasons, school leaders have exhibited a sense of urgency to find ways to support these students. Without additional support, children who have experienced ACEs (e.g., abuse, neglect, and dysfunctional home environment) often lack the necessary coping mechanisms to overcome the impact of resulting

trauma (CDC, 2021). Furthermore, the impact of resulting trauma can be compounded depending on the number of ACEs a child has experienced (CDC, 2021).

Although significant research is available regarding ACEs, few studies have examined the experiences or perspectives of school leaders who engage in organizational changes toward the development of a trauma-informed school. The available literature and published research have supported and validated the negative impacts of ACEs, including their impact on student learning (Felitti et al., 1998; Rosen et al., 2022). Due to the number of children in school and their increasing needs, the public school provides a natural environment in which to provide professional development for staff on the use of trauma-informed practices. Given the prevalence of ACEs across the country and in the state of Maine, research has identified the need to develop trauma-informed schools (MDHHS, 2019, 2021; Offerman et al., 2022).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this narrative inquiry was to explore how educational leaders perceive the development of a trauma-informed school. The term trauma-informed school was generally defined as a public school setting in which all staff have acquired some knowledge about ACEs and are versed in strategies to mitigate their impact (Souers & Hall, 2019). Trauma-informed schools are equipped to respond to the needs of students by integrating effective practices, programs, and procedures into all aspects of the organization and culture (Overstreet & Chafouleas, 2016). Educational leaders are those individuals who can influence a change in organizational culture and lead staff to create a trauma-informed school. Mezirow's (2009) theory of transformative learning was used as the framework for the development of research questions and was used to guide the research. I sought to understand how school leaders describe

the development of a trauma-informed school, inclusive of practices, programs, and procedures used.

Research Questions and Design

This narrative inquiry explored public school leaders' perceptions of developing a trauma-informed school. Purposeful sampling was used to recruit participants who self-identified as educational leaders in the state of Maine and were developing or had developed a trauma-informed school. Semistructured interviews were used to gain detailed information from five participants who met the identified criteria. Using relevant literature on the impact of ACEs for children and the need to develop trauma-informed schools to mitigate their impact, the following questions guided the study:

Research Question 1: How do trauma-informed school leaders describe necessary practices, programs, and procedures to support the cultivation of students' resilience and mitigate the impact of ACEs?

Research Question 2: How do trauma-informed school leaders make informed decisions about staff professional development to expand understanding toward the implementation of a trauma-informed school?

Conceptual and Theoretical Framework

This study focused on my personal interest in public education, specifically school districts in which there had been an identified goal of being a trauma-informed school. My professional experience included working in a high-poverty school district where the needs of students are substantial. Each year, my school district has a transient population of students due to gentrification of the city and the seasonal nature of housing and rental housing in southern Maine, which has made affordable housing difficult to find (Graham, 2021). The average home

in my work community was built in 1941 and has less than 1,100 square feet, which may not be enough space to raise a family. It can be a struggle for some students to attend school on a consistent basis. These students may have experienced any number of ACEs, yet they are still expected to attend class and learn mathematics when, for example, some have not slept the night before, have not eaten, and have no safe place to live. School leaders are able to transform the school experience for students they serve by providing professional learning for staff to become trauma informed, which would allow them to be responsive to students' needs by implementing trauma-informed practices and SEL curriculum (Offerman et al., 2022).

Trauma research in the healthcare field and feedback from patients have informed services needed in our communities and have elicited deep consideration of policies and practices for traumatized individuals (Center for Substance Abuse Treatment, 2014). Traumainformed care (TIC) has extended beyond healthcare and has been implemented in various systems, including public schools. Harris and Fallot (2001) developed a TIC framework based on trauma theory that emphasizes the impact of traumatic experience on individuals' psychological, emotional, and physical well-being. The implementation of TIC can equip staff to address the complex needs of trauma survivors and promote a comprehensive and holistic approach to healing (Harris & Fallot, 2001).

The conceptual framework used in this qualitative narrative inquiry focused on the use of Harris and Fallot's (2001) TIC framework when designing a trauma-informed system. Trauma theory, according to Harris and Fallot (2001), emphasizes the negative impact of traumatic experience on individuals' psychological, emotional, and physical well-being. The theory recognizes trauma can have profound and long-lasting effects on individuals' lives, often resulting in symptoms such as posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), anxiety, depression, and impaired interpersonal relationships (Harris & Fallot, 2001). The implementation of TIC can support school staff in addressing the complex needs of trauma survivors by promoting a comprehensive and holistic approach to healing (Harris & Fallot, 2001). According to Harris and Fallot (2001), areas of focus for creating a trauma-informed system include: (a) administrative commitment to change, (b) training and education, and (c) review of policies and procedures. When considering these areas of focus, a school building and the employees who work in it are essential to creating a trauma-informed system.

Harris and Fallot (2001) believed individuals who benefit from trauma-informed systems may not be aware they have experienced traumatic events; however, without the implementation of trauma-informed practices, these individuals are at a higher risk of being retraumatized (Harris & Fallot, 2001). Additionally, when all staff members receive trauma training, the traumainformed message can spread throughout the system or school and create a safe environment for all trauma survivors (Harris & Fallot, 2001). It is essential for school leaders to commit to providing welcoming and tailored services that meet the unique needs of those impacted by trauma (Harris & Fallot, 2001).

In addition to the conceptual framework, this study used a theoretical framework based on Mezirow's (2009) transformative learning theory, a well-established theory in adult education. Transformative learning theory emphasizes adults must adopt a fresh perspective when encountering new information and incorporate reflection and dialogue in the process. Mezirow (2009) defined transformative learning as "learning that transforms problematic frames of reference to make them more inclusive, discriminating, reflective, open, and emotionally able to change" (p. 22). In the context of trauma-informed practices, transformative learning theory involves self-reflection and necessitates adjustments in pedagogical approaches. In a school system, adults are equipped with the power to make change, yet that power requires them to learn new strategies to work with students who have experienced ACEs. When learning about ACEs and trauma-informed practices, adults cannot rely solely on their previous understanding of schooling; instead, they must allow new information to reshape their viewpoint, which can lead to better informed decisions. For teachers, reflecting on teaching practices can be a crucial step in integrating this new learning (Mezirow, 2009).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Scope

Qualitative research maintains assumptions that reality is socially constructed and there is no unique observable reality (Merriam & Tisdell, 2017). Narrative methodology, in particular, relies on "the experiences as expressed in lived and told stories of individuals" (Creswell & Poth, 2018, p. 67). As such, retold, or restoried, narratives are assumed to be a representation of the stories participants have told (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). As an example, Riessman (2008) explained researchers can transcribe the same interview into different types of stories depending on the context. These collections of stories, then, require a collaborative approach between the participant and the researcher (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Assumptions in this study were the statements I, as the researcher, believed were true (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). I assumed individuals who self-identified to participate would be educational leaders in a trauma-informed school in the state of Maine. I also assumed participants would share accurate, honest, and reflective information about their lived experiences. Additionally, I assumed trauma-informed public school leaders in Maine would be willing to participate in this study and share detailed and descriptive stories regarding the creation of a trauma-informed school. Furthermore, assumptions in this study also included the

effectiveness of trauma-informed practices in mitigating the impact of ACEs and the willingness of school leaders to drive change.

Roberts and Hyatt (2019) defined limitations as characteristics of a study over which the researcher has limited or no control. The decision to use a qualitative narrative research methodology was a study limitation because the data collected were bound by the stories participants shared (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). These data were collected from only five participants to uncover details about participants' lived experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Bloomberg and Volpe (2018) argued a small number of participants may be appropriate in a qualitative study if the descriptions are detailed and descriptive stories are told. I acknowledged there were other educational leaders in trauma-informed schools from whom I would not collect data; however, selecting five participants allowed for a larger, collective story to be shared. Finally, the study was also limited by the questions posed in the interview and the skills I possessed as an interviewer.

Purposeful sampling allows the researcher to select individuals and sites from which to learn about or understand a central phenomenon (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Purposeful sampling also allows the researcher to determine specific criteria for participation (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Public school personnel in leadership positions were intentionally chosen for participation because of their knowledge of trauma-informed practices and their ability to effect change in schools. In addition, this study focused on schools in the state of Maine because I was deeply invested in the public schools system in Maine. Requests for participation identified participation criteria and were circulated to current building leaders in the state of Maine via email. As with any qualitative study, I brought my own biases into the study. I limited bias by employing systematic measures such as a clearly defined narrative methodology. I used member checking by sharing the restoried narratives with participants to ensure the accuracy of their stories (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Member checking allowed participants to review restoried data from the interviews and verify their voices were represented accurately (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019).

Rationale and Significance

Rationale and significance refer to the justification for why a study is important and why it matters (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). Felitti et al. (1998) described the correlation between ACEs and negative health outcomes for adults. With more than 173,900 students enrolled during the 2022–2023 school year, Maine public schools are an ideal location to work on building resilience in youth to mitigate the impact of ACEs (Maine Department of Education, n.d.). The development of trauma-informed schools and implementation of trauma-informed practices can provide students with the necessary tools to protect them from negative impacts of ACEs (Perez, 2021). A trauma-informed school creates consistency and stability in the daily learning environment for students (Stokes & Brunzell, 2019) and provides full staff training, so staff members have the knowledge to support and mitigate the impact of trauma. Because administrative assistants, custodians, and bus drivers can provide stability and predictability in the school day, all staff should have trauma-informed knowledge to encourage whole-school support (Stokes & Brunzell, 2019).

Professional education opportunities to develop trauma-informed knowledge need to be provided for all staff (Perez, 2021; Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration [SAMHSA], 2014). Learning experiences should be delivered in a trauma-informed manner, in which the presenter is aware of educators' needs for professional learning (Koslouski & Chafouleas, 2022). Consistent and effective professional learning is necessary for school improvement and change (Rossen, 2020).

Summary

Public school teachers and staff have an opportunity to support students as they learn how to navigate the impact of ACEs, and school personnel require support in learning how to best meet the needs of their students (Guarino & Chagnon, 2018; Rossen, 2020). Students who have experienced the impact of ACEs can benefit from additional support in learning how to mitigate their effects (Eller & Hierck, 2022). This qualitative narrative study explored Maine public school leaders' perceptions of developing a trauma-informed school by answering the following questions: (a) how do trauma-informed school leaders describe necessary practices, programs, and procedures in supporting the cultivation of children's resilience to mitigate the impact of ACEs; and (b) how do trauma-informed school leaders make informed decisions about traumainformed professional learning offered to expand staff understanding toward the implementation of a trauma-informed school?

Varying definitions of a trauma-informed school exist; however, there are clear indicators on the outcomes of students who have experienced ACEs and the impact of ACEs on school success (Blodgett & Lanigan, 2018). I used a qualitative methodology with a narrative inquiry research approach to learn from trauma-informed school leaders in Maine who believed they had established a trauma-informed school. School leaders were invited to share perspectives regarding the implementation of practices, programs, and procedures to mitigate impact of ACEs in the school setting, which may include SEL, resiliency building, or trauma-informed practices. Finally, I also sought to uncover the professional development strategies employed by school leaders to support the transformational learning of school staff.

This study was motivated by the need to address the impact of ACEs on students and the lack of preparedness among educators in supporting students who have experienced trauma. This study contributed to research on the development of trauma-informed schools and how to improve outcomes for students impacted by ACEs. As with any research study, there were identified assumptions, limitations, and scope (Creswell & Creswell, 2022). I assumed participants in this study would be Maine educational leaders from trauma-informed schools and provided honest, introspective accounts. I also assumed these school leaders would be open to participating and sharing detailed narratives about creating trauma-informed school. An additional assumption was trauma-informed practices could mitigate the impact of ACEs. Limitations included the small sample size and the focus on school leaders in the state of Maine. The scope of this study was to explore school leaders' perspectives in developing trauma-informed schools.

Chapter 2 provides an in-depth description of the conceptual and theoretical framework and extensive research findings from current literature in the areas of ACEs, resiliency, professional development, trauma-informed practices, and SEL. The literature review discusses the framework for the development of trauma-informed schools and the role of school leadership in providing support for staff who work with students who may have experienced trauma. In Chapter 3, the methodology and the research design of this study are provided in detail. This chapter includes an explanation of how participants were selected, how interviews were conducted, and how data were interpreted. Chapter 4 reviews and analyzes the findings and includes the participants' restoried narratives. Chapter 5 presents interpretations, importance, and implications of the findings.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

The focus of this study was educational leaders' ability to drive trauma-informed change at the school in which they work. The transition to a trauma-informed school requires effective professional development and practice (Guarino & Chagnon, 2018; Stokes & Brunzell, 2019). In addition, school staff must understand the potential impact of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and the need to implement social–emotional learning (SEL) and trauma-informed practices to build resilience in students (Scott et al., 2021).

Many children have been exposed to ACEs (Carlson et al., 2020; CDC, 2021; Offerman et al., 2022), which may include physical and emotional abuse, neglect, mental illness in the caregiver, and domestic violence (CDC, 2021; Rossen, 2020). According to the Maine Integrated Youth Health Survey (MIHYS), the number of high school students in the state of Maine who have experienced three or more ACEs increased from 20% in 2019 to 25% in 2021 (MDHHS, 2019, 2021). Students who have experienced ACEs may exhibit behavioral and emotional challenges, including managing their own behavior and ability to focus during class (Rossen, 2020; Sacks & Murphey, 2018). These students may also exhibit a lack of engagement with school in general (Rossen, 2020).

Unfortunately, the impact of ACEs can last decades. Research has demonstrated the higher the number of ACEs a child has, the greater the risk for negative outcomes in adulthood (Felitti et al., 1998; Webster, 2022). Felitti et al. (1998) found over half of study participants (52%) reported having experienced one or more childhood traumas. Additionally, the higher a participant's ACE score, the higher the likelihood the participant would experience negative health impacts as an adult, such as heart disease, diabetes, or cancer (Felitti et al., 1998). These

findings suggested a need to address ACEs prior to adulthood by providing strategies to teach youth to build resilience.

School staff can work with students to learn strategies to build resilience against the impact of ACEs (Rossen, 2020). By integrating SEL into the curriculum, school personnel can help children develop life skills such as empathy, emotional intelligence, and goal setting (CASEL, n.d.-b). SEL skills are as essential for student learning as academic information and can benefit all children, even those who are not impacted by ACEs directly (Frey et al., 2019). School staff members who demonstrate awareness of trauma-informed practices, SEL, and the need for resilience can help create an environment that recognizes and responds to trauma, resulting in increased resilience in youth (SAMHSA, 2014). Implementing strategies to mitigate the impact of trauma and increase resilience can also benefit children as they grow into adulthood.

This chapter addresses ACEs, resiliency, trauma-informed practices, and professional development needed to support the development of a trauma-informed school. First, I connect the impact of ACEs on a child's ability to learn with the strategies (i.e., trauma-informed practices) school staff can consistently implement to increase student resilience. Next, I discuss the framework for developing trauma-informed schools and the role of school leadership in providing support for staff who work with students who have experienced trauma. Finally, this review focused on the benefits and barriers to developing a trauma-informed school model and the necessary steps to follow toward full implementation. I obtained literature in this review through online databases such as Education Resources Information Center, Education Database, and Google Scholar. Additional literature from professional organizations, such as Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development and CASEL, was obtained from my personal

library. Common search terms included adverse childhood experiences, trauma-informed schools, professional development, social–emotional learning, and resiliency.

Conceptual and Theoretical Frameworks

In this study, I focused on public school leaders' perceptions of developing a traumainformed school and the practices, programs, and procedures implemented to support that development. As participants in the study, educational leaders were given the opportunity to share their stories and personal perspectives on the development of a trauma-informed school. The conceptual framework for this study conveys why this study was important and provided a clear connection between my research questions, the scholarly literature, and my methodologies (Ravitch & Riggan, 2017).

Personal Interest

This study explored public education, focusing on school districts that have strived to be trauma-informed. In my experience in a high-poverty district, student needs are significant. I have worked in a school system where gentrification and seasonal housing fluctuations make affordable housing scarce, leading to a transient student population. Many students face challenges with regular attendance due to adverse experiences. However, school leaders can improve the educational experience by training staff to be trauma-informed and enabling them to address students' needs effectively.

Topical Research

This study employed qualitative methodology with a narrative inquiry research approach to learn from school leaders in Maine who believe they have established a trauma-informed school. Grounded in TIC and supported by trauma theory (Harris & Fallot, 2001), areas of focus in this study included the school administration's commitment to change, training, and education, along with a review of policies and procedures for the creation of a trauma-informed school. School leaders were invited to share perspectives regarding the implementation of practices, programs, and procedures used to mitigate the impact of ACEs in the school setting, which included SEL, resiliency building, and trauma-informed practices. Finally, I sought to uncover the professional development strategies employed by school leaders to support the transformational learning of school staff. In addition to the principles of trauma theory, as described by Harris and Fallot (2001), this study was also supported by Mezirow's (2009) transformative learning theory, which focuses on the adult learner.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework of this study was built on Mezirow's (2009) transformative learning theory, a theory in adult education. Mezirow (1978a, 1978b, 1981) first framed his theory as perspective transformation and acknowledged reflection as one of the most important components of learning in adulthood. Reflection enables people to recognize, reassess, and modify structures of assumptions and expectations that scaffold their points of view and influence thinking, beliefs, attitudes, and actions. Mezirow (2009) continued to refine his theory and developed the current definition of transformative learning as "learning that transforms problematic frames of reference to make them more inclusive, discriminating, reflective, open, and emotionally able to change" (p. 22). As researchers have further refined transformative learning theory, the fundamental premise of individuals constantly making meaning of their experiences has remained steadfast (Hoggan & Hoggan-Kloubert, 2022).

To determine the use of transformative learning theory for this study, I examined its related strengths and weaknesses. A strength and long-term benefit of transformative learning theory is the provision of space for the adult learner to shift in perspective (Bass, 2012). Bass

(2012) shared a learner must have deep reflective practices to truly bring new learning into practice. In contrast, Boyd and Myers (1988) critiqued transformative learning theory as being overly rationalistic because it emphasizes deliberation and critical reasoning as the primary causes for development in learning. This critique has suggested a potential weakness of the theory; namely, when an adult learner is not ready, does not have the capacity for new learning, or is unable to reflect on learning, they will not experience transformational learning (Bass, 2012). Bass (2012) noted additional limitations of transformative learning theory, including the lack of context identification and its influence on the learning process, the importance of linking old and new information, and the social action in which learning may occur. Furthermore, Boyd and Myers (1988) argued transformative learning theory may not account for all forms of transformation and noted learners' self-experiences were missing from this framework. Another area of criticism is Mezirow's transformative learning theory has a narrow focus on the individual rather than the collective (Cunningham, 1992). In context of this narrative study, this individual-centric approach was a valuable asset because it allowed for concentrated exploration of an individual's learning journey.

Transformative learning theory states adults need to engage in new perspectives as information is presented or learned through a process of reflection and dialogue (Mezirow, 2009). Through the lens of this theory, then, school staff would not be able to apply old understandings of schooling while learning about ACEs and trauma-informed practices (Dube et al., 2023). The knowledge gained from the process of developing a trauma-informed school would change the staff's perspective, resulting in a staff more informed about trauma and better equipped to address trauma-related issues. Self-reflection is critical when learning new information; however, individuals cannot remain in the reflective phase indefinitely, as doing so would inhibit moving forward with implementation (Leicht et al., 2018). The success of a trauma-informed school hinges upon the administration's unwavering dedication to change through continuous professional learning and policy review (Manhart, 2017). In creating a trauma-informed school, it is imperative to acknowledge the significant role ACEs play in shaping the context for these efforts.

Adverse Childhood Experiences

ACEs are traumatic events a child encounters before the age of 18 (CDC, 2021). According to the CDC (2021), a traumatic event could include violence, abuse, neglect, or something present in a child's surroundings that might affect their safety or stability at home, such as drug addiction of a caregiver. Traumatic events can happen anywhere, and a child's response to trauma may impact different aspects of the child's life (Rossen, 2020). Over half of children in the United States have experienced one or more ACEs (Sacks & Murphey, 2018).

Due to the prevalence of ACEs, school buildings in the United States are full of students who have experienced ACEs and other micro traumas (Carlson et al., 2020). A micro trauma is a small, inconspicuous psychological injury that, when accumulated, undermines a person's sense of self-worth, distorts their personality, and jeopardizes their relationships with others (Crastnopol, 2015). Sacks and Murphey (2018) administered a survey to children in the United States that measured eight specific adversities. Survey results showed economic hardship and parental divorce were the most common adversities reported by children in all 50 states. Adversities on the survey did not include homelessness or harassment, which also could be viewed as traumatic events and have an impact on children (Murphey & Sacks, 2019). As of 2023, poverty is not an isolated adversity risk factor or micro trauma; rather, it is embedded in an ACE score (Carlson et al., 2020; Lacey et al., 2020). In comparison to other states, Pontius (2019) reported Maine ranked 30th, with 22.5% of children reporting two or more ACEs at the time of their study; however, additional research in Maine has shown 1 in 5 high school students, or 20%, has experienced four or more ACEs (MDHHS, 2019). This finding is significant because children with four or more ACEs have a 63% chance of being depressed and a 37% chance of considering suicide (MDHHS, 2019). Children with four or more ACEs are also more likely than their peers to be bullied, drink, and smoke (MDHHS, 2019).

Adverse Childhood Experiences and Long-Term Impacts

Prior research has indicated ACEs can have long-term consequences for children, and having more ACEs can increase the likelihood of adverse outcomes, including poor health and risky behaviors (Campbell et al., 2015; Felitti et al., 1998; Merrick et al., 2019; National Conference of State Legislatures, 2022). In the 1990s, the CDC sought to better understand the correlation between trauma experience in childhood and subsequent health outcomes as an adult (Felitti et al., 1998). The study focused on 10 specific factors: (a) physical, emotional, and sexual abuse; (b) physical and emotional neglect; and (c) household dysfunction, including caregiver mental illness, violence, divorce, incarcerated relatives, and substance abuse (Felitti et al., 1998). Findings indicated these specific traumas were associated with an increase in poor health outcomes in adulthood (Felitti et al., 1998).

Geneticists have also conducted research on the impact of ACEs and studies have shown a connection between ACEs and genetic markers, such as telomeres. According to the Jackson Laboratory (n.d.), a telomere is a region of repetitive DNA sequences at the end of each chromosome that copies and divides each time cellular regeneration occurs. As humans age, the telomeres' length naturally becomes shorter and eventually impacts the ability for a cell to divide. Ridout et al. (2018) found telomeres are more likely to be shortened in children who exhibit behaviors associated with ACEs. Geneticists have also found telomere length can be associated with the impact of ACEs on adverse health in adults (Ridout et al., 2018). In the case of individuals who have experienced ACEs, their telomeres are shorter than those of individuals who have not experienced ACEs (Burgin et al., 2019; Ridout et al., 2018).

Impact of Adverse Childhood Experiences on Learning

Research has shown ACEs are more common than individuals realize (Carlson et al., 2020; Offerman et al., 2022), and a student with more ACEs has a higher likelihood of having behavioral and academic challenges (Murphey & Sacks, 2019; Souers & Hall, 2016). Students with higher numbers of ACEs were also more likely to perform poorly in school, leading to higher absenteeism, decreased student engagement, and a higher likelihood of grade retention (Crouch et al., 2019). ACEs often have negative effects on student learning by reducing necessary skills for academic development and hindering the development of social skills (Ziv et al., 2018). These challenges can manifest in various ways, such as bullying, outbursts, lack of self-regulation, attention-seeking behaviors, and withdrawal from classmates (Rossen, 2020; Souers & Hall, 2019).

Students with multiple ACEs were more likely to struggle academically, have emotional and behavioral challenges, and experience academic failure (Murphey & Sacks, 2019; Myat Zaw et al., 2022). Felitti et al. (1998) found children with three or more ACEs were 5 times more likely to have attendance issues, 6 times more likely to have behavior problems, and 3 times more likely to experience academic failure. Educators may not know who in the school has experienced trauma, and a universal response would be to treat all students similarly (i.e., precautions could be universally implemented to benefit the overall school environment; Brummer & Thorsborne, 2021). The use of trauma-informed practices can help create an environment more suitable for building resiliency in all children. Teachers can implement trauma-informed practices to create environments infused with trauma awareness, responsiveness to the impact of trauma, and a focus on using resources that support healthy development (Margolius et al., 2020).

When students achieve success in school, they tend to develop a stronger bond with both the school community and other students in the classroom (Rossen, 2020); however, research has indicated a lack of early childhood school attendance is linked to ACEs and can result in student nonengagement (Crouch et al., 2019; Rossen, 2020; Scott et al., 2021). Direct correlations have been identified between the number of ACEs a child experiences, poor academic achievement, and behavioral challenges in schools (Crouch et al., 2019; Rossen, 2020; Scott et al., 2021). This evidence supports the importance of educators using integrated methods or approaches to respond to student needs more appropriately (Rossen, 2020; Souers & Hall, 2019). In a traumainformed school, school staff can respond to children who have experienced ACEs by using strategies to build resilience (Brummer & Thorsborne, 2021).

Maine Integrated Youth Health Survey

The MIYHS (MDHHS, 2024) is a biennial survey of Maine children in Grades 5–12 that collects data to monitor health actions and beliefs on nicotine, alcohol consumption, chemical use, mental well-being, nutrition, and physical activity. These data are significant because they provide longitudinal information and allow for year-to-year comparisons of student responses (MDHHS, 2024). According to Felitti et al. (1998), over 50% of children experience ACEs before the age of 18. Data from MIYHS have supported the need for trauma-informed practices in Maine schools (MDHHS, 2019, 2021). Schools and community organizations can use these

data to develop and assess preventive initiatives that support children (MDHHS, 2024). The MIYHS includes embedded questions that focus on the prevalence of ACEs experienced by children (Pow, 2020). These statistics provide a deeper understanding of health-related actions and beliefs in the student population and can be used to develop and assess student health programs.

School districts in Maine can use screening data from the MIYHS to gather information about ACEs in the school community, as specific questions are focused on children selfreporting their exposure to ACEs (MDHHS, 2024). All questions are answered confidentially, and information gathered from the survey can help determine the positive and negative attitudes and behaviors of Maine youth that influence healthy development (MDHHS, 2024). At the time of this study, data had shown the increased prevalence of children experiencing ACEs in Maine (MDHHS, 2019, 2021). According to the MIYHS (MDHHS, 2019, 2021), the number of children who self-reported experiencing an ACE increased from 20% in 2019 to 25% in 2021. Comparison data from high school and middle school students are presented from 2019 and 2020 (see Table 1). In addition to high school students who participate in the MIYHS, students in Grades 5 and 6 also participate in an age appropriate version of the survey every 2 years. Comparative survey results can be found in Table 2.

Table 1

Data related to ACEs	High school students		Middle school students	
	2019 (%)	2021 (%)	2019 (%)	2021 (%)
Experienced more than four ACEs	20	25	-	-
Consistent sad feelings for 2 weeks	32	36	24.8	29.6
Seriously considered suicide	16	18.5	19.8	20.0
Bullying at school	23	16	46.3	41.1
Cyberbullying	21	20.5	-	-
Alcohol consumption in the last 30 days	22.9	19.0	4.0	3.2
Marijuana consumption	22.0	17.9	17.9	8.1

MIHYS Data for High School and Middle School Students

Note. Data were collected from high school students in 2019 (n = 35,156) and in 2021 (n =

26,964). Middle school student data were collected in 2019 (n = 19,309) and 2021 (n = 14,360).

Table 2

MIHYS Data for Children in Grades 5 and 6

Data related to ACEs	Grades 5 and 6	
	2019 (%)	2021 (%)
Bullied at school	43.5	35.9
Two or more hours at home without a trusted adult	23.8	22.5
Strong connection with at least one teacher at school	95.5	83.2
Feeling safe at school	90.7	91.7

Note. Data for Grades 5 and 6 were collected in 2019 (n = 7,999) and 2021 (n = 5,861).

Resilience

Resilience, defined as the ability to overcome adversity in life (Rossen, 2020), can play a pivotal role in understanding the impact of trauma on children; for example, not all children who undergo traumatic experiences exhibit negative long-term health outcomes, though they are likely to encounter stress (Rossen, 2020). Additionally, because children who have experienced trauma may not exhibit the same symptoms or behaviors, it is not always evident who has

experienced trauma and who has not. Such nuances in how the impact of ACEs manifests emphasizes the importance of using a comprehensive approach to teach resilience-building strategies to overcome adversity.

Community Partnerships

Community partnerships can support the cultivation of student resilience. To provide financial support for the development of these partnerships, the federal government extends Title I funding to high-poverty or underperforming school districts. These funds mandate the implementation of family engagement and community partnership programs under the Every Student Succeeds Act (Brown et al., 2019). The involvement of families with the school community can increase natural opportunities to strengthen the community support for schools and their students.

Researchers have examined the synergy between school systems and community collaborators to enhance school-based support for both students and staff (Bryan et al., 2020). In schools, wraparound services aim to furnish students with the academic, social, and behavior assistance they need to succeed during the school day (Evolve Treatment Centers, n.d.). Using a comprehensive and coordinated team approach, wraparound services provide support and resources to students who have complex needs, which can greatly benefit children as they develop resilience (Evolve Treatment Centers, n.d.). Strong community partnerships are vital for equipping schools with the resources and necessary training to nurture student resilience.

Collaboration between public school systems and external partners is essential. Elliot (2018) reported how one school system collaborated with external partners (e.g., United Way) to create a coalition with the goal of increasing graduation rates. As a result, the coalition developed before and after school programs to identify and support students who were at risk of

not graduating. Elliot noted afterschool programming offered by various community partners can reinforce what students learn during the day and make a connection to real life outside of the classroom. Community partnerships can also provide opportunities for professional development that otherwise may not have been accessible to staff, either as an in-kind donation or at a significantly reduced cost. For example, Elliot found school staff, along with community partners, participated in mindfulness training to ensure students learned how mindfulness practices could benefit them in real life. Thus, community partners offer a network of resources and volunteers to carry out these programs and have the financial capacity to help support the programs.

Resilience in the Classroom

In the school setting, opportunities exist for staff to integrate strategies that foster resilience throughout the school day (Henderson-Smith & Black, n.d.). Rossen (2020) proposed teachers can contribute to building resilience by maintaining consistent expectations while also showing empathy to a student's individual expectations. Regardless of the traumas they might be facing, students do not want to feel different from their peers (Rossen, 2020). Upholding high expectations in the school environment can convey a sense of continuity in the student's educational journey. This insight underscores the significance of seamlessly integrating resilience-promoting strategies in the education framework to provide vital support for students' development and well-being.

According to the Harvard University Center on the Developing Child (n.d.), the primary factor in fostering children's resilience is cultivating strong relationships with trusted adults. However, parents and guardians of children with multiple ACEs often share a history of ACEs themselves, which can hinder their ability to establish these vital relationships with their children (Randell et al., 2015; Rossen, 2020; Woods-Jaeger et al., 2018). Emphasizing a similar point, Brummer and Thorsborne (2021) stated connections with students should transcend academics and focus on forging genuine human bonds. Brummer and Thorsborne further highlighted the necessity for students to connect with teachers' inherent humanity, which can be perceived as going above and beyond their contract as an educator. In essence, the foundation of a child's resilience hinges on strong relationships with trusted adults, which necessitates a deeper human connection than just academic interactions.

Fostering resilience involves recognizing and celebrating the incremental steps in a student's journey, a process that can seamlessly occur during classroom instruction (Rossen, 2020). By consistently acknowledging progress, student motivation can be effectively sustained (Rossen, 2020). This approach would enable every student to achieve success in learning, provided teachers cater to individual academic levels and acknowledge the limitations of a one-size-fits-all approach to teaching (Bondie et al., 2019). Creating innovative and engaging lessons that align with students' individual capacities is essential for student engagement (Rossen, 2020). Additionally, there are long-lasting benefits for students who engage in self-reflection to monitor progress toward a goal and intrinsically celebrate accomplishments (Rossen, 2020). Building resilience in students involves celebrating their progress, engaging in tailored teaching methods, and fostering a culture of self-reflection, which collectively contributes to their lasting growth and development.

The development of an individual's resilience is shaped by their environment, with specific focus on cultivating personal protective resources such as optimism, self-efficacy, empathy, and socioeconomic resources (Foster, 2020). Aligning with this perspective, McAllister and Brien (2020) emphasized schools play a significant role in the collective social obligation to

develop resilience in students. When school staff actively assume their role in a collaborative effort, they become instrumental in creating an environment in which a student's resilience can flourish. By facilitating students' access to personal protective resources, these educators empower students to develop the skills and mindset needed to confront and overcome life's adversities (Foster, 2020). This collaborative approach aligns with the broader objective of transforming school staff into a more trauma-informed and responsive team.

Resilience Cultivation to Cope With Adverse Childhood Experiences

The impact of ACEs on children and the resulting negative impact on their adult lives cannot be neglected; however, not all children who experience ACEs have a negative health impact as an adult (Rossen, 2020). In fact, researchers have found resilience is the conduit through which to mitigate the impact of childhood adversities (Lee, 2019; Liu et al., 2020). For instance, Liu et al. (2020) showed the impact of ACEs on mental health was significantly reduced through the cultivation of resilience. According to Lee (2019), resilience prevents potential negative effects of ACEs on children's well-being by fostering positive values such as self-efficacy and confidence. The findings demonstrated resilience can thwart potential adverse outcomes of childhood trauma and result in positive characteristics that lead children to thrive later in life (Lee, 2019; Liu et al., 2020).

Social–Emotional Learning

Schools can increase resilience through a variety of intentional practices. One such practice is SEL which is a "set of social, emotional, behavioral, and character skills that support success in school, the workplace, relationships and the community" (Frey et al., 2019, p. 2). According to CASEL (n.d.-b), SEL is a process through which people acquire and apply knowledge, skills, and attitudes to develop healthy identities, manage emotions, achieve personal and collective goals, feel and show empathy for others, establish and maintain supportive relationships, and make responsible and caring decisions. SEL lesson topics may include selfidentity, emotional regulation, cognitive regulation, and social skills (Frey et al., 2019).

Social–Emotional Learning Competencies

CASEL (n.d.-b) determined five interrelated competencies of SEL: (a) self-awareness, (b) social awareness, (c) relationship skills, (d) self-management, and (e) responsible decision making. SEL competencies can be embedded into curricula at all grade levels and across content areas (CASEL, n.d.-b). Further research by the Wallace Foundation identified three domains specific to SEL including cognitive, emotional, and social (Jones et al., 2018). The implementation of SEL focuses on developing life skills that can be applied to any situation an individual may face (Frey et al., 2019). Instruction that highlights SEL can help students develop their social–emotional skills and have a positive impact on the school community.

Social–Emotional Learning Curriculum

Historically, teaching SEL skills has been embedded in what educators do, yet oftentimes SEL was not a specific part of the written curricula. Jones et al. (2021) reported there has been little research on which specific instructional practices lead to the positive outcomes experienced when implementing SEL programming in schools. Naturally, teachers make decisions on the values expressed, materials chosen for instruction, and individual behaviors that influence students with whom they interact (Frey et al., 2019). Many teachers have used SEL practices in their classroom for all children (Sprenger, 2020). SEL strategies can either be embedded in classroom instruction or provided as a separate class, which typically occurs for the youngest students (Frey et al., 2019). Implementing a SEL-focused curriculum can have a positive impact on academics, behavior, and school climate (Atwell & Bridgeland, 2019; Rosen et al., 2022).

SEL should be integrated into the school community by encouraging a team approach inclusive of all staff (Chu & DeArmond, 2021).

Integrating SEL curriculum into daily procedures is typically more robust and impactful during the elementary years; however, Rosen et al. (2022) emphasized the necessity of developing a stronger program specifically tailored for secondary students. Rosen et al. examined SEL school reform in high school by focusing on a systemic approach (i.e., personalization for academic and social–emotional learning [PASL]). Initially implemented in Florida, PASL is a holistic school reform method that emphasizes personalized social–emotional support for students and uses regular check-ins, goal setting, and progress tracking (Rosen et al., 2022). Rosen et al. found students who were disengaged in school before the ninth grade had a greater level of engagement following implementation of the program; however, overall benefits of PASL showed insignificant positive results, and further research needs to be conducted on the impact of PASL for students in Grades 10–12 (Rosen et al., 2022). The potential benefits and expanded implementation of the PASL program require more investigation for additional consideration as an approach to be used in high schools.

Consistent implementation of SEL practices can improve student and staff well-being (Atwell & Bridgeland, 2019). When SEL becomes a school focus, student-teacher relationships improve, classroom management challenges decrease, instruction thrives, and teacher burnout diminishes (Atwell & Bridgeland, 2019). According to a CASEL survey in 2019, principals believed SEL skills were teachable and should be an important component of the school day (Atwell & Bridgeland, 2019). In addition, research has demonstrated the importance of positive childhood experiences to negate or reverse the impact of ACEs (Crandall et al., 2019). According to Crandall et al. (2019), even if a person had four or more ACEs, a high number of

positive experiences may mitigate adverse health impacts later in life. Promoting SEL practices and fostering positive childhood experiences can profoundly impact the well-being of students in the school community and their long-term health outcomes.

Many schools have moved toward schoolwide adoption of an SEL curriculum, from which there are many to choose. The Maine Department of Education, for example, has made SEL a priority, creating an online portal in 2020 to support staff in the implementation of SEL lessons for prekindergarten through Grade 12 classrooms. SEL lessons were also available for adults who could benefit from the strategies. However, during the COVID-19 global pandemic, Zieher et al. (2021) found teachers had a difficult time with virtual instruction and faced challenges in implementing any SEL curriculum. Findings indicated schools that had a fully supported SEL curriculum prior to the pandemic had less difficulty transitioning to distance learning models in which SEL was also implemented (Zieher et al., 2021). Providing SEL classroom lessons is one way educators can support students to build resiliency, yet, as implied by implementation findings during the pandemic, educators still need effective professional development to support their understanding of SEL practices.

Trauma-Informed Practices

In addition to SEL, school initiatives to support students may also include implementing trauma-informed practices (Brummer & Thorsborne, 2021). These practices can create a safe environment, foster connection in the school community, and address students' needs (Rossen, 2020). According to SAMHSA (2014), trauma-informed practices include key principles of (a) safety; (b) trustworthiness and transparency; (c) peer support; (d) collaboration and mutuality; (e) empowerment, voice, and choice; and (f) cultural, historical, and gender inclusivity. These six

principles should be upheld in trauma-informed schools across all levels of school operations (Lang et al., 2015; SAMHSA, 2014).

Trauma-informed practices are strategies school staff can use to build classroom environments with trauma awareness that (a) are responsive to the impact of trauma and (b) consider and use essential resources to support students when trauma occurs (Margolius et al., 2020). Trauma-informed practices can include routines, consistency, and relationship building, which can help educators mitigate the impact of trauma (Howell et al., 2019). According to Somers and Wheeler (2022), some schools have implemented morning meetings, meditation, and mindfulness as a way for teachers to implement trauma-formed practices. The successful implementation of trauma-informed practices can lead to arming students with strategies needed to overcome adversities and achieve academic success (Phifer & Hull, 2016).

In a trauma-informed classroom, teachers partner with students to create an empowering and empathetic learning environment (Bashant, 2020). Collaboration in these classrooms empowers students and transforms the teacher's role from instructor to facilitator (Li et al., 2022). Although teachers learn about trauma-informed practices in their work with students, teachers also gain the skills necessary to cope with the secondary stress that comes from working with traumatized children (Maynard et al., 2019). Secondary stress is defined as "emotional duress that results when an individual hears about the first hand trauma experience of another" (National Child Traumatic Stress Network [NCTSN], n.d.-b, para. 1) and can impact professionals working with youth who disclose ongoing trauma. Staff members who engage in learning about trauma and trauma-informed practices can help prevent secondary trauma for themselves and the students with whom they work (Maynard et al., 2019; Rossen, 2020).

Proactive implementation of trauma-informed practices can facilitate an atmosphere that helps students cope with issues prior to manifesting in more damaging behaviors (Howell et al., 2019). Teachers can be trained to use trauma-informed practices to react to and deescalate students' problematic or challenging behaviors (Brummer & Thorsborne, 2021). As a result, these trauma-informed practices can prevent classroom disruption, promote learning, and improve the overall learning environment and student outcomes (Brummer & Thorsborne, 2021). By integrating trauma-informed practices and properly identifying students who need additional support, teachers can proactively handle unwarranted behaviors and ensure students have better access to learning (Minahan, 2019; Phifer & Hull, 2016). Phifer and Hull (2016) found a safe environment and proper identification of students who need additional support is essential to cultivating personal resilience. As such, trauma-informed practices can help create an environment that recognizes and responds to trauma and increases resiliency in youth (Brummer & Thorsborne, 2021). Still, despite the availability of research focusing on a variety of traumainformed practices, a lack of agreement and empirical evidence about the practices, strategies, and core elements essential for a successful trauma-informed approach persists (Robey et al., 2021).

Trauma-Savvy Practices

Though commonly known as trauma-informed practices, some schools, districts, and even states use the phrases trauma sensitive and trauma ready interchangeably (Souers & Hall, 2019). To clearly articulate different levels of implementation for trauma-informed practices, Souers and Hall (2019) developed a spectrum of trauma-savvy practices that includes four categories: (a) trauma inducing, (b) trauma indifferent, (c) trauma informed, and (d) trauma invested. Trauma-inducing environments lack any degree of safety and contribute to unsafe experiences for individuals. Trauma-indifferent environments do not consider the impact of trauma or ACEs in their practices of policies. In contrast, stakeholders in a trauma-informed environment are aware of trauma and have knowledge about strategies to mitigate the impact and build resilience. When these stakeholders collaborate and commit to actions that increase safety across all domains, the environment is considered trauma invested.

This spectrum of trauma-informed practices is not static and allows for movement toward the goal of becoming trauma invested, which has been described as a "philosophy or way of life" (Souers & Hall, 2019, p. 27). Souers and Hall (2019) claimed, in a trauma-invested school, staff are committed to the notion all students have the potential for trauma exposure and school may be the only safe place in which they can learn and flourish. All staff members should support each other in recognizing the strengths of their students and be ready to offer understanding and assistance when needed (Souers & Hall, 2019).

Need for Trauma-Informed Practices

Children attend school to learn, and traumatic events can create barriers to that goal. Some schools have taken strategic steps to become trauma informed such as offering professional development on ACEs, SEL strategies, mindfulness strategies, and restorative practices (Brummer & Thorsborne, 2021). The NCTSN (n.d.-a) indicated the importance for children to feel supported in school and ready to learn. Maynard et al. (2019) stated incorporating trauma-informed practices in a school system is a noble endeavor that requires valuable resources of time, money, and focus from all stakeholders. Maynard et al. reported many schools have moved toward trauma-informed practices, yet little research has been completed to measure the effectiveness of the work. Schools are well situated to provide trauma-informed services for students because they can provide appropriate support for identified individuals to help meet student needs. Souers and Hall (2016) suggested teachers should try to determine a student's ACE exposure by getting to know the children they serve. By building student relationships, teachers can predict ACE exposure based on a student's family circumstances (Souers & Hall, 2016). Although identifying ACEs in children can be helpful, the American School Counselor Association (Hertz, 2020) critiqued this approach because it can cause negative impacts through misidentification. In addition, screening students based on anecdotal information can cause additional trauma for the student (Hertz, 2020). Given the potential challenges associated with identifying ACEs in students, it is essential for schools to offer professional development to equip educators with the skills and knowledge necessary to provide students with the essential resources and support they require.

Professional Development

All staff in school should have the opportunity to learn about trauma and its effect on learning. Staff education can strengthen the development of a safe, trauma-informed school that sustains all students (Korpics et al., 2021; Rossen, 2020). Staff knowledge of trauma-informed practices can impact a student's ability to thrive despite the adverse effects of trauma (Bashant, 2020). In addition, staff in the school community can build students' resilience, specifically their self-regulation skills (Brunzell et al., 2022). Koslouski and Chafouleas (2022) stated there is not one type of professional development that meets the needs of all educators in a building. A risk of this type of work is retraumatizing staff who may have experienced their own trauma, as more than 60% of U.S. adults have experienced traumatic events (Koslouski & Chafouleas, 2022; Merrick et al., 2019). The objective for professional development for school staff is to impart

information and alter attitudes regarding trauma, thereby gaining staff support for traumainformed practices (Rossen, 2020).

Professional Development Implementation

Rossen (2020) noted professional development provided to staff must be designed with intentionality, as this is essential to the success of school-wide implementation. The National Implementation Research Network (n.d.) indicated four stages of implementation for a new initiative: exploration, installation, initial implementation, and full implementation. Rossen (2020) identified how the stages of implementation for a trauma-informed school begin with professional development in the exploration phase. Exploration refers to identifying the readiness of staff and school community for becoming a trauma-informed school. Next, installation is the stage in which the school team creates an action plan of the steps toward implementation. Initial implementation, in this case, may also be referred to as the trauma responsive stage, in which staff learn new trauma-informed practices through professional development opportunities and intentional reflections on implementation. Finally, the full implementation stage is an essential component in the analysis of current trauma-informed practices and their alignment with specific school and/or district goals (Rossen, 2020).

Role of School Leadership in Professional Development

Transforming a school to being trauma informed requires consistent and steadfast leadership. Research has shown school leaders who actively participate in professional learning alongside their staff are more likely to create valuable learning opportunities and effectively disseminate knowledge across the school community (Howard, 2019; Stokes & Brunzell, 2019). School staff can benefit from collective efficacy that fosters a professional learning culture or creates an environment conducive to culture change (Donohoo, 2018). The actions of building leaders can influence student outcomes (Stokes & Brunzell, 2019). School leaders have an opportunity to work with all staff to increase awareness of the prevalence and effects of trauma and how trauma impacts students' development, behavior, and ability to learn.

Efficacy of Trauma-Informed Professional Development Interventions

Professional development for all staff is important to bring about change in the school community; however, professional development will not be effective if presented as sporadic events that lack connection to the overall needs of the school (Frey et al., 2019). Instead, Roseby and Gascoigne (2021) stated professional development should be multifaceted with initial training and subsequent follow-up training over time to benefit students. In addition, Brummer and Thorsborne (2021) noted, to maximize the benefits, professional development should be delivered as a well-structured series of events tailored to the specific challenges and context of each educational setting.

A gap exists in the available literature regarding the relationship between professional development, its impact on teaching practices, and the resulting influence on student outcomes. Although Purtle (2020) found professional development supported a change in staff knowledge and attitudes, there was little evidence professional development supported the application or modification of teaching practices. Stokes and Brunzell (2019) indicated leaders and teachers must acknowledge the need for alternative pedagogical approaches in response to the effect of unresolved trauma on students. Past methods of academic instruction may not meet the needs of current students who struggle with ACEs (Stokes & Brunzell, 2019). Further research is needed to determine the benefits of professional development and the implementation of trauma-informed teaching practices.

Barriers to Implementing Professional Development

There is an established need to implement trauma-informed approaches in schools, yet notable barriers prevent a fully realized trauma-informed system (Brummer & Thorsborne, 2021; Rossen, 2020). Even when staff express buy-in and believe in the significance of this work (Leibel et al., 2021), it is still essential to address the barriers hindering successful implementation. These barriers include a shortage of time for professional education, inadequate support staff-specific professional education, and turnover among those leading these efforts (Rossen, 2020). Additionally, staff who begin to implement practices may lack the resources necessary to provide interventions for students (Maynard et al., 2019; Rossen, 2020), including access to mental health services beyond the scope of what the school system can provide. These obstacles highlight the importance of adopting a trauma-informed approach in schools.

Trauma-Informed Schools

A trauma-informed approach cannot just identify a population of individuals for intervention; rather, schools must create a comprehensive response system that includes prevention, intervention, and targeted trauma treatments—a multileveled approach (Rossen, 2020). The development of a trauma-informed school includes all aspects of the school's programming, culture, climate, and values (Covington & Bloom, 2018). All school personnel are a part of the school's culture, climate, and values and subsequently play an integral role in building a trauma-informed school—from teachers to bus drivers, administrators to administrative assistants, and so on (Guarino & Chagnon, 2018). School systems can empower adults who work in schools to change the culture and climate of the school and create a place where all students feel a sense of belonging (Bashant, 2020). For example, Bashant (2020) explained meaningful relationships with an adult at school can be used to counteract the impacts of trauma in students. In transitioning to a trauma-informed school, Rossen (2020) indicated leadership, professional development, access to resources, collaboration with families, academic instruction, and nonacademic instruction must all be deeply considered and planned out.

Murphey and Sacks (2019) found schools should develop and foster a universal, schoolwide strategy to create a trauma-informed climate. Several studies described ways to do this, for example, school staff members can develop a tiered system of student services to make the educational experience as supportive and nourishing as possible (Rosenbalm, 2018). Brown-Chidsey and Bickford (2015) described a multitiered system of support (MTSS) that includes academic and behavioral tiered systems, such as response to intervention (RTI) and positive behavioral interventions and supports (PBIS), to help all students succeed in school. MTSS is heavily based on data-driven decision making and performed by a team of professionals who design targeted interventions for the students they serve (Brown-Chidsey & Bickford, 2015). As of 2023, no universal systematic approach exists to implement trauma-informed professional development, nor is there a consistent trauma-informed message (Thomas et al., 2019). However, this review presents two school systems in the United States that offer an example for how to systematically implement a trauma-informed school environment.

States on opposite sides of the country are credited with being pioneers in traumainformed education (Stevens, 2012). Massachusetts and Washington have embarked on the journey to reshape their educational systems to be more empathetic and responsive to the needs of their students. By acknowledging the prevalence of trauma and ACEs, schools in Massachusetts and Washington took crucial steps toward fostering safer and more supportive learning environments.

Brockton School District

The George School in Brockton, Massachusetts began the transition to become a traumainformed school in 2005 with a goal to focus on helping students regardless of their exposure to trauma (Stevens, 2012). Data available from the ACEs study (Felitti et al., 1998) the field of neuroscience, and child psychiatry indicated the need to take a different approach at the school (Stevens, 2012). The Brockton School District partnered with the Lesley Institute for Trauma Sensitivity (LIFTS) and the Trauma and Learning Policy Initiative (TLPI) to begin staff education regarding the impact of trauma. Schoolwide, trauma-informed improvement plans were created, and 300 teachers completed a course from TLPI about working with children who have experienced trauma (Stevens, 2012). One reason Brockton's model has been successful was the integration of community in these efforts. Local police, youth service organizations, and other agencies worked closely with the school district and allowed for opportunities to best support students in the school buildings.

In addition to the George School, Arnone Elementary School, also in Brockton, implemented a PBIS program (Stevens, 2012). The school focused on changing messaging to students from being punitive or negative to being positive. The implementation of a PBIS program focused on teaching students behavioral expectations and celebrating when those expectations were met (Stevens, 2012). These practices helped change the school climate and culture.

Spokane Public School District

The Spokane Public School District in Washington partnered with Washington State University's Area Health Education Center to transition to trauma-informed schooling with the goal of reducing children's exposure to violence (Stevens, 2012). Previous research indicated students who had more ACEs had higher rates of academic failure, inconsistent attendance, behavior challenges, and poor health outcomes (Stevens, 2012). Spokane adopted a universal approach designed to address the needs of the majority of students because researchers believed such an approach had the potential to reach a broader spectrum of children compared to other types of interventions (Stevens, 2013). The transition necessitated staff members understood the significance of becoming trauma informed. Professional development was introduced, beginning with education on ACEs, brain development, and the impact of dysregulation on student learning. As teachers and staff gained a deeper understanding of trauma-informed practices, they initiated the implementation phase, which was supported by available and relevant data.

The Brockton and Spokane school districts both pursued the implementation of traumainformed schools, each with their own unique motivations and strategies (Stevens, 2012). However, their experiences revealed shared elements of committed school staff engagement and strong community backing in facilitating this transformation. Additionally, the acknowledgment of distinct community requirements was pivotal in excluding the adoption of a standardized approach to the establishment of trauma-informed educational institutions.

Summary

ACEs are traumatic events a child encounters before age 18 that may lead to significant health challenges in adulthood (CDC, 2021). Almost half of children in the United States have experienced one or more ACEs (Sacks & Murphey, 2018), and children who have experienced multiple ACEs are more likely to struggle in school academically and have emotional and behavioral challenges (Murphey & Sacks, 2019; Myat Zaw et al., 2022). These findings supported using integrated methods or approaches to understand the impact of ACEs in young children and respond to them more effectively. When implemented as a universal practice, a schoolwide trauma approach ensures all students receive the benefits of SEL and resilience building strategies (Halladay Goldman et al., 2020).

Educational leaders can work together to build a trauma-informed school. When traumatic events occur, trauma-informed schools provide an opportunity for students to be supported earlier (Brummer & Thorsborne, 2021). Professional development can provide school staff with fundamental knowledge of trauma, its effects on students and staff, and what it means to be a trauma-informed school (Guarino & Chagnon, 2018). However, barriers to the implementation of a trauma-informed school include availability of resources, changes in staff, and staff buy-in (Leibel et al., 2021; Rossen, 2020). Furthermore, professional development needs to be consistent and frequent to ensure understanding of the practices (Rossen, 2020).

Trauma-informed schools develop out of a need for change and to do more for the students served. Empirical evidence from the Brockton and Spokane school districts supports the idea of employees in different school districts learning from each other. The consistency of the public school system can be the perfect place for universal trauma-informed practices to help all students overcome adversity. The work must begin with teachers and staff developing awareness of ACEs, understanding how their impact may present in student behavior, and building a toolbox of practices for school staff to support students (Brummer & Thorsborne, 2021). Despite the availability of information regarding the development of trauma-informed schools, a gap in the literature exists about educational leaders' perspectives on the implementation of trauma-informed schools. Therefore, in this study, I shared the perspectives of school leaders in the development of a trauma-informed school. In Chapter 3, I provide a comprehensive overview of the methodology to be used to collect data and to sustain the ethics of the study regarding credibility, transferability, and dependability.

CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY

ACEs increasingly and negatively impact students, and school staff have been unable to provide necessary targeted assistance to support students in building resilience against the effects of trauma (Murphey & Sacks, 2019; Rossen, 2020). The purpose of this qualitative narrative inquiry was to explore how educational leaders perceive the development of a trauma-informed school. In this study, the trauma-informed school was defined as a public school setting in which all staff have acquired some knowledge about ACEs and are versed in strategies to mitigate their impact (Souers & Hall, 2019). Using existing literature relevant to the impact of ACEs on children and the need for developing trauma-informed schools to mitigate their impact, the following questions guided the study:

Research Question 1: How do trauma-informed school leaders describe necessary practices, programs, and procedures in supporting the cultivation of children's resilience to mitigate the impact of ACEs?

Research Question 2: How do trauma-informed school leaders make informed decisions about trauma-informed professional development offered to expand staff understanding toward the implementation of a trauma-informed school?

The concept of TIC (Harris & Fallot, 2001) supports the theoretical framework for this study, which is Mezirow's transformative learning theory. Mezirow's (1991) transformative learning theory suggests adult learners must continue critical reflection while engaging in experiences to promote learning (Kurnia, 2021). Transformative learning theory focuses on how individuals can undergo profound cognitive and emotional shifts through critical reflection and examination of their assumptions, beliefs, and perspectives (Mezirow, 1991). Mezirow (1991) suggested transformative learning involves a process of becoming aware of and challenging

one's existing knowledge, beliefs, and assumptions, leading to a reevaluation and reconstruction of one's worldview. This transformative process can result in personal growth, increased selfawareness, and the development of new perspectives, which are all necessary for educators and school staff in the creation of a trauma-informed school.

Educational leaders can use the framework of Mezirow's (1991) transformative learning theory to develop their understanding of the impact of ACEs. By incorporating the principles of transformative learning theory, educators can engage in a reflective and critical examination of their experiences and beliefs (Mezirow, 1991). This process allows individuals to challenge and reconstruct their understanding of themselves and their ability to support students' growth and resilience (Mezirow, 1991).

A qualitative narrative inquiry approach was used to capture the unique stories of five participants. Creswell and Guetterman (2019) stated narrative inquiry allows participants to share their meaningful stories and to be heard. In narrative inquiry, participants share a part of their life and their experiences through storytelling (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). By centering on the exploration of personal and social experiences, each experience emerges from and builds upon another experience (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000).

This narrative inquiry gathered data using semistructured interviews. Stories of participants were uncovered as they shared their perceptions of developing a trauma-informed school in the state of Maine. Interview questions were designed with a focus on the TIC framework (Harris & Fallot, 2001), which includes aspects such as staff and administration commitment to change, professional development, and a review of policies and procedures.

Site Information and Demographics

The site for this study included various public schools in the state of Maine where participants were educational leaders working in a trauma-informed school. I gained access to participants through public school websites where e-mail contact information was available. In 2022, the Maine Department of Education reported the state had 603 public schools with 48,330 full-time teachers and educational leaders. Based on state reports, the predicted student enrollment was 165,257, of which 64,320 students lived in poverty, 1,457 students experienced housing insecurity, and 1,118 students were in foster care (MDHHS, n.d.). The CDC (2021) reported poverty, unstable housing, and lack of connection to other people are all risk factors for ACEs. Furthermore, the CDC (2021) noted there is not one single cause of ACEs, and the many factors that cause ACEs can increase the likelihood of long-lasting impacts. The state of Maine has many trauma-informed educational leaders in public schools who were invited to participate through my connections with established professional listservs. Interviews and data collection were conducted virtually over the Zoom platform to allow for participation across the state.

Participants and Sampling Method

Purposeful sampling, defined as "selecting information-rich cases, to yield insight and understanding of the phenomenon under investigation" (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018, p. 148), was used for this study. I selected five participants from whom to gather personal experiences around the design of a trauma-informed school. The number of participants was limited to allow for deep analysis and retelling of the participants' stories (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Participation criteria included being over the age of 18 and identifying as a trauma-informed educational leader in a Maine public school. For this study, a trauma-informed educational leader was a person who was involved in the development of a trauma-informed school. According to Stokes and Brunzell (2019), the leadership qualities necessary for leading trauma-informed schools are centered on staff buy-in; leader commitment; and the ability to address the needs of children, teachers, and the school community as a whole. Educational leaders who participated in this study included building administrators, school counselors, social workers, and trauma-informed coaches.

Upon receiving approval from the University of New England (UNE) Institutional Review Board (IRB; see Appendix A), participant recruitment occurred through the distribution of a recruitment flyer (see Appendix B) via email to principals in the state of Maine. The recruitment flyer and associated participant information sheet (see Appendix C) were distributed directly to Maine principals' work emails via my password-protected UNE email. The recruitment flyer provided participants with information regarding the purpose of the research project, why they were being asked to participate, a description of the process, potential risks and benefits of participation, and assurances for privacy and confidentiality during the study. The recruitment email and participant information sheet asked participants to reply within a 2-week period if they wished to participate. Ten days after the initial email, I sent a reminder email inviting them to participate in the study.

The participant pool was reached during the 4-week recruitment period. After that time, I closed the recruitment process and sent out communication to individuals who were not selected to participate in this narrative inquiry study to explain the number of participants had been met. During the recruitment period, I began to schedule interviews with individuals who expressed interest in participating in the study. Interviews were scheduled at a mutually agreeable time, and a Zoom meeting link was sent to participants. The next section describes the interview process in more detail.

Instrumentation and Data Collection

I used a virtual, semistructured interview process to gather detailed stories from the five participants. Semistructured interviews were conducted using an interview guide or protocol (see Appendix D) to narrow the conversation while allowing for opportunities for participants to engage in further conversation (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). Ravitch and Carl (2021) stated storytelling offers a path to understanding lived experiences. The five participants were contacted through email and scheduled for a 1-hour, semistructured interview to take place via the Zoom platform at a mutually agreeable date and time. Zoom is a video conferencing platform that can be used to conduct virtual interviews. Following confirmation of participant availability, a Zoom meeting link was sent to each participant with the date and time of the interview. On the day of the interview, I logged into Zoom 10 minutes before the interview start time to be present and available in the event the participant logged on early. The interview began with an introduction to the study, a review of the participant information sheet to secure verbal consent from the participant, and an opportunity for the participant to ask any questions. During the introduction, I gained consent from each participant to record the Zoom session, with the option of having their camera off. Recording directly through Zoom allowed for the creation of a digital transcript of the interview via the Zoom transcription feature. When the participant was ready, the interview commenced.

Zoom recordings were transcribed using the automatic transcription feature provided through Zoom, after which I reviewed the transcribed text and edited any errors. Finally, the transcripts were proofread purposefully to ensure accuracy and proper representation of the interview content. Restoried narratives were prepared from the transcripts of the semistructured Zoom interviews and were shared with participants for member checking to ensure the information gathered was accurate.

Data Analysis

The narrative inquiry approach allows for fluidity in the analysis and presentation of the participants' lived experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Once the semistructured interviews were conducted and transcribed, I used the three-dimensional narrative process (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000) to restory the interviews. This process included a focus on the interaction, continuity, and situation. The stories obtained were placed in chronological order, which allowed me to identify a beginning, middle, and end (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Restorying involves gathering information from participants, identifying key themes, and rewriting the stories while considering the context or setting of the participant (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). The restoried narratives were deidentified using pseudonyms selected by participants during their interviews.

After restorying the interviews, the narratives were sent to each of the participants via email for member checking. Member checking allowed participants to ensure the information collected was valid and credible (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). Participants were given 5 days to review the restoried narrative for accuracy and clarity. Restoried narratives were deemed accurate if no edits were received from participants within the 5-day period.

After member checking, the restoried narratives were reviewed to identify underlying themes. The narratives, along with the TIC framework and Mezirow's (2009) transformative learning theory, were used to create codes and themes that emphasized the connectivity of each participant's story. Narratives were manually coded and organized to group common sections together and present a collective story regarding the development of a trauma-informed school. The creation of the codes during the analysis of data was used to formulate broader thematic categories. Creswell and Guetterman (2019) defined themes as being "similar codes aggregated together to form a major idea in the database" (p. 251). Themes, formed by several codes yielding one idea, were extrapolated after coding was completed (Creswell & Poth, 2018). I then used the ideas uncovered from the coding process to interpret the qualitative data obtained from participants' stories.

Limitations, Delimitations, and Ethical Issues

Scholarly research requires clear articulation of the limitations, delimitations, and ethical issues associated with a study. I identified the limitations of this study to be transparent about the weaknesses uncovered (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). Identifying the delimitations of the study allows the researcher to share the scope of the study and why particular choices were made (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). In addition, ethical considerations must also be addressed to protect participants from harm (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018).

Limitations

This research employed a qualitative approach using narrative inquiry research approach methodology. The use of a qualitative narrative research methodology created certain limitations for the study. The data collected in this study were confined to the stories shared by selected participants, as indicated by the nature of narrative inquiry (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). The scope of the data was dependent on participants' experiences, the specific questions posed during interviews, and my interviewing skills. It was essential to recognize the findings of this research may not be generalizable to a broader population. Additional limitations related to potential bias included the influence of my own experiences and beliefs on data collection, analysis, and interpretation of participants' narratives.

Delimitations

Delimitations allow the researcher to "define and clarify the conceptual boundaries" (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018, p. 165) of a study. Identifying delimitations allows the researcher to explain choices made regarding research components (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). Delimitations of this study included the number of participants interviewed and the research setting—in this case, five public school leaders in the state of Maine who self-identified as educational leaders in a trauma-informed school. Bloomberg and Volpe (2018) noted a small number of participants may be appropriate in a qualitative study if descriptive stories are told and descriptions are detailed. Further, participant selection was also a delimitation in this study because participants were selected by the order in which they communicated interest to participant (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Finally, the last set of delimitations were the questions I asked participants and participants' lived experiences with trauma-informed schools and professional development. **Ethical Issues**

To protect participants from harm, this qualitative narrative study necessitated an ethical perspective (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). The UNE IRB reviewed the research proposal to ensure the research design protected participants from harm (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). Qualitative research is fluid, such that ethical issues may arise at any point (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). Bloomberg and Volpe (2018) described "issues of ethics focus on establishing safeguards that will protect the rights of participants and include informed consent, protecting participants from harm and ensuring confidentiality" (p. 161). All participation was voluntary, which allowed individual participants to determine if the risks were worth their participation (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). *The Belmont Report* (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979) was signed into law to protect human subjects

from behavioral research and has three components: respect of person, beneficence, and justice. Participants received a participant information sheet (see Appendix C) that indicated how a participant's information would be deidentified. The IRB process plays a critical role in ensuring research involving human subjects adheres to ethical guidelines and safeguards the rights and well-being of participants.

Respect of Person

According to *The Belmont Report* (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979), all people should be treated as autonomous agents, and people with diminished autonomy should be protected. Participants in this research study engaged voluntarily and were provided a participant information sheet that described how their information would be protected. In addition, all information, inclusive of transcripts of the interview, recordings, and participant data, were kept on a password-protected personal computer accessible only to me. All information received were deidentified to protect participants' identities. Pseudonyms were used for participants, and a master list of participant names and pseudonyms were stored in a safe in my home office, which only I could access. The master list was destroyed after all restoried narratives were verified for accuracy. After data analysis of the interview recordings was complete, the recordings were deleted. Finally, the restoried transcripts will be destroyed 3 years following the publication of the dissertation.

Beneficence

In addition to respect of person, *The Belmont Report* (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979) also described beneficence as necessary for securing the well-being of participants. Participant risk was minimized by protecting their identity through the use of pseudonyms for their names.

Additional information such as school name, district name, and colleagues were also deidentified, and data were stored on a password-protected personal computer. At any time during the interview, participants could elect to skip a question and choose not to answer it. In addition, participants could elect to have their camera turned off for the duration of the interview. *Justice*

The final component noted in *The Belmont Report* (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979) focuses on justice relating to who benefits or incurs burden from the research. Participants were protected because their identities were protected. Each participant was treated equally during the research process. All of the semistructured interviews followed the same interview protocol (see Appendix D). Data obtained were restoried using the three-dimensional narrative process described by Clandinin and Connelly (2000). Restoried narratives were sent to participants for member checking to ensure accuracy. The narratives were then analyzed using the five steps to data analysis by Creswell (2013). I adhered to IRB guidelines to protect participants and ensure their confidentiality.

Trustworthiness

Standards for rigor in qualitative research include credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). Credibility focuses on the ability of a researcher to share participants' stories accurately (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). Transferability allows for other researchers to conduct a similar study in the future (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Dependability in qualitative research "refers to whether one can track the process and procedures used to collect and interpret the data" (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018, p. 163). Confirmability was accounted for by using member checking and sharing the restoried narratives with participants to ensure the accuracy of participants' stories (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019).

Credibility

Credibility is rooted in the researcher's ability to tell participants' stories in an accurate way (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). To obtain credibility, Creswell and Guetterman (2019) suggested three strategies: triangulation, member checking, and external audit. Data collected from the interviews were coded and resulted in emerging themes. Interpretation of these themes allowed me to retell the participants' stories. To increase the credibility of the research, member checking was used to ensure accuracy of the restorying. This process also limited my personal bias by allowing participants to verify if the interpretation of their transcripts was what they intended.

Transferability

Transferability allows for others to conduct a similar study in other contexts or environments (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). In a qualitative study, transferability "refers to the fit or match between the research context and other contexts as judged by the reader" (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018, p. 164). Creswell and Guetterman (2019) described transferability as "establishing the context of a study, giving detailed descriptions of the procedures, and writing findings in vivid detail supported with quotes" (p. 261). This qualitative study used narrative inquiry and purposeful sampling to collect data from trauma-informed public school leaders in the state of Maine. The study site was limited to the state of Maine, which potentially limited the transferability of the findings; however, the methods used were relevant for transferability.

Dependability

Dependability in qualitative research "refers to whether one can track the process and procedures used to collect and interpret the data" (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018, p. 163), allowing other researchers to repeat the study (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). I needed to be transparent about data collection and analysis in this study (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018). The semistructured interviews were supported by the interview protocol and conducted through the Zoom platform to capture data and create a digital transcript. The processes used to obtain the qualitative data and present the analysis were clearly identified.

Confirmability

Confirmability refers to the concept of objectivity in which the "outcomes are the result of the research, rather than an outcome of the biases and subjectivity of the researcher" (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018, p. 177). In qualitative research, objectivity is more difficult to attain, yet researchers must show "how their data can be traced back to its origin" (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018, p. 177). In this study, I accounted for confirmability by using member checking and sharing restoried narratives with participants to ensure the accuracy of their stories (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019).

Summary

This qualitative narrative inquiry shared the stories of educational leaders and their perspectives on the development of trauma-informed schools in Maine. The study explored strategies, tools, and processes that could be shared with other educational leaders to help them create trauma-informed schools. Although current research has reflected agreement on how ACEs can impact adult health, there remains no clear definition of a trauma-informed school (CDC, 2021; Rossen, 2020). This study sought to fill the gap in the literature regarding

educational leaders' lived experience in the formation of a trauma-informed school. Due to the prevalence of ACEs and their impact, I sought to answer the following research questions: (a) how do trauma-informed school leaders describe necessary practices, programs, and procedures in supporting the cultivation of children' resilience to mitigate the impact of ACEs; and (b) how do trauma-informed school leaders make informed decisions about trauma-informed professional learning offered to expand staff understanding toward the implementation of a trauma-informed school?

This study relied on the TIC framework, which emphasizes the impact of traumatic experiences on individuals' well-being and the need for a comprehensive approach to healing (Harris & Fallot, 2001). In addition, Mezirow's (1991) transformative learning theory was incorporated for its focus on the critical reflection and examination of assumptions, beliefs, and perspectives necessary to facilitate personal growth and resilience. This qualitative research took place in the state of Maine, where participants were educational leaders working in a trauma-informed school. Purposeful sampling was used to select five participants who were trauma-informed educational leaders in Maine public schools. Semistructured interviews were conducted virtually using Zoom, which enabled me to record the audio and transcribe the interviews. Data were analyzed using coding and thematic analysis to identify patterns and themes.

Limitations of the study included the reliance on participants' stories and a lack of generalizability to a broader population. Delimitations included the small number of participants, the focus on trauma-informed educational leaders in Maine, and the questions I asked participants. Ethical considerations were addressed throughout the research process to ensure participant protection and trustworthiness. I upheld all aspects of ethics through the IRB process and followed the tenets of *The Belmont Report* (National Commission for the Protection of

Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). Data from this research may not be generalizable. In Chapter 4, I outlined the data gathered and detailed the findings from the data analysis, having upheld the ethics of the study and ensured its credibility, transferability, and dependability.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

The purpose of this narrative inquiry was to explore how educational leaders perceive the development of a trauma-informed school. A trauma-informed school is an educational institution that acknowledges and comprehends the far-reaching effects of trauma on students, faculty, and the entire school community (NCTSN, 2018). Due to the prevalence of ACEs in the state of Maine, research has identified the need to develop trauma-informed schools (MDHHS, 2021; Offerman et al., 2022). Despite the availability of information regarding the development of trauma-informed schools, a gap in the literature has existed pertaining to educational leaders' perspectives on the implementation of trauma-informed schools. The research questions that guided this study were:

Research Question 1: How do trauma-informed school leaders describe necessary practices, programs, and procedures to support the cultivation of students' resilience and mitigate the impact of ACEs?

Research Question 2: How do trauma-informed school leaders make informed decisions about staff professional development to expand understanding toward the implementation of a trauma-informed school?

The research questions guided the development of semistructured interview questions to give voice to educational leaders who wanted to share their perspectives on the cultivation of a trauma-informed school. Researchers use narrative research to understand personal experiences (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). In this study, a narrative inquiry allowed the five participants to share their experiences in the public education setting in Maine. Once interviews were completed, I used Clandinin and Connelly's (2000) three dimensions of narrative writing (i.e., time, place, and social interactions) to restory the interview transcript. Through the restorying

process, emergent themes among the participants were identified. In this study, the following three themes emerged from the participant narratives: (a) connections, (b) readiness for change, and (c) availability of time.

Analysis Method

Participant recruitment was open for 26 days, during which the recruitment flyer was sent a total of three times. Five participants responded by email indicating interest in being a part of the study. Response emails were sent to participants to schedule semistructured interviews, which were conducted over Zoom. Interviews were scheduled within a week of each participant responding. All interviews were recorded and transcribed using the Zoom transcription feature. The duration of each of the interviews was about 60 minutes, with the shortest interview lasting 52 minutes and the longest interview lasting 71 minutes.

Once interviews were transcribed, I organized interviews based on the following categories: (a) relationships, (b) professional development, (c) developing trauma-informed practices, (d) community partners, (e) barriers, (f) measuring success, and (g) future work. After the data were organized into these categories, I restoried into narratives using Clandinin and Connelly's (2000) three dimensions of narrative writing by including time, place, and social interactions. I wrote participants' information as a narrative that paraphrased the stories they told. I sent restoried narratives via email to participants and allowed them to review the narratives for accuracy and clarity. Each participant was given 5 days to member check their restoried narrative. One participant responded to the email but did not provide changes; four participants did not respond. As explained in the participant information sheet (see Appendix C), following 5 days without a response for changes, the five restoried narratives were considered

accurate. Data from the restoried narratives were then analyzed to identify themes and commonalities.

I carefully read the narratives with a focus on finding common ideas and themes. I color coded themes in the narrative as a way of organizing the information. Common ideas were color coded in each narrative, and patterns began to appear. Three themes emerged from the analysis of the data in the study: (a) connections, (b) readiness for change, and (c) availability of time.

Presentation of Findings

Interview data were organized based on relationships, professional development, developing trauma-informed practices, community partners, barriers, measuring success and future work. Once the data were organized, participants stories were written in narrative form using Clandinin and Connelly's (2000) three dimensions of writing. In each narrative, participants were able to describe their own experiences with the development of a traumainformed school.

After the restoried narratives were completed, each narrative was coded to identify patterns. From these patterns, these themes emerged: (a) connections, (b) readiness to learn, and (c) availability of time. Each of the participants explained the need to build relationships with students and families, planning for continuous professional development, and the variation in trauma-informed practices. These themes were then explained in the context of the research questions and Mezirow's (1991) transformative learning theory. These themes showed there are commonalities in participants' experiences in the development of a trauma-informed school.

Narratives

Five participants who self-identified as being an educational leader in a trauma-informed school in Maine participated in semistructured interviews on Zoom to share their perspectives on

trauma-informed school development. After interviews were completed, transcribed and restoried, pseudonyms were assigned to further protect the participants identify. Participants had the opportunity to review the narratives for accuracy. Demographic information about these participants can be found in Table 3. Interviews were restoried using categories expressed by each participant: (a) the importance of relationships, (b) professional development, (c) developing trauma-informed practices, (d) community partners, (e) barriers, (f) measuring success, and (g) future work.

Table 3

Pseudonym	Age	Years in education	Maine Department of Education certification
Dan	41	18	Secondary English
Melanie	57	36	Superintendent
Karla	40	19	Principal
Autumn	49	27	Assistant Superintendent
Jillian	50	25	School Counselor, Assistant Principal,

Participant Demographic Information

Participants expressed the need to develop strong connections with students and families. Further, participants indicated the need for formal and informal professional development to develop strong trauma-informed practices. In addition, participants expressed the need to identify community partners to support students. Participants also emphasized the importance of identifying barriers and finding ways to remove them. Participants shared the ways in which they are able to identify whether their trauma-informed work is meaningful for students. Finally, participants identified future work needed for the development of a trauma-informed school. The following section presents each of the study participants and their corresponding restoried narrative.

Licensed Clinical Professional Counselor

Dan

Dan was part of the leadership team from 2019–2023 at a public school in Maine where he had been hired by the school district to teach students necessary skills for overcoming adversity and building resilience. As a seasoned educator, he empathized with staff who were challenged with meeting the various needs of students sitting in front of them and of students who had yet to make it to class. His focus remained on the implementation of trauma-informed practices as school staff continued the journey toward being a trauma-informed school.

Each year, Dan and others who shared the same role in the district supported new staff through professional development on topics such as ACEs, brain science, mindfulness, anxiety, and various other trauma-informed topics that would be useful when interacting with students. Dan shared when staff members build connections with students, students, in turn, feel a sense of belonging and experience more success in school.

Dan stated, "5 years ago, this school building felt like a different place. Think about this, we were masked, 6 feet apart, after school sports and clubs were not running, we were all hurting." He also described a scenario in which a teacher stood in front of the classroom, spoke to 23 students with a raised voice and angry facial expressions, and lectured students on how they could or should have done better on their most recent assessment. The same teacher, for another 5 minutes, lectured students about how they did not prepare the night before and did not care about their own learning. By exhibiting anger toward the students, the teacher created a power struggle, which can result in two types of student responses: (a) students shut down and withdraw further from learning by doing something else (e.g., putting in ear buds, placing their hood on their head, or leaving the room for the bathroom); and (b) students become angry, dysregulated, and may even decide to leave the classroom. School staff needed to learn how to

best serve and connect with the students in front of them. Dan believed, "We can do better, we must do better." With this unwavering conviction of wanting to build resilience in all students, Dan recognized change cannot happen overnight and patience must prevail. His focus had been on relationships, professional development, and soliciting support from community partners who also shared the same mission: to support kids in overcoming adversity.

Relationships. Dan understood relationships between staff and students are instrumental in building a trauma-informed school. He described his school as a place where both students and staff were happy. Furthermore, the feeling of mutual respect between staff and students was evident in the way they talked with one another. When walking down the long hallway, lined with metal lockers, it was not uncommon to see staff greeting students by name and with a smile. Casual conversations occurring between school staff and students revolved around video games, a soccer game, a television program from last night, or any topic that could possibly interest students. Staff had worked to connect with students because a feeling of belonging can be cultivated through relationship building.

Dan mentioned there were numerous opportunities for building connections, such as the creation of an advisory program that allows staff to connect with their students for 4 years. He described, during the 4 years, being able to provide social–emotional learning (SEL) lessons to students. Opportunities to work directly with students aided Dan in creating an environment of inclusion and belonging for students and staff.

Professional Development. Dan shared trauma-informed professional development took place frequently in his school; however, he did not always use the language "trauma-informed." Dan indicated, "while we may not explicitly label these practices as 'trauma-informed,' they are essentially rooted in the same fundamental concept." Dan continued to share about the focus on building relationships during the 2023–2024 school year. He described the need to present information on trauma in diverse formats and encouraged staff to reflect on how that information applies to their context. Dan also believed in empowering staff to make subtle adjustments in their interactions with students required learning about the impact of human connections.

Developing Trauma-Informed Practices. Though conducting professional development on trauma-informed practices might seem straightforward, it was not, according to Dan. Staff could gain knowledge on ACEs, trauma-informed practices, brain science, and anxiety, yet merely having the information was not the same as implementing what they had learned. Dan described how the transition to a trauma-informed school takes time and may be more of a journey rather than the destination. The journey begins when one staff member strives to implement various trauma-informed practices. When that staff member experiences success with students, colleagues take notice. Dan believed a powerful way to learn is by modeling, wherein one staff member is able to witness trauma-informed practices being implemented by another staff, which could potentially lead to an adjustment of practices for all staff.

Dan indicated professional development also needs to be consistent, relevant, and applicable. According to Dan, "teachers come from a lot of different angles;" therefore, it is necessary to offer a variety of professional development supported through various interactions in the school building. Dan described how topics such as anxiety, trauma, resilience, brain science, trauma-responsive teaching practices, and restorative justice have all helped to ensure "we are working toward being trauma-informed [responsive]." Dan mentioned a high level of staff support for each other, from curriculum coaching to supervisory roles. Dan shared, "We know that our students learn in different ways, we also need to provide learning opportunities for our staff that model those best practices for change to occur." He predicted, after a period of time, staff and students would begin to embrace the changes that would later become the culture of the school. In Dan's view, as students began to treat each other differently in the hallway, they would become more comfortable and implement strategies that help mitigate life's challenges.

Dan believed change was a process requiring both time and patience. People learn at different rates and levels of comfort. Dan acknowledged educational trends (e.g., implementing trauma-informed practices), ebb and flow of educational initiatives, and more cynical teachers might perceive trauma-informed practices as a trend that would fade away in a couple of years. However, Dan did not believe that learning about trauma, brain science, and implementing trauma-informed practices was an educational trend. He described how to make lasting progress by remaining persistent, exhibiting kindness, serving as role models for desired behaviors, and offering diverse learning opportunities.

Community Partners. Dan expressed the need for a united community in supporting the success of students. He explained students who spend many hours each year within the physical walls of the school building could benefit from having similar support when they leave the safety of the school. As an example of support outside the confines of the school building, Dan identified how communities could bolster the success of students by actively engaging with a variety of stakeholders to explore ways of creating positive childhood experiences. Dan confirmed community events involving families could provide direct support and resources to parents.

Additionally, Dan acknowledged opportunities to collaborate with community organizations to deliver support to students with targeted challenges, such as housing insecurity, are of value for students' success. He shared how these community organizations have offered comprehensive case management services and valuable resources to families undergoing challenging times. Dan added, school departments, often with the involvement of private agencies, have applied for grant funding to support these much-needed positions because the support of community partners is essential to helping students and their families.

Barriers. Regardless of the benefits of trauma-informed practices, Dan explained not all staff members are interested in learning about or implementing them. He elaborated further by articulating the variation of buy-in allows for various levels of support from coaches, counselors, or even the building administration to assist staff members with implementation. Dan confirmed individual, targeted support and omitting the nomenclature (e.g., trauma responsive, trauma informed, trauma-informed practices) can be beneficial to reach those staff members who are not fully dedicated to the implementation of trauma-informed practices.

Dan described lack of parent involvement as a barrier. For example, there had been evening events for families to share information on anxiety, how to be safe online, or how to raise a teenager, yet those events were not well attended. Dan suspected the lack of engagement could result from work obligations, lack of childcare, and a lack of understanding events were offered. In addition, Dan believed the school also struggled with proper outreach to families due to finances and/or project management. Historically, it seemed parents naturally disengaged from the schools as students got older.

In addition to the lack of parental involvement, some families experience adversity, and they do not accept assistance made available to them. Dan said, "Just because they [families] qualify for case management, it doesn't mean they will accept it or follow through with it." Dan continued, when families do not use the support available to them, it creates additional strain on the system. Dan described this barrier as one needing greater attention to ensure families understand how to access the support available to them. Barriers were more visible particularly for students who were struggling. Dan described, "their struggle is tangible." Students either self-identify as needing support or are identified as needing additional support based on attendance, truancy rates, or other forms of data. Dan acknowledged students who seemed to be okay but were struggling are usually not the ones who self-identify as needing additional help. From Dan's experience, ACEs could impact everyone in unique ways.

Measuring Success. Dan observed, with the transition to a trauma-informed school, it was often unclear how to measure the success of practice implementation. He believed it was helpful to survey students and staff to learn more about general wellness and school culture. Dan acknowledged the data collected from the survey would naturally allow for conversations to begin. However, data by itself do not show the full picture. Using quantitative metrics could have provided additional information for consideration.

Dan discussed additional data points that could be used to measure success. For example, comparing the data between 2017 and 2022, there were fewer truant students and the graduation rate increased in 2022. Ultimately, Dan described a different measure of success as a feeling, not a quantitative data point. Dan stated, "School has become a place where people want to be." He confirmed students seemed happier to be in school than in years past; students appeared to be smiling more and so did the staff. He also observed there were more positive interactions between staff and students.

Future Work. Dan acknowledged the need for continued work as a school community in supporting students to cultivate resilience. He said, "This type of work does not end with a destination, rather, it continues to grow and become more robust." Dan suggested to his school about developing a strategic plan with actionable steps to guide the work and offer opportunities

for deep discussion on what matters. Dan asserted the school's commitment to trauma-informed practices should continue by introducing advanced training for specific lead teachers and department heads who would embed trauma-informed practices in their instruction. Dan believed these educators would model trauma-informed strategies and serve as invaluable resources for their colleagues who work closely with students on a daily basis. More importantly, Dan agreed embracing this ongoing journey toward trauma-informed practices would form an environment in which resilience could thrive and every student could succeed.

In summary, Dan as an educational leader, wanted to transition his school to being more trauma-informed, which would help students overcome adversities. Dan had focused on building relationships between staff and students, provided ongoing professional development for staff on topics related to trauma, and partnered with community organizations. There have been positive signs of success from his efforts, such as improved school climate and student attendance.

However, barriers still existed, such as lack of staff buy-in and limited parent involvement. Dan acknowledged becoming a trauma-informed school is an evolving, long-term process that required persistence. Further, he said his school aimed to further embed traumainformed practices into instruction by training teacher leaders to support their colleagues through modeling. The ultimate goal is to create an environment in which all students could thrive.

Melanie is a building principal at a school in Maine and had worked for the district for over 15 years. In her school, she was part of a strong leadership team committed to minimizing the disparities in opportunities for students. Her observations that her students struggled with poverty, were housing insecure, and faced academic challenges, strengthened her resolve to make a difference in their lives.

Melanie

Melanie shared a trauma-informed school connects students on an emotional and academic level. At such trauma-informed schools, students feel a sense of belonging because families, staff, and communities are connected. Melanie described the entrance to the school and how students were immediately connected to the physical space by seeing walls adorned with pictures of themselves, friends, and their teachers. Halls were filled with the sounds of calming music, and each step into the building revealed a new quote or motivational saying etched into the walls. Melanie believed she had created a space where all who entered belonged.

Melanie explained the wisdom of an educational leader increases with years of experience in the field. Her career as an educator began as a third-grade teacher outside of Maine. As a third-grade teacher, she learned there were variations in opportunities given to kids simply by the books they were given to read. Students did not have the opportunity to collaborate in discussion about the books because students were reading different material, written for different reading levels. Having students read different stories made it difficult for her to establish a classroom culture of connectivity and relationships because students' materials were not aligned.

Melanie quickly transitioned out of the classroom into a formal leadership role. Her first principalship was in a Texas school of 850 prekindergarten through Grade 5 students. The majority of her students spoke a primary language other than English, and this environment helped Melanie learn to appreciate and navigate the challenges posed by cultural diversity. This unique experience equipped her to address the increasing cultural diversity in her community when she moved to Maine.

Melanie's next principalship was at an elementary school in Maine where she had to learn about the community, staff, and students. There were high levels of poverty, housing insecure families, students struggling with achievement, and increasing diversity. Melanie knew she had the skills to make a difference. Her unique approach to leadership was profoundly influenced by her experiences as an educator. Melanie reflected on the transformations she had seen in the community and with parents and students. She recognized parents were always doing their best to support their children. It was evident there was a pressing need to address issues children were experiencing beyond the classroom.

What remained unchanged for Melanie was her unwavering commitment to making a difference in the lives of children. She believed every school leader's purpose should revolve around students' well-being, putting students' needs before anything else. However, Melanie was keenly aware the educational system had not changed much since her days as a student, even though the world had changed dramatically. She had an unshakable conviction schools would remain stagnant and provide the same results they always had if change did not occur. Melanie's journey was not just about her past experiences; it was a path illuminated by her commitment to fostering relationships, nurturing the community, and prioritizing the well-being of every child.

Relationships. Melanie was not just a principal; she could be considered a visionary. She believed in the power of unity and collaboration in the school building, and she had a vision of creating a trauma-informed school in which every person played an equal and essential role in meeting the needs of students. Melanie made her stance clear on the very first day of school. Standing before the entire staff, which included teachers, support staff, cafeteria workers, and custodians, she emphasized the importance of collective efforts. She made sure everyone knew staff appreciation included all who worked in the school.

Melanie led by example and worked alongside her staff. She scrubbed the floors with the custodians' scrubber, donned a hairnet to serve lunch alongside the cafeteria staff, and

enthusiastically took on every job considered trivial for an educational leader. She believed every job was important as all were equal members of the team. Melanie believed her school staff could work together, and the school would run smoothly, even if she was not there.

Though Melanie's message resonated with most staff, a few skeptics could not let go of their egos. Melanie pointed out there was a lack of unity among the staff. In a staff meeting, she commended the kitchen staff for their dedicated work in feeding students daily. Regrettably, some colleagues believed recognition should be reserved for those with degrees who are involved in teaching and support roles in the school. Melanie recognized the need for change and acknowledged it would not always be easy; there would be resistance from some along the way. Nevertheless, she was undeterred; she believed in moving forward despite the naysayers.

One day, Melanie led the school staff and students in celebrating Bus Driver Appreciation Day. Parents, students, and school staff lined up with signs and cheered for them as they dropped off each busload of children. Melanie smiled as she watched and knew she had played a part in creating this sense of community. Melanie was determined to continue her mission of building communities and nurturing relationships. In another example, Melanie instituted monthly assemblies to recognize the achievements and contributions of students and staff. It was her way of underlining the importance of hard work from all individuals in the school community.

Melanie enumerated examples of relationship building as she believed these relationships led to the success of her vision. Further, Melanie understood trust, communication, transparency, and support were building blocks for a trauma-informed school. Melanie admitted she worked hard to involve parents in the educational process and make them understand that, with their support, the school and parents could make a significant difference in the lives of the children. Community events in which families were invited to participate became a regular occurrence in Melanie's school. During these events, Melanie and her staff provided clothing for those students in need and ensured no child lacked essential items for school. Every Friday, the school provided food for students who might otherwise go hungry over the weekend. Melanie's commitment was unwavering. When a child needed shoes, snow pants, or anything else, she made a trip to Wal-Mart to purchase the needed items. School supplies were also available and on hand for all students at any time. She had learned sometimes minor things made a difference in a child's life and positively impacted the family.

Melanie recounted her recent attendance at a school committee meeting during which one committee member questioned when the school would shift its focus from students' social– emotional well-being to academics. This dichotomy between social–emotional needs and academic success highlighted for her there was still work to be done. Melanie emphasized the importance of meeting students' basic needs first because effective learning could only occur when students were emotionally stable. If students were upset or lacked the tools to manage their emotions, they would struggle to absorb knowledge from their teachers. Melanie firmly believed this dichotomy should not be an "either–or" scenario. Instead, a school should be a place where students develop both resilience and academic skills simultaneously.

Professional Development. Melanie believed the transition to a trauma-informed school began with a book, *Help for Billy* by Heather Forbes. The book study allowed staff to learn the basics of trauma and trauma-informed practices, come together in a collaborative professional learning community, and have the opportunity to talk about the information they were reading. The book sparked interest, questions, and a staff desire to seek more professional development.

Melanie explained a pivotal movement in the development of a trauma-informed school. She brought a group of teachers to another school in rural Maine where trauma-informed practices were already established. The group of teachers observed how trauma-informed practices were implemented and understood how SEL was essential to help students learn. Following this experience, the team of teachers was ready to move forward with the implementation of these practices in their school.

Professional development continued for staff when Melanie's school introduced its first therapy dog to the school community. The impact of the dog as a gentle presence brought comfort and support to students to help them heal and thrive. School staff learned how to integrate the therapy dog into their day, and students could visit the dog as needed.

Melanie shared staff built a community of trust and understanding through the united work of creating a trauma-informed school. Staff members began asking to visit each other's classrooms to learn from one another. They were able to share best practices and further understand the various approaches taken to support students. As time went on, Melanie noticed the needs of staff continued to change, and professional development continued to be a dynamic and evolving process. She advocated professional development was not a one-time event; rather, it was an ongoing journey revisited throughout the school year in response to the needs of staff and students. Melanie stated ongoing professional development was a commitment to learning, growing, and adapting and ensured every staff member would continue to be a part of the change and driving force in creating a trauma-informed school.

Developing Trauma-Informed Practices. At Melanie's elementary school, staff had a powerful mission in mind: to foster resilience. They knew fostering resiliency in students was not a one-time task; it needed to be an ongoing journey, and trauma-informed practices must be

embedded in what staff do. Melanie described using books with students to share the message about kindness and empathy, a part of SEL. All school staff shared consistent messages about being kind and empathetic with their students. Melanie believed this message would help students as they continued to grow.

Melanie noted the importance of the school staff helping students to build resilience. Students have access to the internet, television, and video games, and many are exposed to content that may not be age appropriate at an early age. The school created a nurturing environment by establishing calming corners for students. A calming corner is a section of the classroom where students can self-select at any time to go to when they are feeling uneasy or escalated. Students return to the classroom experience when they are ready to participate with their classmates in the learning. In addition, the significance of morning meetings was not underestimated; these meetings were deemed an essential way to start the day on a positive note. Melanie would participate in a different morning meeting each day alongside teachers and students.

The respect and appreciation for teachers who contributed to the school's mission was evident in Melanie's reflection. She even shared her admiration for one particular teacher whose ability to connect with students and communicate with love and support went above and beyond expectations. This teacher was not just an educator; she was a mentor and role model who helped children navigate the challenges they faced.

Melanie shared ways to connect with families and bring them into the school. School staff introduced a unique initiative in which they fulfilled a student's wish. The size and significance of these wishes were inconsequential; however, staff recognized the importance of making dreams come true in the school environment. The desire to create positive memories and demonstrate their dedication to building relationships with students was at the core of this initiative.

Community Partners. According to Melanie, the involvement of community partners was essential to providing for her students. One example of this involvement included generous donations from local businesses who rallied to supply essential materials students and teachers needed, such as school supplies and backpacks. Support from an insurance company, a car dealership, and a grocery store had given students the materials they need to succeed. In fact, the grocery store became a lifeline to fund various projects.

In addition, the school also had a store full of supplies from which students and families could shop. Store items ranged in price and offered a way to showcase school spirit. This store was available to the community, and all profits benefited the school and students. According to Melanie, it was not uncommon to deposit a check of \$10,000 from store proceeds each year. She also mentioned additional opportunities existed to solicit financial support from the community; however, district personnel preferred school leadership not actively seek out these opportunities as they could not be relied on from year to year.

Barriers. The transition to build a trauma-informed school was a complex journey marked with many barriers. Melanie identified the first barrier to overcome was staff buy-in. She felt strongly the transition would only take place if the staff, as a collective group, believed they could do better to support the needs of students they see every day. Melanie shared staff were able to shift their perspectives and understand why a student was behaving a particular way. She confirmed staff learned developing trauma-informed practices was necessary through conversations and personal reflections. As a team, they developed an expectation of implementation, and, from there, staff decided to either stay or move on to other schools. Melanie believed being consistent with expectations and support from others would equip staff to make better decisions.

Melanie explained creating a year-long plan was often futile as new initiatives constantly arose during the school year; thus, time emerged as one of the most significant barriers in the transition to building a trauma-informed school. Teachers at other schools may have 4 or 5 days before welcoming students into the building, a luxury that Melanie did not have at her school. Melanie stated:

Instead of using the days before school to work on our goals, develop our why, and talk about how we can work to serve all students and offer professional development, my teachers are running from meeting to meeting trying to get their rooms ready for students. Melanie felt additional time at the start of the school year could help to establish the tone for the year ahead, build trust among staff, and allow time to prepare for welcoming new students.

Melanie noted teachers' contracts were also a barrier to the work of building a traumainformed school. A trauma-informed school needs to foster a strong family connection, which often takes place after school hours with events such as family bingo, speakers, or pumpkin painting. Teachers are bound by a contract that limits the time required to work after school. Melanie believed there needed to be additional flexibility added to the contract to allow for consistent family engagement opportunities. These events with families were critical in promoting a sense of belonging and unity in the school community, and Melanie believed they were crucial in creating a trauma-informed school. Opportunities to connect with families helped school staff understand each family's unique situation.

According to Melanie, school staff recognized building a trauma-informed school was challenging and barriers would continue to rise as time continued. However, as a staff, they were

78

committed to overcoming these challenges to provide a supportive and nurturing environment for their students. Through shared commitment, school staff hoped to create an atmosphere in which students could heal, grow, and succeed despite overwhelming adversity. Melanie said, "The barriers were natural, but the resolve to overcome them was stronger."

Measure Success. Melanie described the true success of a trauma-informed school extended beyond the traditional metrics of attendance and dysregulated children. She stated the focus should be on the well-being and happiness of students. She believed students' eagerness to come to school daily, enthusiasm for learning, and positive attitude were the fundamental indicators of success. Melanie shared the school's climate had changed dramatically over the years and noted differences regarding before and after the COVID-19 global pandemic. She mentioned the sense of belonging and trust among the school community could not be captured in any amount of qualitative data.

The youngest students also benefited from working in a trauma-informed school. Melanie shared their collective goal was to lay the foundation for a lifelong journey of personal growth and emotional resilience. Melanie believed this approach could make a significant impact in the school and community. She continued by sharing the ripple effect this impact would have on the broader community. She realized if school staff could instill resilience in their students, young learners would carry them forward and create a positive impact in their homes, among their friends, and, as they grew up, their workplaces and communities.

Future Work. Melanie found herself in a unique position in terms of the cultivation of a trauma-informed school. She stated, "We keep doing school the same way we did when I was in school and the world is not the same place, schools must change." Through unwavering support at the district level, coupled with her belief it was best for kids, Melanie created and sustained a

school that builds resilience in its students. However, Melanie also realized her school is the only one in the district that has made incredible gains in being a trauma-informed school. She contemplated the next school students transition to and wondered if the work in her school was enough for students to continue to access the trauma-informed practices they had learned. The process of establishing a trauma-informed school offered the opportunity to collaborate with colleagues and encourage them to understand the school's implementation of trauma-informed practices, which established the foundation for future educational leaders to build upon the progress at Melanie's school.

In addition to ensuring continued trauma-informed support throughout the district, Melanie also commented on the continued need to learn and grow as a staff. There was not one finish line or one goal the staff worked toward; instead, they were constantly learning about their current reality and believed in what they were building with their shared vision. Melanie shared, "The dedicated staff continued their willingness to adapt and grow." She emphasized future work would rely on staff mindset and unwavering commitment to supporting all students.

In summary, Melanie is a dedicated building principal with over 15 years of experience in Maine. She is on a mission to create a trauma-informed school that bridged emotional and academic needs of students. Her leadership centered on building relationships, involving the community, and prioritizing students' well-being. Despite barriers, Melanie and her team remained committed to creating a nurturing environment in which success was measured by student well-being and a positive school climate. Melanie's story was a testament to the power of an educational leader with a vision who was not content to stand still and, instead, actively works to create a brighter future for all.

Karla

Karla embarked on her teaching career in elementary education at a rural elementary school in Maine in 2003. Her excitement about being a teacher was palpable even though she never imagined herself teaching young students. After some time at the elementary school, she accepted a 1-year position at a high school, where she worked with students involved in a program focusing on career and college readiness. Even though her time at the high school was enjoyable, Karla realized her true passion resided with elementary students. Karla was able to return to elementary education, where she stayed and dedicated the next 11 years of her career as an educator.

Karla actively pursued excellence and had a drive to improve her practices and support her colleagues along the way. She actively sought leadership opportunities at the school. Throughout her journey, she pursued a master's degree in education with a focus on literacy. Her commitment to teaching students how to read motivated her to become the best teacher she could be. She became a team leader, participated in numerous committees, and strategically positioned herself to step into leadership roles in the future. As she progressed in her career, she started to question whether being a classroom teacher was her sole calling. Enrolling in more educational leadership classes, she continued to play an active role in various leadership initiatives.

Karla's path changed once again when she had the opportunity to step out of the classroom for part of the day and become an instructional coach. The role divided her time into part-time teacher and part-time instructional coach. Balancing these dual roles became a challenge and pushed her to contemplate her next move.

Karla realized maintaining two part-time jobs was not a sustainable, long-term solution, so she began exploring other opportunities in education administration. Her quest led her to a position at an elementary school in an urban setting, where she assumed the position of assistant principal in a school where students from minority groups made up the majority of the student body. During her time there, she formed a dynamic partnership with the principal, and the two worked exceptionally well together. However, when her colleague decided to retire, she found herself at a crossroads and pondered her own career trajectory. With her colleague's retirement, she had to consider her future. She contemplated the possibility of becoming a principal and decided the opportune moment to make the transition was upon her. Consequently, she began applying for principal positions.

At the time of this study, Karla served as the principal of a rural elementary school where the demographics were not as culturally diverse as in her previous position. Though there were notable differences, there were many parallels in her journey. Her past work experiences continued to guide her as she navigated this new chapter in her career.

Relationships. Karla encouraged teachers in her building to do something that went beyond the usual realm of academics and grades. She asked teachers to make personal phone calls to the families of their students, not to discuss academic performance but simply to build connections. During these phone calls with families, Karla said teachers would express how they were looking forward to working with parents to support students as they embarked on the new school year. Initially, some families were taken aback by the personal connection, but many realized teachers exemplified genuine care for the students in their classrooms.

Professional Development. In pursuit of creating a trauma-informed school environment, professional development became a cornerstone of growth and understanding for Karla and her team. She described starting the journey of professional development toward trauma-informed practices with a book study group. During the book study group, Karla explained to staff members about brain science and how to be culturally responsive in their teaching practices. They learned about the intricate relationship between teachers and students with diverse backgrounds. As the pages of the books turned during their book study groups, so did the gears of change in the school. Staff realized they needed to embark on a collective journey toward a trauma-informed approach to education.

Karla explained professional development included all staff, from teachers to educational technicians, nurses, and beyond. The framework for this transformation was inspired by the successful trauma-informed approach Karla had witnessed in another school district, where she had mastered the art of creating a supportive and understanding educational atmosphere. From the other school district, she learned how being trauma-informed was a fundamental part of the school's mission and reflected the school's commitment to providing a safe and nurturing environment for students.

Karla knew school leadership recognized the urgency of this task and had made it a primary goal on their agenda. She said school leadership wanted to equip every teacher and staff member with the tools to understand what students were bringing with them to school each day. This focus was an acknowledgment that students had experienced various forms of trauma in their young lives. These traumatic experiences manifested as challenging behaviors in school and created a unique set of hurdles that needed to be addressed.

Karla described the vehicle for this transformation was the gift of time. District officials designated Wednesdays as early release days for teams to gather and facilitate learning, growth, and connection among school staff. Each month, time was dedicated to exploring trauma and its impact on students. Smaller teams of school staff had the chance to convene, share their current challenges and achievements, and benefit from mutual learning opportunities.

According to Karla, professional development became a vital component of the school's culture. Professional development was no longer just another obligation but rather a shared commitment that ran deep in the hearts of all those involved. She confirmed staff understood the importance of the work involving trauma-informed practices. Staff had fully embraced the work and knew it would change the way they interacted with their students and, in turn, would change students' lives for the better.

Developing Trauma-Informed Practices. Karla believed she had a good understanding of what her staff needed in terms of continued learning. In their quest to develop traumainformed practices, staff at the school recognized the pressing need for a comprehensive approach to understanding the social and emotional needs of their students. This journey was about more than just education; it was about nurturing the whole child, acknowledging the experiences they brought into the classroom, and providing necessary support.

While reflecting on the journey, Karla reminisced about how one staff member shared the shift toward trauma-informed practices had begun prior to her arrival to the school. This staff member could only piece together the past from the stories shared by their colleagues, which included tales of an educational system primarily focused on content and standards and often overlooking the emotional needs of students. There was a profound realization not all students were ready for the standard curriculum. Some students carried the weight of trauma, which manifested in their behavior. Recognizing these students' struggles, staff needed to adapt and provide scaffolding and specific strategies to help these students overcome their challenges. Karla described how the change in perspective marked a pivotal moment and highlighted the importance of understanding why some students were not immediately ready for learning.

According to Karla, professional development became the cornerstone of this transformation. Teachers engaged in book studies and personal research to better understand trauma-informed practices. They knew these practices were not just about managing classroom disruptions; they were about building relationships and trust with students. Students needed to know they were understood and supported, and this required time, effort, and learning from educators. The school implemented dedicated time for professional development, setting aside every Wednesday to delve into the world of trauma-informed practices. Through books, workshops, and discussions, staff deepened their understanding and commitment to this vital work.

Karla described how the physical transformation of the school was subtle but significant. Classrooms buzzed with activity as students engaged in small- and whole-group learning. Students who needed a moment to regulate their emotions had designated areas in the classroom to help them self-regulate. These "calming corners" became safe spaces where students could learn emotional regulation techniques. In these corners, students learned how to control their emotions under the guidance of an educational technician. The school did not differentiate these practices based on the severity of a student's trauma. Instead, strategies were universal and recognized all students, at one point or another, needed a safe space, a quiet moment, or tools for emotional regulation.

Karla conveyed these practices extended to all students, regardless of whether they appeared emotionally dysregulated or not. Understanding everyone brought something to school, staff ensured access to these resources was consistent and predictable. The emphasis for using these practices was on safety, predictability, and the commitment of adults to support students. One crucial aspect of these practices was not to demand compliance but to help students understand the strategies available to them. Even students who seemed well-adjusted might carry their own traumas, which indicated offering support and understanding was paramount. Building trust and relationships with students was central to these practices. For students who struggled to trust adults due to past experiences, staff commitment to consistency and understanding played a pivotal role in helping them regain students' trust.

Karla shared implementing trauma-informed practices was a process requiring patience and devotion, in which staff had to adapt and embrace new ideas and practices to suit the everevolving needs of their students. Implementation of these practices required recognizing every student as unique, and trauma-informed practices needed to reflect this individuality. The journey was not without its challenges, but, ultimately, the school transformed into a place where students felt safe, understood, and ready to learn. The message was clear: every child mattered, and their emotional well-being was a priority. Resilience, patience, and unwavering dedication to students were hallmarks of the gradual but steady transformation.

Community Partners. Karla believed community partners played a role in shaping the school community. Collaborative relationships between organizations, businesses, and individuals were built on a shared commitment to improving the school experience for all students. They worked together to address a wide range of social, educational, economic, and health-related challenges.

Karla spoke about the wide community support she had experienced in her previous school from a variety of nonprofit organizations, local businesses, outside social workers, and parent volunteers. Her new role, however, had a variety of challenges and lacked strong community partnerships. The lack of community partnerships in her current school was further emphasized by the presence of new staff members, including the assistant principal, two social workers, and the school counselor position which remained unfilled at the time of this study. Given the absence of key personnel in roles crucial for community outreach and collaboration, Karla was not able to share specific ways in which the school was engaging in the cultivation of strong community partnerships. The situation underscored the need for time and adjustment as new team members settled into their roles and worked to establish connections with the community.

Barriers. Karla identified several barriers stood in the way of achieving a traumainformed school. One of the barriers was the deeply ingrained mindset among staff members about what they considered appropriate for teaching and expectations of a student's behavior. This mindset was a challenge characterized by the sentiment that, as staff, they held the authority to dictate actions and conduct of students in the classroom.

Karla shared a recent development that further compounded this challenge was the inclination of some adults to remove students from classrooms when they displayed behaviors that deviated from staff expectations. This approach created a significant problem because students perceived removal as a rejection. Karla described how students felt their presence was no longer wanted, which led to a profound erosion of trust in the staff and the school. This trust was critical for creating an environment in which students felt safe and supported.

Karla stated, "The dynamics of family structures and the needs of students have changed. The educational landscape had changed, and staff need to adapt their approach accordingly." Karla believed the behavior of dismissing students from the classroom was a personal belief of the staff. Some staff seemed to hold onto traditional teaching methods and discipline approaches that may have been more acceptable in the past. Karla believed overcoming this barrier required not just professional development but a change in mindset and an openness to new approaches. This process required time, practice, and modeling to understand and appreciate alternative methods for supporting students. One critical aspect to overcoming this barrier was establishing a core group of individuals who believed in and championed the new trauma-informed practices, she referred to them as the pioneers.

She described these pioneers as "they truly believe in the new practices and how they can support students in a positive way." The pioneers are essential for demonstrating the success of trauma-informed approaches to their peers. When pioneers shared their experiences of working with challenging students and how they successfully used new strategies to support them, it served as a catalyst for change.

Karla described another barrier regarding the lack of family involvement and trying to increase their connection with the school community. Building connections with families was essential because it allowed parents to be part of the team and work together with the school to support students. Some staff members felt uncomfortable reaching out to families through a phone call. Karla believed offering a script for those staff members and offering to coach them through their initial phone calls may result in increased confidence when calling families. Apart from providing teachers with scripts and guidance on initiating conversations, the need to focus on establishing a positive connection with parents rather than addressing disciplinary issues is also impactful. Furthermore, the offer to participate in more conversations with families provide additional support to help teachers feel more at ease with the parents.

The final barrier Karla highlighted was the recruitment and retention of staff members. According to Karla, the demands and stress staff face often discourage potential candidates from entering the profession. Alternative career paths offer similar compensation but with less stress. Therefore, attracting and retaining dedicated professionals proves to be an ongoing challenge.

The barriers identified by Karla reflected the complexities of transforming a school environment into a trauma-informed one. Karla acknowledged the work to overcome these barriers must remain a focus of the school staff. This transformation was a process requiring new practices and approaches, a fundamental shift in mindset, and a commitment to building trust and support for both students and educators.

Measuring Success. Karla believed measuring the success of transforming a conventional school into a trauma-informed school is a complex undertaking. Traditional metrics such as attendance records, incidents of dysregulated behavior, and test scores offered data points, but they only scratched the surface of the broader, transformative movement. The true measure of success in this endeavor was elusive because it extended far beyond mere statistics.

Karla recognized success goes beyond quantitative data. School staff needed to acknowledge their vital role in this ongoing mission. She said, to be an educator, one had to be a particular type of person who was intrinsically motivated to pursue a career in teaching. This internal drive was an essential prerequisite and something that could not be imposed externally.

She added genuine teachers are those individuals who possess an unwavering passion for the art of teaching and are willing to go above and beyond their duties because they understand their efforts directly benefit students. Karla said once these educators were welcomed into the school, discussions about innovative curricula, novel interventions, and transformative educational approaches became possible. These educators were inherently more open to experimentation and change and more aware of the potential impact of their endeavors on the students they served. In her many years of education, Karla learned one crucial lesson: change could be exceptionally challenging for many individuals. Her realization became apparent when the school underwent a transition in leadership; her experience provided a firsthand glimpse into the difficulties people face when confronted with change. Although the change may have appeared promising and led to positive outcomes, it also elicited apprehension and resistance from the staff.

Karla shared the key to fostering success in a trauma-informed school was to cultivate a staff of dedicated individuals who recognized the potential for positive change. She further explained change require an environment where experimentation was encouraged, even if it occasionally resulted in setbacks. A common objective of assisting students and the larger community drove the collective effort to embrace change and venture into uncharted territory.

Karla believed in successful creation of a trauma-informed school that transcended metrics. Success revolved around dedication, transparency, and collective commitment of school staff to drive change, ultimately improving the well-being of students under their care. She noted the true measure of success is a journey of constant pursuit of improvement, and a belief in the potential for transformative change.

Future Work. Karla believed the focus on transitioning to a trauma-informed school occurred only at the school level, and it had not extended to other schools in her district at the time of the study. Her goal for the immediate future was to continue implementing these practices in the school environment and ensure more staff understood the science behind trauma-informed practices and the important role they play in the creation of a trauma-informed school. Karla shared a significant cohort of school staff recognized the necessity of SEL for students and had intentionally implemented SEL practices in their daily lessons. Sharing their experiences and

successes with district leadership could potentially pave the way for broader adoption in the future.

Karla stated the focus going forward must be on increasing family engagement and communication. The process of improving engagement and communication begins with supporting all staff in establishing connections with families through phone calls and postcards. Karla shared the importance of the extension into the community beginning with the families, "the school can only do so much and partnerships with the home are extremely important." She believed working with families would allow students to sustain their resilience, a concept they learned in school.

Karla shared the work towards trauma-informed practices is extremely challenging and complex for many reasons. The building leader must remain steadfast; progress may appear slow and messy, but results will manifest over time. Staff in the school building have the power to create a trauma-informed school and improve the well-being and happiness of students. She further added staff can control the support provided, tools offered, and unwavering consistency as stabilizing influences in the lives of students.

In summary, Karla, an elementary school principal, believed transforming a school into a trauma-informed environment is a complex, ongoing process requiring dedication from staff. The focus was on providing professional development to build staff capacity in trauma-informed practices. Implementing these practices involved subtle but impactful changes like the creation of calming corners in classrooms. Overcoming barriers, such as ingrained mindsets of staff and involving families, remain challenges that need to be continuously addressed.

Karla shared quantitative metrics do not fully capture success; rather, success is defined by the passion and commitment of staff in providing support to students. The work toward trauma-informed practices continues by sharing successes with district leadership and increasing family engagement. Karla confirmed, with unwavering consistency of trauma-informed practices by the staff, the school could create an environment where students feel safe, understood, and ready to learn.

Autumn

Autumn, fresh from completing college, began her educational career as a Title I educational assistant at a small school in rural Maine. She secured this job a few days before the school year began. It was a time of uncertainty for her; she did not think she was ready to take on the role of a teacher. She followed a push-in model, as over half of the students were identified as being in Title I. It wasn't too long before a classroom teaching position opened up because the teacher she was supporting was moving to a different district. Suddenly, she found herself stepping into her very first teaching position in the first grade.

Over the next 9 years, Autumn dedicated herself to shaping young minds, and she felt she needed to further her own education to meet the needs of the students in front of her. She made the decision to return to school and earned a literacy specialist certificate. Armed with this new knowledge and professional accomplishment, Autumn felt better equipped to teach her students how to read.

During the first 9 years as a teacher, Autumn's primary focus remained on first and second grade students. However, after earning the literacy specialist certificate, she began yearning for more professional learning and began coursework for her administrative certificate. She wanted to deepen her understanding of curriculum, instruction, and assessment with a concentration on response to intervention. Autumn found herself immersed in the coursework and discovered a true passion for educational leadership. She eventually transitioned from the classroom to being a literacy coach and supported teachers in creating appropriate response to intervention plans for students. Autumn often reflected on her role in education and assessed her own impact on the lives of the students she taught.

Noting that she was limited in her current role, Autumn devised a plan to study the effectiveness of coaching in the districts. After a year of data collection, Autumn shared her findings with the school community. As a direct result from Autumn's research, the school district hired additional coaches the following year.

For the next 6 years, Autumn continued as a literacy coach and thoroughly enjoyed her time with students until the opportunity presented itself for her to step into a building administrator role at a small elementary school in Maine. This transition began another sequence of events that led her to the position she held at the time of this study. As Autumn reflected on her journey from an educational technician to becoming a building principal, it was evident she was offered significant learning opportunities along the way.

Autumn was faced with the task of supporting various initiatives in her new position. However, the task of creating a trauma-informed school was never shared with explicit instructions. She was passionate about her role as an educational leader and doing what was necessary to support all students who entered her school. The power of her own journey opened Autumn's eyes to the possibilities of a more compassionate and resilient educational environment.

Relationships. Autumn stated, "They [staff] didn't just teach math and reading, their chosen profession is so much more than that." In the heart of a bustling elementary school, she

described the magic of relationships unfolding—a quiet, yet powerful, force that shaped the lives of students and teachers alike. The school was a place where educators understood the significance of connecting with students on a deeper level. Building those relationships was the foundation upon which everything else stood. Teachers on the front lines knew getting to know their students was the key to identifying when a child was going through a tough time.

Autumn reflected on the importance of the school's instructional coach who played a vital role in the process of building relationships. The instructional coach shared various activities with staff to be used as a morning greeting, a moment that set the tone for the day. According to Autumn, some staff adopted this practice right away whereas other staff members were more hesitant. However, Autumn believed during the 2023–2024 school year, something special happened as morning greetings were not an optional practice; they became a tradition for everyone.

On the opening day of the school year, the instructional coach made greeting cards available to all staff. These greeting cards, placed outside each teacher's door, became a colorful menu of connections. Students had the opportunity to choose how they wanted to greet their teachers each morning, and the effect was remarkable. Autumn excitedly described the experience:

It was like a buffet of emotions: a fist bump for an enthusiastic start, a smile for a warm connection, a high-five for an energetic welcome, a hug for comfort, or even a silly dance for a touch of whimsy.

Over half of the school teachers embraced this practice, and it became a cherished part of their daily routine. Autumn admitted the overall impact on the school environment was profound and heartwarming for everyone.

Autumn also shared a story of a teacher who spent quite a bit of time on the morning meeting; the teacher's daily practice was to greet students outside of her classroom and individually engage her students in meaningful conversations. Sometimes these teacher–student interactions extended over 20 seconds. As an observer, Autumn marveled at this particular teacher's patience and dedication.

In addition, students waiting in line displayed an admirable level of patience to take their turn and be welcomed to class by their teacher. The teacher's attentiveness stood out through daily special acknowledgement, questions, or comments to each student. Although these teacher– student interactions were not perfunctory, they were deeply personal.

It became evident that Autumn's relationships with students were akin to those of a homeroom teacher. Autumn shared a daily ritual with students, a morning meeting where they talked about their weekends, shared stories, and connected on a personal level. In these moments, the genuine care for each student became abundantly clear.

In Autumn's school, morning meetings were not exclusive to younger grades; even fifthgrade students participated with their teachers, although in a shorter format. Students shared, engaged in activities, and greeted each other every day. These daily rituals, however brief, revealed much about the students and offered a glimpse into their lives as people. Autumn believed these interactions, even as students and staff passed each other in the hallways, continued to strengthen relationships. Relationships were the cornerstone of trauma-informed schools, and, through morning greetings, daily meetings, and genuine care, teachers understood the profound impact they had on their students' lives.

Professional Development. Autumn described the movement of staff toward the transformation to a trauma-informed school as a staff-led process. She said the staff created a

movement that began with a few teachers and grew to include more staff members. It was a journey that required dedication, collaboration, and a deep commitment to professional development.

The school's mission was clear: to create a trauma-informed environment where every student felt safe and supported. The journey began with monthly check-ins during professional learning communities (PLCs) and staff meetings. However, the journey was not always this structured.

At the outset, Autumn met regularly with staff who were ready for this work and revisited their vision and professional development plans. Together, Autumn and staff members who were ready to create a trauma-informed environment brainstormed strategies to best help school personnel understand why implementing trauma-informed practices was best for all students. The ever-present needs of students shaped the approach by staff as they advanced in the process, which included improvisation and adapting to unique challenges and opportunities.

Autumn described a pivotal year in the transition toward trauma-informed practices included greater intentionality and a well-defined purpose. She confirmed staff embraced a new chapter with an opportunity for growth and transformation. The school year commenced with a clear understanding of the expectations delivered by Autumn and the team of support staff who were working to bring the vision to life. The message shared by Autumn and support staff was a collaborative approach to ensure all students were supported could not be done in isolation. The team, led by Autumn, conveyed the importance of the first 4–6 weeks of school; this time period was devoted to building a positive culture and climate in the classrooms and setting the stage for the trauma-informed approach.

Autumn described the trauma-informed approach as being unique. She added, "It was a testament to the collective effort to make a positive impact in the lives of the students they cared for deeply." The staff buy-in to professional development offerings was optional at first and allowed some staff members to be pioneers of trauma-informed practices in their respective classrooms.

As time went on, the offerings for professional development continued, and more staff members became interested and wanted to learn how to integrate trauma-informed practices in their daily routines. She expressed professional learning about responsive classroom techniques, which include trauma-informed practices, was a choice willingly embraced by staff who were ready to receive the new learning. Autumn believed the school's dedication to creating a traumainformed environment was not just a goal; it was a journey that unfolded through regular checkins, collaboration, and a purposeful start to the school year.

Developing Trauma-Informed Practices. Autumn confirmed staff and district administration were deeply committed to cultivating trauma-informed practices and recognized the critical importance of those practices in shaping the lives of students they nurture. The passion for this endeavor was not confined to the school walls alone. Even the superintendents shared a dedication to this cause and engaged in numerous conversations that underscored the significance of the school's mission of becoming trauma-informed.

A pivotal moment occurred when Autumn was introduced to an expert in the field of trauma-informed practices. The insights and resources the expert shared had a profound impact on Autumn and her school staff. The Maine Department of Education also played a significant role in the development of a trauma-informed school by offering a wealth of resources, particularly as the world emerged from the COVID-19 global pandemic. Staff had access to tools to help them address the unique challenges students faced during their time away from in-person education.

According to Autumn, the reentry to full-time, in-person learning was a turning point in the development of a trauma-informed school. It was a time when Autumn, along with the school staff, realized the necessity of prioritizing relationships with students. She confirmed the effects of the COVID-19 global pandemic had left many students lacking social skills due to remote or hybrid learning periods as students did not have the opportunity to practice and develop essential social interactions.

The journey into trauma-informed practices became a personal interest for Autumn, who took the initiative to delve further into the field. One summer after the COVID-19 global pandemic, Autumn and her team enrolled in a three-part online comprehensive course which introduced them to trauma-informed practices and provided practical skills and strategies. Autumn said it was not a typical online class; instead, it was a dynamic, engaging environment that challenged participants to think and grow.

She admitted the course was a different approach to teaching and learning. Autumn found the experience refreshing and invigorating and shared, "The course pushed the boundaries of traditional education, leading to fresh perspectives and deep reflection on the current reality of our students' needs." The transformative experience from the course inspired Autumn to bring the innovative teaching methods she learned to the school.

As the school year commenced, a remarkable activity unfolded on opening day. Autumn introduced teachers to a series of activities designed to build trust and strengthen relationships with students. The purpose of these activities was to understand how to communicate with different types of students.

Staff were asked to reflect on the language they used with their exemplary students (i.e., those who consistently met expectations) by sharing phrases, words, and tones they used to motivate and encourage these students. Staff were then asked to turn their attention to the students who posed more significant challenges and were encouraged to consider the words and phrases they used when addressing these students. Autumn shared this activity was about self-awareness, recognition of how language might affect students, and how staff could change their approach to provide better support.

Autumn offered a glimpse into the complex web of supporting students with behavioral or emotional needs and students who were quietly struggling. The challenge was finding methods to identify students with behavioral or emotional needs and create conditions that fostered their development. Furthermore, Autumn made the case for implementing traumainformed practices for all students because it was not always evident which students are struggling.

Autumn shared her belief all students could benefit from such practices, not just those who presented obvious challenges. This belief drove her contemplation about how to create a system that ensured every student had a staff who knew something special about them. Autumn believed the creation of a trauma-informed school was an opportunity for teachers to make deeper connections with students who might not immediately exhibit signs of distress or challenges.

Further support was given to teachers with responsive classroom training, which reinforced the importance of relationships, community, and safe learning environments. "This work," Autumn stated, "was about recognizing the diversity of students' needs and nurturing their resilience and well-being." The school had already invested in responsive classroom professional development and made various levels of training available. Many staff members had undergone extensive training in trauma-informed practices, and the aim was to integrate these practices into the trauma-informed approach.

Autumn characterized the journey toward the implementation of trauma-informed practices as a strong commitment to and a profound understanding of the need to prioritize relationships, resilience, and emotional well-being in education. She said this journey took time, and the results were not immediate. She noted the school was evolving, not just in its approach to teaching but in its dedication to creating a safe, nurturing space for all students, regardless of their individual challenges or strengths.

Community Partners. Autumn described a network of support led by a team of dedicated professionals and fueled by a common goal: to provide unwavering support for every student in their care. The team was comprised of the school's two counselors, a compassionate social worker who specialized in special education, an invaluable board-certified behavior analyst (BCBA), and the school nurse. Guided by the school's leaders, the team's mission was clear: to ensure every student received the comprehensive and personalized support they needed.

In weekly meetings, the team assessed students' emotional and academic well-being. However, it was the post-check-in agenda that continued their important work. Together, the team maintained a shared list of students in need of special attention and support. Students on the list often faced a variety of challenges, whether academic, emotional, or familial. The team was able to identify these students and collaborate on how to best support them. They were, in essence, a family of educators and specialists who recognized they were responsible for students' education and their overall well-being. The collaboration did not end after identifying students in need. Autumn indicated the team actively searched for resources and partnerships in the community to provide wraparound support; in her own words, "it takes a village." Autumn and her team understood the well-being of students was deeply intertwined with the community and services available for them.

Autumn described a recent meeting, during which a team member shared an invaluable online website with an exhaustive list of resources available throughout the state of Maine. She said this website provided a comprehensive guide for families and students, and it listed an extensive range of available support and services. The resources provided from the website were not limited to the confines of the school but extended to the broader community to address the myriad challenges students might face outside of the classroom. Autumn believed this website was a lifeline for parents and caregivers who often found themselves not knowing what to do or how to respond to their unique situations.

The dedication of Autumn's staff was unwavering, and their efforts were a testament to the deep bonds they had formed in service of the students for whom they cared. Each week, they gathered to share their collective wisdom, find solutions, and forge partnerships with the community. For Autumn, this close-knit community was a reminder no student's needs would ever go unmet, and no challenge would go unanswered. In their hands, every student found hope and the promise of a brighter future.

Barriers. Autumn found herself at the center of a challenge that weighed heavily on her heart and her mission. The barrier she faced was a prevailing skepticism. There were staff who believed the work of implementing trauma-informed practices was just another addition to an already long list of responsibilities. The challenge presented was to change the perspective of these individuals to see this type of work as an integral part of a comprehensive teaching approach.

Autumn knew this perspective was more than a single concept; it encompassed her entire philosophy of teaching. Implementing trauma-informed practices was about fostering a learning environment in which students felt valued, heard, and safe. As she looked back, Autumn wished she had known the school's culture better before taking on this initiative. If she had understood what was to come and the relationship she would forge with her superintendent, she might have chosen a more effective approach.

As time moved forward, she embraced the idea of implementing trauma-informed practices. Her enthusiasm and support had influenced the adoption of trauma-informed practices, which led to their implementation. She was still aware of the prevailing negative mindset of select individuals, some of whom were the most wonderful teachers. Their skepticism stemmed from the belief they were already doing similar things for their students. The real challenge, Autumn believed, was to alter the perception of trauma-informed practices as a supplementary activity to a fundamental shift in teaching. Autumn could not help but ponder the negativity she encountered from educators who questioned how much work they needed to do for their students. She believed education had evolved over the years, and the role of teachers had transformed. Autumn acknowledged teachers were not just instructors; they were caregivers, mentors, and champions of their students' overall well-being.

Though there were barriers to overcome, Autumn knew most educators understood the importance of their evolving roles. Time, patience, and unwavering commitment would eventually lead to a shift in mindset. Autumn's perspective was filled with hope and determination. She knew, despite the existing challenges, they were all working toward a shared

102

goal: creating a school environment where every student felt valued, heard, and nurtured, both academically and emotionally.

Measuring Success. Autumn often found herself reflecting on the concept of measuring success in her role as a school principal. She understood not every student responded to initiatives in the same way, which made it challenging to assess the impact of trauma-informed practices objectively. She contemplated the idea of collecting data to gauge the effectiveness of their efforts, including the use of informal surveys or online surveys like Google Forms to gain insights on how students perceived changes. Unfortunately, quantitative data gathering had not been initiated at the time of this study.

Nevertheless, Autumn could not deny the palpable feeling of safety, happiness, and contentment that seemed to envelop the school. From her observations, parents, students, and the community felt secure in the school's nurturing environment. Most students cherished their time at school, and their joy was evident. Though Autumn acknowledged not every student might share the same sentiment, the prevailing atmosphere was one of happiness and contentment at school. When she compared the school to her previous experiences in three different districts, Autumn felt her school was a unique and exceptionally cheerful place. She described her school as a haven of warmth and happiness, both for staff and students.

Autumn recognized the importance of anecdotal evidence and understood quantifying the impact of their work was not always possible due to the nature of becoming trauma-informed. During her time at the school, she witnessed significant changes, especially given the challenges they faced during the COVID-19 global pandemic. The school evolved following a year of hybrid learning, and the resilience of staff and their growing capacity to embrace traumainformed practices were evident. Autumn was acutely aware of the transformation that had taken place in the school's culture; it was a testament to staff dedication and the positive impact of their trauma-informed approach. Though hard, quantitative data remained elusive, the profound changes she witnessed in the school environment and the responses of students based on her observations were invaluable indicators of their success.

Future Work. Autumn found herself contemplating her approach to the important work that had unfolded over the years. The task at hand was no small feat, and she had started with a different perspective regarding how to share her inspiration and motivation with staff. Ultimately, Autumn chose to create her own path, one that was uniquely hers. She understood the development of a trauma-informed school as not just about a single concept or initiative; it was about transforming the approach to teaching and learning.

To achieve a trauma-informed school, Autumn had to be strategic in her planning. She recognized numerous responsibilities would vie for staff time and attention throughout the school year. Her passion-driven work could easily be overshadowed by state testing results, census bureau surveys, and other obligations.

A challenge she recognized for staff learning was the demand of their roles as educators. Staff were easily pulled in different directions with limited time to devote to professional development. It was critical to make space for this work and provide staff with opportunities to engage, even if it meant revisiting the topic of trauma-informed practices more frequently. Conversations with her staff also prompted her to consider the nomenclature of trauma-informed practices. She understood the education field often experienced trends that came and went. It was essential to overcome the skepticism that the concept might be just a passing phase.

Autumn shared her thoughts on how educators must focus on the actions and essence of the work rather than the specific terms used. The core goals were to create a nurturing environment, prioritize the happiness of the students, develop their social skills, and foster meaningful relationships. Although the terminology might evolve, the essence of the work would remain unchanged.

Autumn acknowledged working in an elementary school had its advantages. She explained elementary school teachers naturally understand the importance of relationships, compassion, and creating welcoming classroom environments. Although skepticism might be more prevalent in middle or high schools, the essence of the work encompassing traumainformed practices remained consistent. In the end, Autumn contemplated the message to her staff—the one word she wished to instill in them when interacting with all students. She ultimately settled on "resilient" because, in her view, it encapsulated the most important message she wanted to convey: every student should have the skills to be resilient.

In summary, Autumn described herself as an educator passionate about implementing trauma-informed practices in her school, and her focus is on relationships. Autumn explained how her staff embraced optional professional development on responsive classroom techniques that aligned with trauma-informed approaches. She detailed the collaborative efforts between administration, counselors, and specialists to support students facing challenges.

Despite acknowledging skepticism as a barrier, Autumn remained dedicated to creating a nurturing environment where all students felt valued. She reflected on how to sustain this work amid other obligations and conveyed her core message of helping students become more resilient to overcome adversity in life. Overall, Autumn was committed to transforming her school to prioritize student well-being through trauma-informed practices.

Jillian

Jillian, an educational leader with 9 years of experience in a public school in Maine, brought a unique perspective to her work. Her graduate education, which included a traumainformed lens specific to the program she had been accepted into, prepared her for the hands-on and collaborative nature of her profession. By engaging in deep group discussions with classmates and her professors, she learned to uncover personal triggers of emotion, understand the impact of trauma, and apply trauma-informed practices when interacting with students, particularly those who may be dysregulated.

Before her career in public education, Jillian delved deeper into the clinical realm, after witnessing the profound effects of trauma on students. Her daily work involved not only helping students heal but also nurturing their resilience. This experience provided her with a historical perspective on working with students from diverse backgrounds and life experiences. Through home visits, she gained a unique perspective on the reality of the environment students lived in, often discovering unmet basic needs such as access to adequate food or the financial stability of the family. These insights underscored the crucial importance of fostering connections and support for these students.

Jillian's extensive background in trauma-informed education equipped her to work effectively with students and allowed her to share her knowledge with staff. She brought her perspective and expertise to her current school in Maine where trauma-informed conversations began. Jillian shared the importance of frequent conversations with colleagues to begin planting the seed of change.

Additionally, Jillian reflected on her use of every opportunity to share what she knew about trauma-informed education with her colleagues. She presented short videos on student behavior with a structured discussion open to all staff at the very beginning of the work to become a trauma-informed school. Finding staff who were eager to learn about trauma-informed practices out of curiosity rather than obligation allowed for a slow but authentic approach to the transformation. Her holistic approach of using multiple modalities for professional development, coupled with in-depth conversations, reflected a deep understanding of the multifaceted challenges students face and the importance of addressing students who have been impacted by trauma through collaboration and support.

Relationships. Jillian believed relationships were the pillars of a trauma-informed school and stated, "when relationships are first, everything else falls together." If the foundation was strong with supportive relationships, the school would transform into a trauma-informed school. Thus, relationships became the foundation for all aspects of the work toward a trauma-informed school, from managing academic expectations for students and families in the school setting to fostering strong connections among staff and students.

Jillian recognized her students all had various perspectives and experiences requiring individualized approaches to meeting their needs. She affirmed the acceptability of learning who students are on a personal level and sharing challenges students faced outside of the classroom if they were willing to share. Jillian and her staff were able to listen, understand, and offer support without the presumption of fixing everything for the students; rather, the goal was to provide a framework to help students move forward in a way that allowed the cultivation of resilience. Over time, Jillian shared the staff became more adept at inquiring about the well-being of students by engaging in conversations with other classroom teachers, transportation staff, cafeteria staff, and even building administrative assistants. The collaborative efforts of staff allowed individual student needs to be met with a greater level of consistency. **Professional Development.** Jillian described a needed focus on professional development to support school staff in learning about trauma. She believed the timing of professional development had to align with staff readiness to receive information and learn. Jillian described a series of structured, professional development opportunities available to all staff. Topics included SEL exploration, brain science, student experiences and how they impact students' days, and, finally, self-care for staff to better serve students.

She added school staff collaborated to participate in extensive training on trauma sensitivity and explored the distinctions between trauma-sensitive approaches and a deeper awareness of the impact of trauma. The focus of these trainings was to identify the essential elements needed to truly embody a trauma-informed perspective. Opportunities for professional development required constant scrutiny and adaptation to ensure staff followed through on their commitment to be a trauma-informed school.

Jillian explained learning progressed and the use of a common language happened organically among staff. During PLCs, teachers were encouraged to focus on students' strengths and challenges to develop a comprehensive understanding of each student, which allowed for the generation of possible solutions, sustained connections with students and families, and ensured students did not fall through the cracks. Jillian shared the collaborative spirit of the staff was the cornerstone of their efforts to provide a supportive and nurturing educational environments for all the students.

Jillian affirmed collaboration is essential in the journey toward becoming a traumainformed school. Working closely with colleagues and drawing from various individuals' expertise, she planned and implemented additional professional development. Over time, Jillian and her staff continued to adapt and evolve with the ever-changing needs of staff. Further, she commented on the support from administrators who continued to provide space for this work, and incorporated the practice during monthly professional development including daily practice throughout the building. She said "The daily routines established became part of the transformation into a trauma-informed school." She continued, "Opportunities for continued conversations and further discussion of new knowledge allowed for progress to be sustained." The school provided opportunities to share information with staff to continue engaging them in the work and transfer new learning to their interactions with students.

Developing Trauma-Informed Practices. Jillian knew trauma-informed practices could not be developed in afterschool professional development alone. She explained there were times when staff members attended meetings but were not quite ready to fully engage with the learning process. In these moments, the approach shifted to meeting staff where they were and modeling how to effectively interact with students.

Jillian shared her staff was a diverse group of unique individuals with their own distinctive ways of absorbing information, as each person had a preferred learning style. When staff encountered challenging students, the true impact of their collective efforts became apparent. These moments marked a year of ongoing conversations and often turned out to be the most significant part of their collaborative work.

Through casual conversations, staff members would candidly express their struggles with meeting the needs of their students. Jillian, too, would share openly about her emotional triggers and acknowledged her own vulnerabilities. Jillian shared some teachers admitted a particular situation was difficult for them and talked about their own perspectives. Teachers discussed what was needed and how they could adapt to ensure students were at the center of the conversation.

Jillian shared how every day in education was not easy. Some students, with an uncanny ability to read their educators like an open book, were more prone to power struggles with their teachers or other adults. In these moments, resource teachers were invaluable because they would step in and acknowledge familiar conversations they had previously had with students. The resource teacher and classroom teacher would have the opportunity to work together to brainstorm new strategies to navigate challenging situations. Jillian shared this collaboration often resulted in the classroom teacher feeling supported and able to implement new strategies to meet the needs of students.

Jillian stressed it was essential to communicate differently and focus on what students needed rather than simply repeating the same responses. The collective effort of brainstorming and creative problem solving made a difference. For example, the school staff used curriculum on SEL and mindfulness with students. The implementation of SEL and mindfulness curriculum also supported consistency in language and understanding for school staff. The goal, always at the forefront, was to ensure the best interests of students remained the central focus.

Jillian noted staff members were making a difference in students' educational journeys through their dedication, willingness to adapt and evolve despite challenges, optimism to celebrate each small victory, and commitment to do what is best for their students. The collaboration and mutual support among these educators made a world of difference for both the teachers and students. They celebrated each small victory and remained steadfast in their commitment to doing what was best for their students.

Community Partners. Jillian shared the community she works in is small and the connections run deep in terms of the commitment to support students in their educational journey. The belief was, in addition to the assistance provided in the educational institution, there

were also invaluable resources available in the broader community. These resources were like a safety net and helped to provide the necessary wrap-around services for students and families.

Although the support network was expansive, Jillian noted it was not without challenges. The network was seen as serving a spectrum of needs, and the level of support often depended on the comfort level of families involved. Over the years, Jillian believed there was a noticeable shift, particularly since the COVID-19 global pandemic. Families seemed increasingly willing to seek counseling, a positive development that contributed to the well-being of students and the extended school community. Despite this progress, the community continued to face significant limitations in the availability of support services. Jillian was baffled by why help was not more accessible, which warranted conversations and collaborative problem solving. Jillian recognized not all students required the same level of support, and the type of assistance needed was highly contingent on the individual needs of both the student and the family.

Jillian lamented the lack of counseling services, a crucial and typically accessible resource, which often had a waitlist even for online or Zoom counseling. Jillian stated, "I tell parents to get on every wait list you can, because people don't always show up." This advice may have led to some availability and support. Jillian described parent involvement as critical to finding the necessary support for students outside of the school day.

Jillian realized if access to outside resources was a challenge, finding a way to keep students engaged and connected while in school was essential. Collaboration among school staff created opportunities for programs to be altered to better meet the diverse needs of students. Jillian shared staff worked together across various schools in the same community to provide unique opportunities for students who were struggling with accessing a traditional educational program (e.g., elementary students working with middle school students on a drone project). Jillian believed the connections or relationships staff had across school buildings allowed these opportunities to take place. Sometimes opportunities could arise at the last minute, which could result in staff pivoting to best meet the needs of students.

Barriers. Jillian described three barriers to the creation of a trauma-informed school, these were professional development, staff stress levels, and reluctance to change. Professional development and learning opportunities were open to all staff, yet various hurdles emerged, such as constraints imposed by working hours established through collective bargaining agreements for public education. Jillian explained context mattered, which was reflected by the complexity of her school system.

For school staff who were ready, their journey toward a trauma-informed school continued. They sought out transferable knowledge and practices that could be immediately applied in the classroom; however, the timing did not always align with an ideal scenario for introducing and implementing new practices. Opportunities needed to be created at different times to ensure support staff and teachers remained moving forward in their learning.

A second barrier Jillian mentioned was increased stress levels from external pressures such as yearly budget discussions and contract negotiations, both of which could impact the implementation of trauma-informed practices. In addition, some staff were at the later stages of their teaching career and may not have been interested in changing. The cyclical nature of education, much like history, meant some years might be more conducive to embracing change than others.

The third barrier Jillian described was reluctance from certain staff members to change their practice. Not everyone had pursued education with the same mindset or had the inclination to embrace a trauma-informed approach. It was a challenge faced in the broader educational context and in the district. Resistance stemmed from discomfort in building relationships with all students and a lack of understanding the root causes of students' behavior.

Jillian believed barriers could be minimized to focus on the work toward becoming a trauma-informed school. Jillian understood staff members were at different stages of acceptance and understanding of trauma. Offering one-on-one support to staff who were more open to personal growth and desired to learn further nurtured the transition and confirmed a student-focused school and unwavering dedication from school leadership would continue to create an environment where students could thrive.

Measuring Success. Jillian noted success in a trauma-informed school could be identified with anecdotal evidence such as the stories shared by staff members describing their interactions with students. She stated the true measure of success was when teachers could see changes in students with whom they had been working for years, through the ups and downs of their educational journey. One of those stories included a student who, after being a source of challenge, began to show remarkable growth.

Jillian affirmed these stories highlighted struggles and conversations characterized by rigidity, misunderstanding, and even moments of tension that transpired between students and staff while building strong relationships. Jillian noted the resilience of students and the dedication of the staff prevailed. Efforts to build partnerships with families involved phone calls home, challenging discussions, and many pieces that needed to be put together like a complex puzzle. In the end, these efforts and partnerships benefited the students.

Jillian remembered a success story "when a student embraced a staff member with a heartfelt hug as the culmination of countless efforts, illustrating how a relationship that once faced significant hurdles had evolved into a beautiful connection." Jillian again mentioned timing was important, and it was necessary to understand when both students and staff members were ready for the transformation, personally and professionally. She also noted success extending beyond heartwarming stories.

Success extends into the practical aspects of education as well. Attendance was a concrete indicator school staff paid close attention to; it reflected the quality of relationships in the school. Jillian stated, "when students did not show up, it was a sign there was work to be done, either in building relationships or addressing student needs." As a response to issues with attendance, Jillian hosted weekly attendance meetings to track this crucial metric. The focus on attendance was deeply intertwined with the broader mission of fostering relationships. Staff examined patterns of frequent absenteeism and looked beyond the surface to identify underlying issues.

Future Work. Jillian noted dedicated staff are aware that they are making significant strides in the transformation to a trauma-informed school but with the understanding that the work is far from over. The school had shifted its focus to students, their emotional well-being, and the importance of building relationships. However, they recognized the next phase of their mission would involve reaching out to the broader community.

As Jillian reflected on the progress made, she thought about the work ahead, particularly in engaging the community. Educating families and parents about the principles of traumainformed care was paramount, but time constraints often posed a challenge. Part of the future work involved helping families navigate the complex web of services available to them. Jillian mentioned families' experiences from case management supervision provided a deeper understanding of hardships families faced, even when they did everything right. Jillian mentioned frustrating waitlists for essential support services, despite best efforts by families, remained a significant hurdle and was an issue that needed to be addressed.

In the broader picture, Jillian observed positive changes, particularly regarding shortened wait times, which led to immediate assistance for students requiring in-home support. However, staff were aware more work needed to be done to ensure timely access to support all students who required it. Jillian shared lessons learned along the way were invaluable, and her mantra was "don't give up." The road to becoming a trauma-informed school was arduous and filled with obstacles. It demanded a deep understanding of the complexities of human interactions and the diverse stages of personal development.

Jillian said, "I think there must be layers [to the learning]; it can't be one and done." She continued by sharing how learning opportunities focused on SEL and parent/community education events to provide additional skills to staff while working with students. Jillian stated, "I'll continue to provide learning opportunities for all who will listen so we can nurture resilience and help every student thrive." Timing played a crucial role in knowing when to push forward and when to pause and reflect. Admittedly, school leadership acknowledged the challenges posed by external factors including the impact of the COVID-19 global pandemic. The journey towards a trauma-informed school is a continuous process requiring momentum to keep moving forward.

In summarizing Jillian's story, her background in trauma-informed education offered a deep understanding in relationships being paramount while working toward a trauma-informed school. She collaborated with staff on professional development topics such as brain science and mindfulness to build collective understanding. She noted trauma-informed practices develop over time through open conversations about challenges and collective problem solving. She also believed community partnerships are crucial, but barriers such as waitlists for counseling services remain a source of concern. Jillian concluded the work of developing a trauma-informed school is never complete and requires persistence and commitment.

Themes

After the narratives were restoried and member checked, they were manually coded to identify emerging themes. The first theme was on connections, as participants shared their experiences of developing a trauma-informed school, they described the need to find ways to deeply connect with their students and families. The second theme was readiness for change among staff. Participants shared staff need to be ready to learn about trauma to implement trauma-informed practices. The last theme was the availability of time as a limited commodity and a needed resource to continue learning, building connections, and supporting the implementation of a trauma-informed school. Each of these themes were analyzed using the lens of Mezirow's (1991) transformative learning theory.

Connections

The first theme was connections. According to all participants, the foundation of a trauma-informed school was unequivocally reliant on the connections fostered. Each of the participants discussed connections necessary to support the students they served; their examples provided insight on various ways connections can be made such as the feeling of belonging, shared ownership through collaboration, daily practices, and family connections.

Feeling of Belonging. Dan shared the increased interaction between students and staff provided opportunities for deeper connections, which resulted in the school feeling like a happier place overall. In his mind, the feeling of belonging developed through an increased focus on building relationships with students. Furthermore, Melanie mentioned the importance of the physical space in school to promote feelings of belonging. She described having the school building decorated as if students were a part of it by putting pictures of students on the walls. This was another example of how school staff and the establishment of relationships can make a difference in how the students feel.

Jillian spoke of connectedness when discussing the importance of relationships as the foundation of a trauma-informed school. She described working with staff in various roles (e.g., transportation, cafeteria, assistants, and teachers) to develop a full picture of each student and their needs. Jillian's collaborative efforts with the school team allowed for greater consistency in recognizing and meeting student needs.

Shared Ownership Through Collaboration. Melanie emphasized the importance of shared ownership among the staff through unity and collaboration. She made it a point to work with her staff and assume the roles they have on any given day. She led by example, which allowed staff to learn their importance to the operation of the school and the school district.

Each of the participants discussed the importance of working together, as a staff, to meet the various needs of the students they serve. Autumn stated, "This work cannot be done in isolation." Jillian and Autumn believed collaboration was essential to the journey, and it was necessary to provide opportunities for staff to learn and reflect together through professional learning communities, professional development, and staff meetings. Furthermore, Karla and Melanie both discussed the opportunities for building trust through small group learning and book studies as a way to build collaboration and new learning among the staff.

Daily Practices. Participants shared various ways connections were made through daily practices. Daily practices allowed for consistency for students. Both Dan and Autumn shared the importance of a daily greeting. For Dan's school, this greeting included talking with students

about topics that interest them such as a recent sports game or a new video game. The topic did not matter as long as it was something the student and staff member could use to connect in conversation.

Autumn's school did their daily practice of morning greeting differently. Autumn shared the development of daily practices promoted connectedness among her staff and their students. She went into great detail about morning greetings and the meetings established in each homeroom. Autumn stated:

It all started with a few teachers who wanted to do something different. They stood outside of their door and greeted the students each morning with a fist bump, high five, hug or a dance. The students smiled and grew to expect that greeting every day. This became contagious and other teachers wanted to do the morning greeting as well. The daily practice of the morning routine allowed students to feel connected to their teachers beyond their traditional academic role in the classroom.

Karla described the use of calming corners in the academic setting to support students who were dysregulated and how those corners could be found in each classroom. According to Jillian, the increase of consistent daily routines in the classroom setting allowed for additional staff conversation during PLCs or staff meetings. Likewise, Melanie shared daily practices were further realized when staff members increased collaboration organically and began to visit each other's classrooms. Staff began to learn from one another through observation and collaboration.

Family Connections. Family connections were not discussed in all interviews. Dan shared connecting with families can be a barrier, whereas Melanie believed the work they do with students may positively impact the family. Jillian's role was a bit different and required her

to speak to families often; however, such interaction did not always translate to receiving the supports necessary for students due to lack of professional services available.

Notably, Karla's experience focused on the connection with families, encouraging and supporting staff to make personal phone calls home. The intent of these phone calls was not to discuss the student's academic performance, rather it was to build a connection with the families. She shared the following:

I would ask staff to call home and introduce themselves to the parent. I didn't expect some of my teachers to have a difficult time in doing this, but I know that this was really important. I worked with the staff and created a script for them to use on the phone. I offered to be with staff who needed it to make the initial phone calls. Eventually, my staff was doing this on their own. They would tell the families they are looking forward to work with their child during the school year. I really believe this personal connection with families makes a difference. The parents know their teacher cares about their child. Karla's story offered a unique perspective of the persistence and support she needed to provide for her staff.

Readiness for Change

The second theme was the readiness for change. All five participants discussed how staff could not be told to change; rather, the change began when staff members were ready for the learning and implementation of knowledge on trauma-informed practices. The five participants agreed staff learn at different rates and through various modalities. Regardless of staff readiness, all study participants believed it was their job to be persistent in offering formal and informal learning opportunities to ensure their respective schools were moving toward the implementation of trauma-informed practices. Implementation of Professional Learning. Dan further described the informal professional learning to promote change among staff by allowing time for the staff to reflect on the information presented and to think deeply about how it could be reflected in their own practice or context. Dan said, "professional development must be consistent, relevant, and applicable to the staff." In addition, Jillian advocated for the importance of modeling instructional practices, with the understanding that everyone learns in different ways. Some staff members could implement trauma-informed practices if they were shown how rather than only being told. Despite the need for change to improve the school experience for staff and students, Karla mentioned change could be exceptionally challenging for some individuals and needed to be done gradually.

Melanie, Autumn, and Karla shared the need to start the transition to a trauma-informed school with a few individuals who can lead the way. According to Autumn, staff buy-in allows some staff members to become pioneers of trauma-informed processes in the classroom. Furthermore, Jillian emphasized the significance of consistently providing professional learning opportunities to staff throughout the school at their currently level of knowledge or readiness. In addition, all of the participants discussed the importance of modeling trauma-informed practices to help the professional learning of their staff.

Although Jillian acknowledged the need to have a well-defined plan to promote professional learning and support staff change, Melanie shared a different perspective. Melanie states staff readiness levels and student needs could change during the school year. Therefore, it was better to consistently assess the needs of staff to promote continued, relevant learning. All of the participants agreed once staff saw the benefits of implementing trauma-informed practices, they were more enticed to delve further into the work. **Resistance to Change.** Although change appeared promising and created positive outcomes, too often, change also elicited apprehension, skepticism, and resistance from the school staff. Dan, Melanie, and Autumn indicated staff readiness for change could be impacted by the skepticism that trauma-informed schools are just another educational trend. Autumn stated, "Staff need to understand the reason for the work rather than the terms we are using such as SEL, trauma-informed or ACEs." She further explained her role as a building leader was to help staff overcome skepticism.

Availability of Time

The third theme was availability of time. All participants described how their schools or districts dedicated time in their schedules to support the implementation of trauma-informed practices. Melanie referred to countless hours dedicated to book studies, professional learning designed to share trauma-informed practices, development of professional learning committees, and consistent opportunities to share new learning during monthly staff meetings. All participants stated dedication to the creation of a trauma-informed school requires time, and many referred to it as a continuous "journey" as the final destination to be reached was not definitive.

Social–Emotional Learning Lessons. Dan discussed the availability of time to provide professional learning to staff during staff meetings and during new staff training at the beginning of the school year. He further shared the importance of working directly with students during an advisory program to deliver lessons on SEL. Dan identified time factored in the school's schedule, but Melanie described the lack of time as a barrier to the trauma-informed learning. She referred to staff contracts that clearly outlined the hours and days the staff were required to work. Melanie used the available time as effectively as possible but strongly believed providing additional time would significantly help propel her staff's development forward. In addition, Melanie shared SEL did not have to be separate lessons; they could be embedded into the daily classroom activities.

Staff Stress. Autumn's focus remained on staff facing added stress due to periodic additional responsibilities, which could diminish the time available for cultivating a traumainformed school. The variability of staff readiness to learn may have added to inconsistent progress toward a trauma-informed school. Further, Jillian stated although professional development opportunities were provided, some staff members who attended were unable to fully engage in learning due to other pressing responsibilities that demanded their available time. Regardless, both Autumn and Jillian affirmed a steadfast commitment to time for traumainformed practices that remained sacred and was best realized with a detailed, yearlong professional development plan.

Family Engagement. Connecting with families also required time from teachers. According to Karla, when staff members were being asked to make personal phone calls home to families, they were pulled away from other tasks they needed to manage and accomplish. Karla and Autumn both agreed the demands of the profession could lead teachers in various directions. Despite this, the leadership's dedication remained strong and ensured trauma-informed learning persisted.

Family engagement can also begin in other ways. Melanie shared the importance of helping students with the most basic needs such as food or clothing. Meeting the needs of students helped to create a strong relationship with the home environment. In addition, Jillian and Dan both mentioned the importance of visiting students' homes to meet with families or caregivers. These visits were another way to obtain necessary information about the lives of students and begin to cultivate relationships with families.

Summary

The purpose of this narrative inquiry was to explore how educational leaders perceive the development of a trauma-informed school. The problem addressed by this qualitative narrative research is, with an increasing number of students impacted by ACEs, school support staff have been unable to provide necessary, targeted assistance to help students build resilience and learn coping strategies to combat the impact of ACEs (Murphey & Sacks, 2019; Rossen, 2020). The theoretical framework of this study was built on Mezirow's (2009) transformative learning theory, a theory in adult education. Reflection enables people to recognize, reassess, and modify structures of assumptions and expectations that scaffold their points of view and influence thinking, beliefs, attitudes, and actions. Mezirow (2009) further honed his theory and formulated transformative learning as the process that alters challenging perspectives to render them more encompassing, discerning, introspective, receptive, and adaptable emotionally.

Narrative research provided a vehicle for participants to share their lived experiences in this study (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Semistructured interviews were conducted and recorded using the Zoom videoconferencing tool. Each interview lasted up to 60 minutes and were transcribed through Zoom. Data analysis for this narrative inquiry included restorying and coding of participants' stories. Each of the restoried narratives was sent to participants for member checking to ensure accuracy.

The lived experiences of the five participants in the development of a trauma-informed school aligned with Mezirow's (1991) transformative learning theory because staff need to be ready to receive the learning, learning opportunities must be presented in a variety of modalities,

and learning must be revisited over time to allow for reflection from the adult learner. Each of the participants also identified challenges with professional learning and the amount of time required for change to occur. Themes identified through the analysis of data included (a) connections, with the subthemes of feeling of belonging, shared ownership through collaboration, daily practices, and family connections; (b) readiness forcChange, including the subthemes of implementation of professional learning and resistance to change; and (c) availability of time with the subthemes of SEL lesson implementation, staff stress, and family engagement. Five participants in this study shared their lived experience with the development of a trauma-informed school.

Overall, participants shared their personal journeys of developing a trauma-informed school. Data analysis and subsequent themes focused on the problem that students are experiencing ACEs at a rate which school support staff are unable to address. Participants' perspectives on how they are cultivating trauma-informed schools varied in each location; however, connections, readiness for change, and availability of time were common throughout participant responses. In the succeeding chapter, Chapter 5, I consolidated the data from Chapter 4 and encompassed the conclusion, interpretation, and importance of findings. Further, I outlined the implications drawn from the research and offered recommendations for action and further study.

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION

In the state of Maine, the alarming prevalence of ACEs among high school students has raised significant concerns, with nearly 1 in 4 students experiencing three or more ACEs in 2021, according to the MIYHS. MDHHS (2021) noted a concerning increase in ACEs since 2019, which underscores the urgency of addressing this critical issue. ACEs encompass a spectrum of traumatic events children may endure, ranging from abuse and neglect to household dysfunction, all of which can profoundly impact their well-being and academic performance (Felitti et al., 1998). Research has consistently linked ACEs to a range of negative health outcomes in adulthood (Felitti et al., 1998; Webster, 2022) and limitations in academic growth during childhood (Frey et al., 2019).

In response to the increase in ACEs, there is a growing need for the development of trauma-informed schools. The journey to create trauma-informed schools in Maine represents a critical step toward nurturing a generation of resilient, empowered, and emotionally healthy youth and overcoming the impact of ACEs (Felitti et al., 1998; MDHHS, 2019, 2021; NCTSN, 2018; Webster, 2022). The following research questions were developed to explore the lived experiences of five participants in developing a trauma-informed school:

Research Question 1: How do trauma-informed school leaders describe necessary practices, programs, and procedures to support the cultivation of students' resilience and mitigate the impact of ACEs?

Research Question 2: How do trauma-informed school leaders make informed decisions about staff professional development to expand understanding toward the implementation of a trauma-informed school?

A trauma-informed framework, also known as TIC, fundamentally relies on knowledge and shared understanding as initial steps (Rossen, 2020). Participants were school leaders who pledged commitment to change, professional development, and education with the goal of establishing a trauma-informed school environment. Implementation of TIC, paired with Mezirow's (2009) transformative learning theory, which strongly emphasizes the power of reflection for adult learners, enabled school staff to alter their practices.

Five participants shared their personal stories during semistructured interviews conducted via the Zoom platform. These interviews were then restoried using Clandinin and Connelly's (2000) three-dimensional analysis. Restoried narratives were sent to participants and member checked for accuracy. Narratives were analyzed using manual coding and organized to group common sections together to present a collective story regarding the development of a trauma-informed school. Three themes emerged: (a) connections, which included feeling of belonging, shared ownership through collaboration, daily practices, and family connections; (b) readiness for change, which included implementation of professional learning and resistance to change; and (c) availability of time, which included the subthemes of SEL lessons, staff stress, and family engagement.

Interpretation and Importance of Findings

Narrative inquiry is a way to explore the personal experiences of a group of people in an institution to uncover shared experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Participants in this study collectively possessed over 50 years of educational experience, and all of them stated the need for cultivating resilience as they worked through the multifaceted needs of staff, students, and the community. Moreover, participants expressed the need for consistent and steadfast commitment to an overall goal of creating a trauma-informed school to build resilience in students. Narrative

inquiry was used as the research approach to allow the five study participants to share their individual narratives regarding the central phenomenon of developing a trauma-informed school. The interpretation and importance of the findings as they relate to the two research questions are provided.

Interpretations and Importance of Research Question 1

Research Question 1 "How do trauma-informed school leaders describe necessary practices, programs and procedures to support the cultivation of students' resilience and mitigate the impact of ACEs?" This question explored the lived experience of educational leaders developing a trauma-informed school with the focus on practices, programs, and procedures. The needs of students are changing, and school staff can mitigate the impact of ACEs students experience with the implementation of TIC (Harris & Fallot, 2001). The implementation of TIC can support students in a wholistic way by including administrative commitment, professional training, and review of policies and procedures (Harris & Fallot, 2001). In the trauma-informed framework, it is necessary for staff to understand the potential impact of ACEs on the lives of their students. All participants shared how creating a trauma-informed school was a journey that required a steadfast commitment to continual development over time. Dan, Jillian, and Melanie each described the importance of having unwavering support from the district to develop a trauma-informed school. Participants described building resilience, developing relationships, and implementing additional programs and practices to further support students.

Building Resilience

Participants shared the importance of cultivating resilience in their students. Dan described the purpose of building resilience in the students as allowing them to be successful in school despite the obstacles they face in life. Literature has supported engaging in consistent expectations with students (Rossen, 2020) and empowering students to overcome life's adversities (Foster, 2020). Autumn and Melanie agreed they would continue to lead staff to focus on building resilience in their students even though formal evidence to support their efforts was not available. Research has supported resilience can thwart potential adverse outcomes of childhood trauma and lead children to thrive later in life (Lee, 2019; Liu et al., 2020).

The development of an individual's resilience is shaped by their environment (Foster, 2020). Both Melanie and Karla questioned if students had built enough skills to be resilient when the students transitioned to the next school in the district. The creation of personal, protective resources such as optimism, self-efficacy, empathy, and socioeconomic resources equip a student with skills to overcome adversity (Foster, 2020). Participants corroborated findings from McAllister and Brien (2020) who agreed a collaborative effort from all who serve students, both in the school and outside of the school, would yield a more trauma-informed team approach. Each of the participants reported commitment to the vision for continued work.

Developing Relationships

When students achieve success in school, they tend to develop a stronger bond with both the school community and other students in the classroom (Rossen, 2020). Each of the five participants shared the importance of developing strong relationships as the foundation of creating of a trauma-informed school. Relationships fell into one of three categories: staff to staff, staff to student, and school to community. Staff-to-staff relationships offered collaboration to ensure students were being supported in a wholistic way. Both Melanie and Jillian shared opportunities for staff to observe each other and learn how trauma-informed practices can be implemented. Autumn described opportunities for staff to talk with each other through professional learning communities (PLCs) to better understand how to support the students they serve. In addition, Autumn stated this work could not be done in isolation; rather, the collaborative efforts of learning together would help to keep the staff focused on the mission of the school community.

In schools, the importance of human relationships transcends academics (Brummer & Thorsborne, 2021). Staff-to-student relationships were discussed across all five participants. Autumn and her school staff believed prioritizing relationships with students was necessary and allowed for the development of trust. Karla stated trust had to be developed and believed, when established, it provided a foundation for the relationship and feeling of safety. Dan shared building relationships with students can sometimes focus on things of personal interest to the student, such as sports or video games. Each of these examples offered ways for teachers to learn more about their students and develop a deeper understanding of the potential challenges the student's family may face (Souers & Hall, 2019). All participants believed finding unique ways to connect with students is essential as it provides a sense of belonging.

Finally, school-to-community relationships are essential. Karla shared some staff needed support in establishing connections with families through phone calls, emails, and mail. She also described working with families so they learn how to be a part of the team that supports their student. Jillian and Karla discussed using outside organizations to further support students who may need additional resources to build their resiliency. This finding supports research by Elliot (2018) who noted external partners are essential to meet the needs of all students by providing financial support, professional development, or additional before- or after-school programming. A barrier in developing external partners is the lack of resources in Maine, where students are sometimes on multiple waitlists to be seen by a social worker, counselor, or other supportive

medical professional. The focus for school staff going forward must be on increasing family engagement and communication, which, in turn, will benefit the students.

Supportive Programs and Practices

Participants did not agree on one, single program that could or should be used to create a trauma-informed school, which has been supported by current literature (Maynard et al., 2019; Robey et al., 2021). Dan and Jillian taught lessons to students, either in groups or with individuals on a particular topic. Dan believed the development of a strong advisory program with a focus on developing social emotional skills would benefit both the students and staff. Such a program would offer a pathway to building strong relationships as there is a need for the development of stronger SEL programs for secondary students (Rosen et al., 2022). Additionally, there has been little research on which SEL practices should be implemented in SEL programming in schools (Jones et al., 2021). Instead, teachers are able to select what they believe will work best for the students with whom they interact (Frey et al., 2019). Jillian and Karla stated they had used various, accessible social emotional curriculums, whereas Melanie shared how she used a book with students to focus on kindness and empathy as a school community, which worked better for her students.

Additional SEL resources were made available for educators as SEL was a priority. Autumn mentioned the support provided by the Maine Department of Education during and after the COVID-19 global pandemic to support students' social emotional development was helpful, as was the implementation of responsive classroom practices. However, Zieher et al. (2021) found teachers had a difficult time with virtual SEL instruction curriculum. Regardless of the methodology of SEL implementation (e.g., advisory, in person, online, curricular resources), it was a conduit in the creation of a safe school environment for students. A safe environment is essential to cultivating personal resilience (Phifer & Hull, 2016) and using trauma-informed practices can help to create an environment that responds to trauma in students (Brummer & Thorsborne, 2021). Both Melanie and Karla described how they used physical spaces in their classrooms called calming corners for students to regroup if they felt dysregulated during the school day. Dan and Autumn shared the importance of welcoming students to school every day in a positive way through the use of morning greetings as a way to cultivate a safe environment. Melanie and Autumn used morning meetings as an essential way to begin each day on a positive note, and Dan shared the importance of a structured advisory program. Jillian noted how daily routines are important for students because they are something students can rely on and students know what to expect. Regardless of the trauma-informed practices participants chose to share with me, it was evident there was not one specific way of implementing trauma-informed practices to support all students, which is supported by the lack of evidence for specific practices essential for a trauma-informed school (Robey et al., 2021).

Consistent among the five participants was a focus on the mission established by the school or district as well as the strong leadership that supported this work. Educational leaders must allow staff to work in collaboration with one another to create an environment where professional learning is valued (Stokes & Brunzell, 2019) and to create a culture of change (Donohoo, 2018). Karla referred to creating a school where experimentation by staff happened to better serve the needs of the students even though it occasionally resulted in setbacks. Risks are taken as opportunities from which to learn and move forward with the focus remaining on how to support the students by cultivating resilience.

Interpretations and Importance of Research Question 2

Research Question 2 "How do trauma-informed school leaders make informed decisions about staff professional development to expand understanding toward the implementation of a trauma-informed school?" This question was developed to gather information on how educational leaders determine how to support staff with professional learning opportunities as they transition to a trauma-informed school. TIC (Harris & Fallot, 2001) along with Mezirow's (2009) transformative learning theory served as the guides for this work. Each of the five participants agreed learning offered to staff needs to occur over many different opportunities using multiple modalities, which was supported by the literature (Brummer & Thorsborne, 2021; Roseby & Gascoigne, 2021). Participants identified both formal and informal strategies for staff professional development.

Formal Professional Development

Developing a year-long professional development plan was helpful for a few participants, yet Melanie cautioned against it. She believed the needs of students and staff change quickly, which could result in an obsolete plan. This finding is supported by Brummer and Thorsborne (2021). Jillian agreed with Melanie in terms of the necessary adaptation of the plan and noted professional development plans should be under constant scrutiny. Regardless of the creation of the professional development plan, the focus for school leadership remained anchored in the established mission of the schools. All participants agreed sporadic professional development that lacks connectivity to the school would not meet the needs of staff or students and needs to be developed with intentionality as noted by Rossen (2020).

Professional development has been offered formally in each of the participants' schools in the areas of SEL and ACEs through the use of expert presentations and book studies. A commonality across participants' experiences was each school began the transformation to a trauma-informed school by establishing their "why" prior to beginning this work. Dan shared, even though these professional development opportunities were offered, staff still needed to learn how to transition that knowledge into practice. This finding was supported by Mezirow's (2009) transformative learning theory, which involves self-reflection and requires adjustments in pedagogical approaches. Understanding the impact and prevalence of ACEs is important for staff to know because it allows them to build stronger relationships with their students.

Learning about implementing trauma-informed practices through a book study can be a productive way to engage in conversation with staff; however, this practice is not supported by current literature. Professional development can support a change in staff knowledge and attitudes, yet there is little evidence to support the application or modification of teaching practices (Purtle, 2020). Melanie believed a pivotal moment in the journey toward becoming a trauma-informed school occurred when a team of educators from her school visited a school where trauma-informed practices were being implemented with consistency. Melanie learned alongside her staff, which was more likely to create a culture of collaboration and support and an environment conducive to change (Donohoo, 2018). She shared the belief that this learning experience allowed the information staff members had been discussing from a book to come to life.

Staff had to believe the work was important and worthwhile for them to buy in. Each participant mentioned the barriers of time available to educate staff and staff readiness to learn, which have been supported by available literature (Rossen, 2020). Karla shared she allocated time each Wednesday to focus on trauma-informed learning, which could be the consistency staff need. All participants shared the transformation to a trauma-informed school began with a small group of individuals who were interested in learning about implementing trauma-informed practices and grew from there.

Informal Professional Development

Informal professional development was also noted during the semistructured interviews with my participants. Throughout the interviews, participants noted the importance of establishing consistent opportunities for collaborative learning and conversations among staff in the creation of collective efficacy (Donohoo, 2018). The collaborative learning opportunities may take place during PLCs, department time, or staff meetings. The result of these informal conversations could be as powerful as formal professional development opportunities, if not more so. Informal learning opportunities may allow staff to self-select when they are ready for professional learning. As Jillian noted, trauma-informed practices develop over time through open conversations about challenges and collective problem solving.

Regardless of formal or informal professional development, Autumn believed professional learning could not be done in isolation. Melanie agreed, through the development of collaboration, staff began to ask if they could observe and learn best practice implementation from each other. Jillian, Melanie, and Autumn noted some staff reached out to each other organically for support if they were challenged by a particular student interaction or situation. Jillian also noted the importance of offering varying professional development opportunities on different topics in a consistent manner. Dan shared staff who were implementing traumainformed practices made connections with their students, and other staff members took notice. Informal collaboration among staff became a powerful way to support all students as they built the skills to cultivate resilience.

Implications

This study contributed to the body of research by sharing the perspectives of educational leaders regarding the development of a trauma-informed school. ACEs contribute to health challenges in adulthood (CDC, 2021), and research has indicated 1 in 4 Maine students have experienced more than three ACEs (MDHHS, 2021). Furthermore, children with multiple ACEs are prone to academic struggles and increased dysregulation (Murphey & Sacks, 2019). Understanding and effectively responding to the impact of ACEs requires employing integrated approaches (Halladay Goldman et al., 2020). Considering these findings, adopting a universal, schoolwide, trauma-informed approach has emerged as a strategic practice to ensure all students benefit from SEL and resilience-building strategies (Halladay Goldman et al., 2020). By integrating trauma-informed practices universally, educational leaders can contribute to mitigating the adverse effects of ACEs on students.

Collaboration among educational leaders to establish trauma-informed schools is crucial as professional development has been identified as a key factor in building a trauma-informed school environment and equipping school staff with essential knowledge about trauma and its effects on both students and staff (Guarino & Chagnon, 2018). Rossen (2020) identified consistent and frequent professional development as a necessity to ensure a comprehensive understanding and application of trauma-informed practices. However, the implementation of trauma-informed schools faces obstacles such as resource availability, staff turnover, and the need for staff buy-in (Leibel et al., 2021; Rossen, 2020). The three implications from this study are awareness, relationships, and sharing how educational leaders are developing a trauma-informed school.

The first implication from the findings of this narrative inquiry is the awareness of the experiences of educational leaders who are responding to the impact of ACEs by working toward developing trauma-informed schools. There is a need for educational leaders to acknowledge the varying levels of staff readiness and abilities to learn and employ trauma-informed practices. Participants in this study each observed students unable to access their education as they do not have the necessary resilience skills. Students may present as being emotionally dysregulated, which can impact the learning environment. This study also accentuates how many educational leaders and school systems serve the most basic needs of students by providing food and clothing before academics can be addressed.

The second implication from this qualitative study is the concept that connections with a trusted adult are paramount in the cultivation of a trauma-informed school. Relations cultivated between staff and students develop over time and are intentional. Participants shared the need to develop safe spaces for students and find ways to connect with them on a personal level to make the school building or classroom a place where students want to be.

The third and last implication from the study is the benefit for educational leaders to see how other leaders have cultivated a trauma-informed school. Understanding the perspectives of educational leaders in building a trauma-informed school can begin conversations of how to begin this journey elsewhere. Discussion of ACEs, SEL, student behavior, and resilience building can be strengthened when professional educators learn from one another. School communities can continue to strengthen through the collaborative efforts of educational communities. Trauma-informed schools offer early support for students in the aftermath of traumatic events (Brummer & Thorsborne, 2021). These implications support the following recommendations for action.

Recommendations for Action

Upon examining participants' experiences with establishing a trauma-informed school, three recommendations for future action emerged. Participants highlighted how creating a trauma-informed school is an ongoing process requiring continuous evaluation. Nevertheless, implementing a comprehensive, schoolwide trauma-informed approach guarantees all students reap the advantages of SEL and resilience-building strategies (Halladay Goldman et al., 2020). The three recommendations for action derived from the findings of this research are identified in the following paragraphs.

The first recommendation is the delivery of consistent and well-planned professional development opportunities for educators. Professional development opportunities need to include information about ACEs and the impact of ACEs. All participants in this study shared they had exposure to working with students who had ACEs, and all of them perceived ACEs as a prevalent issue in the educational setting, which created a need to cultivate a trauma-informed school. Educators need professional development to create a sense of awareness and collective understanding toward the meaning behind the work. Rossen (2020) wrote a school with a trauma-informed model requires educators to realize ACEs are prevalent and a health crisis; staff need professional development to recognize the signs displayed by students and respond with trauma-informed practices.

The second recommendation for action is to create opportunities for staff professional development throughout the year and ensure educators are learning in a variety of ways and modalities. Effective professional development needs to be consistently employed for improvement and change in the school (Rossen, 2020). Schools can offer many different types of professional development to better meet the needs of adult learners in the building (Koslouski &

Chafouleas, 2022). Although participants shared informal opportunities for staff to discuss the implementation of trauma-informed practices were helpful, ensuring there is enough time for all staff to participate in professional development is crucial.

Finally, the third recommendation is to provide opportunities to observe how other school staff model trauma-informed practices in the classroom setting. Research has indicated professional development may support a change in staff knowledge but not necessarily the application or modification of teaching practices (Purtle, 2020). Participants shared the importance of all school staff having an awareness of trauma-informed practices, yet they were unsure of how that translated into action in the daily activities of the teacher. Furthermore, participants described the power of collaboration to better support the students they were serving.

Recommendations for Further Study

This study focused on the perceptions of educational leaders in the transition to a traumainformed school. From the limitations, delimitations, and data gathered from this study, further research studies are recommended for a more in-depth understanding of educational leaders' perceptions of ACEs. There are two recommendations for future research: (a) applying a different research methodology, and (b) targeting research toward a coaching approach of implementing trauma-informed practices.

For the purpose of this research, a small number of participants was selected; however, expanding the sample size could yield further insights. This study delved into the perspectives of educational leaders, and increasing participant numbers could offer additional valuable findings. Diversifying participants across various school demographics may also enhance the understanding of how trauma-informed schools develop. Another recommended area for further study should concentrate on the nature of professional development provided to staff, specifically exploring the accessibility of traumainformed coaching. Participants in this study shared the importance offering professional development that was consistent and targeted throughout the school year; however, they also shared the availability of professional development did not ensure implementation of traumainformed practices in the classroom. Focusing on the use of trauma-informed practices learned through professional development may increase the impact on students if the learning is revisited throughout the school year.

Conclusion

Five participants completed one-on-one semistructured interviews on Zoom for up to 60 minutes. Interview transcripts were then transcribed and restoried. Once restoried narratives were member checked for accuracy, they were manually coded to look for patterns and emergent themes. Three themes emerged from the narratives: (a) connections, (b) readiness for change, and (c) availability of time.

ACEs are increasingly prevalent in Maine (MDHHS, 2021) and have been shown to have an adverse effect students (Felitti et al., 1998; Frey et al., 2019; Murphey & Sacks, 2019). Findings from this study were consistent with research by Harris and Fallot (2001) showing the prevalence of ACEs indicates the need for TIC, which includes building strong connections and staff understanding the impact of ACEs. Insights shared from educational leaders' narratives can assist other schools as they transform into trauma-informed institutions and align with TIC (Harris & Fallot, 2001). Being open and prepared to embrace this learning aligns with transformative learning (Mezirow, 1991). Readiness to learn begins with acknowledging the issue and using personal reflection to comprehend new knowledge (Mezirow, 1991). Participants identified professional development as a priority for all staff. However, professional development must extend beyond book studies and presentations. Participants all shared the need for development of strong trauma-informed teaching practices to serve all students regardless of their exposure to trauma. Building a student's resilience would assist them in overcoming adversity in the future. The development to a trauma-informed school requires continuous professional development and for the staff to be ready for the learning, which was supported by Mezirow's (1991) transformative learning theory.

This study offered perspectives on how school leaders can create trauma-informed schools. It revealed although educational leaders employ various strategies to address student needs, establishing strong connections with students remains crucial to lessen the impact of ACEs and foster resilience. Additionally, school leaders emphasized intentional, consistent and diverse professional development is essential for learning.

This study addressed a gap in research by using narrative inquiry to offer personal insights into the creation of a trauma-informed school with a focus on practices, programs, and procedures. In this study, the narratives of the five participants provided rich, detailed descriptions of their individual perceptions as educational leaders in the cultivation of a traumainformed school. These narratives have the potential to assist other administrators striving to establish a trauma-informed school. Moreover, this research may offer guidance to studentcentered services such as recreational departments, sports teams, and after-school programs. Each story has the power to heighten awareness about ACEs among administrators and policymakers, the necessity for trauma-informed schools, and the crucial professional development required for all staff to assist students in developing resilience.

REFERENCES

- Atwell, M. N., & Bridgeland, J. M. (2019). Ready to lead: A 2019 update of principals' perspectives on how social and emotional learning can prepare children and transform schools. Civic. https://casel.org/casel-resources-ready-to-lead-2019/
- Bachmann, M., & Bachmann, B. A. (2018). The case for including adverse childhood experiences in child maltreatment education: A path analysis. *The Permanente Journal*, 22(2). https://doi.org/10.7812/TPP/17-122
- Bashant, J. L. (2020). Building a trauma-informed compassionate classroom: Strategies to reduce challenging behavior, improve learning outcomes, and increase student engagement. PESI Publishing & Media.
- Bass, C. (2012). Learning theories and their application to science instruction for adults. *The American Biology Teacher*, 74(6), 387–390. https://doi.org/10.1525/abt.2012.74.6.6
- Blodgett, C., & Lanigan, J. D. (2018). The association between adverse childhood experience (ACE) and school success in elementary school children. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 33(1), 137–146. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000256
- Bloomberg, L., & Volpe, M. (2018). Completing your qualitative dissertation: A road map from beginning to end (4th ed). SAGE Publications.
- Bondie, R. S., Dahnke, C., & Zusho, A. (2019). How does changing "one-size-fits-all" to differentiated instruction affect teaching? *Review of Research in Education*, 43(1), 336–362. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732x18821130
- Boyd, R. D., & Myers, J. G. (1988). Transformative education. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 7(4), 261–284. https://doi.org/10.1080/0260137880070403

- Brown, M. H., Lenares-Solomon, D., & Deaner, R. G. (2019). Every student succeeds act: A call to action for school counselors. *Journal of Counselor Leadership and Advocacy*, 6(1), 86–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/2326716x.2018.1557574
- Brown-Chidsey, R., & Bickford, R. (2015). *Practical handbook of multi-tiered systems of support: Building academic and behavioral success in schools*. Guilford Press.
- Brummer, J., & Thorsborne, M. (2021). *Building a trauma-informed restorative school: Skills and approaches for improving culture and behavior*. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Brunzell, T., Waters, L., & Stokes, H. (2022). Teacher perspectives when learning traumainformed practice pedagogies: Stories of meaning making at work. *Frontiers in Education*, 7, Article 852228. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2022.852228
- Burgin, D., O'Donovan, A., d'Haurt, D., di Gallo, A., Eckert, A., Fegert, J., Schmeck, K.,
 Schmid, M., & Boonmann, C. (2019). Adverse childhood experiences and telomere
 length a look into the heterogeneity of findings. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 13, Article
 490. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.00490
- Bryan, J., Williams, J. M., & Griffin, D. (2020). Fostering educational resilience and opportunities in urban schools through equity-focused school-family-community partnerships. *Professional School Counseling*, 23(1_part_2). https://doi.org/10.1177/2156759x19899179
- Campbell, J. A., Walker, R. J., & Egede, L. E. (2015). Associations between adverse childhood experiences, high-risk behaviors, and morbidity in adulthood. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 50(3), 344–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2015.07.022

Carlson, J. S., Yohannan, J., Darr, C. L., Turley, M. R., Larez, N. A., & Perfect, M. M. (2020).
Prevalence of adverse childhood experiences in school-aged youth: A systematic review (1990–2015). *International Journal of School & Educational Psychology*, 8(sup1), 2–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/21683603.2018.1548397

Center for Substance Abuse and Treatment. (2014). *Trauma-informed care in behavioral health services*. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.

Center on the Developing Child. (n.d.). Resilience.

https://developingchild.harvard.edu/science/key-concepts/resilience/

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021, April 6). *About the CDC-Kaiser ACE study*. https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/aces/about.html

Chu, L., & DeArmond, M. (2021). Approaching SEL as a whole-school effort, not an add-on: Lessons from two charter networks (ED615152). ERIC. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED615152.pdf

- Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (2000). *Narrative inquiry: Experience and story in qualitative research*. Jossey-Bass.
- Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning. (n.d.-a). *Our mission and work*. https://casel.org/our-work/

Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning. (n.d.-b). *What is the SEL framework?* https://casel.org/fundamentals-of-sel/what-is-the-casel-framework/

Covington, S., & Bloom, S. L. (2018). *Moving from trauma-informed to trauma-responsive: A training program for organizational change*. Hazelden Publishing.

- Crandall, A., Miller, J. R., Cheung, A., Novilla, L. K., Glade, R., Novilla, M. L. B., Magnusson,
 B. M., Leavitt, B. L., Barnes, M. D., & Hanson, C. L. (2019). ACEs and counter-ACEs:
 How positive and negative childhood experiences influence adult health. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *96*, Article 104089. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104089
- Crastnopol, M. (2015). *Micro-trauma: A psychoanalytic understanding of cumulative psychic injury*. Routledge.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2022). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (6th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J., & Guetterman, T. (2019). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research.* Pearson Education.
- Creswell, J., & Poth, C. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. SAGE Publications.
- Crouch, E., Radcliff, E., Hung, P., & Bennett, K. (2019). Challenges to school success and the role of adverse childhood experiences. *Academic Pediatrics*, 19(8), 899–907. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2019.08.006
- Cunningham, P. M. (1992). From Freire to feminism: The North American experience with critical pedagogy. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 42(3), 180–191. https://doi.org/10.1177/074171369204200306
- Donohoo, J. (2018). Collective teacher efficacy research: Productive patterns of behaviour and other positive consequences. *Journal of Educational Change*, 19, 323–345. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10833-018-9319-2

- Dube, S. R., Rishi, S., Corr, C., & Panlilio, C. C. (2023). Assessment of adult learning outcomes from a school-based training on adverse childhood experiences science and traumainformed care. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 142*(Part 1), Article 105777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2022.105777
- Eller, J., & Hierck, T. (2022). *Trauma-sensitive leadership: Creating a safe and predictable school environment*. Solution Tree Press, a division of Solution Tree.
- Elliot, L. (2018). District partners support children's mental health. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 99(5), 47–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031721718754813
- Evolve Treatment Centers. (n.d.). *Wraparound services in schools*. https://evolvetreatment.com/blog/wraparound-services-in-schools/
- Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., Koss, M. P., & Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The adverse childhood experiences (ACE) study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *14*(4), 245–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0749-3797(98)00017-8
- Foster, K. (2020). Resilience in the face of adversity: A shared responsibility. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, *29*(1), 3–4. https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.12688
- Frey, N., Fisher, D., & Smith, D. (2019). All learning is social and emotional: Helping children develop essential skills for the classroom and beyond. Association of Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Graham, G. (2021, October 18). In Biddeford races, concerns about the price of redevelopment success. *Portland Press Herald*. https://www.pressherald.com/2021/10/18/in-biddefordraces-concerns-about-the-price-of-redevelopment-success/

- Guarino, K., & Chagnon, E. (2018). Trauma-sensitive schools training package: Implementation guide (ED595276). ERIC. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED595276.pdf
- Halladay Goldman, J., Danna, L., Maze, J. W., Pickens, I. B., & Ake, G. S., III. (2020). *Trauma-informed school strategies during COVID-19*. National Center for Child Traumatic Stress. https://www.nctsn.org/sites/default/files/resources/resource-guide/trauma_informed_school_strategies_during_covid-19.pdf
- Harris, M., & Fallot, R. D. (2001). Using trauma theory to design service systems. Jossey-Bass.
- Henderson-Smith, L., & Black, P. (n.d.). *Trauma-informed, resilience-oriented classrooms* [Training]. National Center for School Safety. https://www.nc2s.org/training/traumainformed-resilience-oriented-classrooms/
- Herrenkohl, T. I., Hong, S., & Verbrugge, B. (2019). Trauma-informed programs based in schools: Linking concepts to practices and assessing the evidence. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 64(3–4), 373–388. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12362
- Hertz, M. F. (2020). Address adverse childhood experiences. ASCA School Counselor. https://www.schoolcounselor.org/Magazines/May-June-2020/Address-Adverse-Childhood-Experiences
- Hoggan, C., & Hoggan-Kloubert, T. (2022). Critiques and evolutions of transformative learning theory. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 41(6), 666–673. https://doi.org/10.1080/02601370.2022.2164434
- Howard, J. A. (2019). A systemic framework for trauma-informed schooling: Complex but necessary! *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 28*(5), 545–565. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2018.1479323

- Howell, P. B., Thomas, S., Sweeney, D., & Vanderhaar, J. (2019). Moving beyond schedules, testing and other duties as deemed necessary by the principal: The school counselor's role in trauma-informed practices. *Middle School Journal*, *50*(4), 26–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/00940771.2019.1650548
- Hunter, W., Taylor, J. C., Bester, M., Nichols, S., & Panlilio, C. (2021). Considerations for incorporating trauma-informed care content within special education teacher preparation and professional development programs. *Journal of Special Education Preparation*, 1(2), 48–55. https://doi.org/10.33043/josep.1.2.48-55
- The Jackson Laboratory. (n.d.). *What are telomeres?* https://www.jax.org/news-andinsights/minute-to-understanding/what-are-telomeres
- Jones, S., Bailey, R., Brush, K., & Kahn, J. (2018). *Preparing for effective SEL implementation*. Wallace Foundation. https://www.wallacefoundation.org/knowledgecenter/pages/preparing-for-effective-sel-implementation.aspx
- Jones, S., Brush, K., Ramiez, T., Mao, Z. X., Marenus, M., Wettje, S., Finney, K., Raisch, N.,
 Podoloff, N., Kahn, J., Barnes, S., Stickle, L., Brion-Meisels, G., McIntyre, J., Cuartas, J.,
 & Bailey, R. (2021, May 2). *Navigating social and emotional learning from the inside out*. Wallace Foundation. https://www.wallacefoundation.org/knowledgecenter/pages/navigating-social-and-emotional-learning-from-the-inside-out.aspx
- Keane, K., & Evans, R. R. (2022). The potential for teacher-student relationships and the whole school, whole community, whole child model to mitigate adverse childhood experiences. *Journal of School Health*, 92(5), 504–513. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.13154

- Korpics, J., Altman, L., Feinglass, J., & Stillerman, A. (2021). Prevalence and impact of adverse childhood experiences on Chicago public school children in the youth risk behavior survey. *Journal of School Health*, 91(10), 802–812. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.13075
- Koslouski, J. B., & Chafouleas, S. M. (2022). Key considerations in delivering trauma-informed professional learning for educators. *Frontiers in Education*, 7, Article 853020. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2022.853020
- Kurnia, R. P. (2021). A case for Mezirow's transformative learning. *Diligentia: Journal of Theology and Christian Education*, 3(1), 73–82. https://doi.org/10.19166/dil.v3i1.2945
- Lacey, R. E., Howe, L. D., & Kelly, Y. (2020). The clustering of adverse childhood experiences in the Avon longitudinal study of parents and children: Are gender and poverty important? *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *37*(5–6), 2218–2241. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260520935096
- Lang, J. M., Campbell, K., & Vanderploeg, J. J. (2015). Advancing trauma-informed systems for children. Child Health and Development Institute. https://www.chdi.org/index.php/publications/reports/impact-reports/advancing-traumainformed-systems-children
- Lee, J. S. (2019). Perceived social support functions as a resilience in buffering the impact of trauma exposure on PTSD symptoms via intrusive rumination and entrapment in firefighters. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(8), Article e0220454. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220454
- Leibel, M., Jacobson, E., Mike, A., & Grady, S. (2021). Differentiated models of professional learning for educators. *Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice*, 21(9). https://doi.org/10.33423/jhetp.v21i9.4587

- Leicht, A., Heiss, J., & Byun, W. J. (2018). *Issues and trends in education for Sustainable* Development. UNESCO.
- Li, D., Ding, M., & Cai, J. (2022). Teacher learning about collaborative learning: A case study. *ZDM–Mathematics Education*, 54(3), 721–735. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11858-022-01350-w
- Liu, M., Mejia-Lancheros, C., Lachaud, J., Nisenbaum, R., Stergiopoulos, V., & Hwang, S. W. (2020). Resilience and adverse childhood experiences: Associations with poor mental health among homeless adults. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 58(6), 807–816. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2019.12.017
- Maine Department of Education. (n.d.). *Student enrollment data*. https://www.maine.gov/doe/data-reporting/reporting/warehouse/enrollment
- Maine Department of Health and Human Services. (n.d.). Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) among high school students [infographic].

https://www.maine.gov/miyhs/sites/default/files/2021-

01/2017ACEsMIYHSInfographic.pdf

- Maine Department of Health and Human Services. (2019). *Maine 2019 MIYSH high school report*. https://www.maine.gov/miyhs/2019-results
- Maine Department of Health and Human Services. (2021). *Maine 2021 MIYHS high school report*. https://www.maine.gov/miyhs/2021-results
- Maine Department of Health and Human Services. (2024). *MIYHS FAQs*. https://www.maine.gov/miyhs/faqs

Manhart, S. (2017). Complex learning and the significance of measurement. In A. König (Ed.), Sustainability science (pp. 296–317). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.9774/gleaf.9781315620329 17

- Margolius, M., Pufall Jones, E., & Hynes, M. (2020). *Creating cultures of care: Supporting the whole child through trauma-informed practice*. America's Promise Alliance.
- Maynard, B. R., Farina, A., Dell, N. A., & Kelly, M. S. (2019). Effects of trauma-informed approaches in schools: A systematic review. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 15(1–2), Article e1018. http://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1018
- McAllister, M., & Brien, D. L. (2020). Using resilience as a tool for systemic change. In M.
 McAllister & D. L. Brien (Eds.), *Empowerment strategies for nurses: Developing* resilience in practice (pp. 231–247). Springer Publishing Company.
- McInerney, M., & McKlindon, A. (2014). Unlocking the door to learning: Trauma-informed classrooms & transformational schools. Education Law Center. https://www.elcpa.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Trauma-Informed-in-Schools-Classrooms-FINAL-December2014-2.pdf
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2017). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). Langara College.
- Merrick, M. T., Ford, D. C., Ports, K. A., Guinn, A. S., Chen, J., Klevens, J., Metzler, M., Jones, C. M., Simon, T. R., Daniel, V. M., Ottley, P., & Mercy, J. A. (2019). Vital signs:
 Estimated proportion of adult health problems attributable to adverse childhood experiences and implications for prevention—25 states, 2015–2017. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 68(44), 999–1005. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6844e1

- Mezirow, J. (1978a). Education for perspective transformation: Women's re-entry programs in community colleges. Center for Adult Development, Teachers College, Columbia University.
- Mezirow, J. (1978b). Perspective transformation. *Adult Education, 28*(2), 100–110. https://doi.org/10.1177/074171367802800202
- Mezirow, J. (1981). A critical theory of adult learning and education. *Adult Education*, *32*(1), 3–24. https://doi.org/10.1177/074171368103200101

Mezirow, J. (1991). Transformative dimensions of adult learning. Jossey-Bass.

- Mezirow, J. (2009). Transformative learning theory. In J. Mezirow, E. Taylor, & Associates (Eds.), *Transformative learning in practice. Insights from community, workplace, and higher education* (pp. 18–32). Jossey-Bass.
- Minahan, J. (2019, October 1). Trauma-informed teaching strategies. Association for Supervision & Curriculum Development. https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/traumainformed-teaching-strategies
- Murphey, D. M., & Sacks, V. S. (2019). Supporting children with adverse childhood experiences: How educators and schools can help. *American Educator*, 43(2). https://www.aft.org/ae/summer2019/murphey_sacks
- Myat Zaw, A. M., Win, N. Z., & Thepthien, B. (2022). Adolescents' academic achievement, mental health, and adverse behaviors: Understanding the role of resilience and adverse childhood experiences. *School Psychology International*, 43(5), 516–536. https://doi.org/10.1177/01430343221107114
- National Center for Education Statistics. (n.d.). *State education practices (SEP)*. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/statereform/tab1 1-2020.asp

National Child Traumatic Stress Network. (n.d.-a). Essential elements.

https://www.nctsn.org/trauma-informed-care/trauma-informed-systems/schools/essentialelements

National Child Traumatic Stress Network. (n.d.-b). *Secondary traumatic stress*. https://www.nctsn.org/trauma-informed-care/secondary-traumatic-stress

- National Child Traumatic Stress Network. (2018). *Trauma-informed schools for children in K– 12: A system framework*. https://www.nctsn.org/sites/default/files/resources/factsheet/trauma_informed_schools_for_children_in_k-12_a_systems_framework.pdf
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- National Conference of State Legislatures. (2022, August 23). Adverse childhood experiences. https://www.ncsl.org/research/health/adverse-childhood-experiences-aces.aspx
- National Implementation Research Network. (n.d.). *Module 4: Implementation stages*. https://nirn.fpg.unc.edu/module-4
- Offerman, E. C., Asselman, M. W., Bolling, F., Helmond, P., Stams, G.-J. J., & Lindauer, R. J. (2022). Prevalence of adverse childhood experiences in children with emotional and behavioral disorders in special education schools from a multi-informant perspective. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(6), Article 3411. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19063411
- Overstreet, S., & Chafouleas, S. M. (2016). Trauma-informed schools: Introduction to the special issue. *School Mental Health*, *8*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-016-9184-1

Perez, N. (2021, December 8). Classroom strategies to support students experiencing trauma. *Regional Educational Laboratory Program*. https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/rel/Products/Region/appalachia/Blog/100317

- Phifer, L. W., & Hull, R. (2016). Helping children heal: Observations of trauma-informed practices in the schools. *School Mental Health*, 8(1), 201–205. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-016-9183-2
- Pontius, E. (2019). *Importance of ACE, ACE assessment for the future of mental health in Maine*. Mental Health Work Group.

https://www.maine.gov/mentalhealthworkgroup/sites/maine.gov.mentalhealthworkgroup/ files/inline-files/ACES%20and%20ACE%20Assessment.pdf

- Pow, K. (2020, September 26–27). What is the data telling us? [Conference session]. Maine AAP Annual Conference, virtual. https://www.maineaap.org/education/maine-aapannual-conference-members-meeting-september-26-27-2020
- Purtle, J. (2020). Systematic review of evaluations of trauma-informed organizational interventions that include staff trainings. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 21*(4), 725–740. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838018791304
- Randell, K. A., O'Malley, D., & Dowd, M. D. (2015). Association of parental adverse childhood experiences and current child adversity. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 169(8), 786–787. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.0269
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2021). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological.* SAGE Publications.
- Ravitch, S. M., & Riggan, M. (2017). Reason and rigor: How conceptual frameworks guide research. SAGE Publications.

- Ridout, K. K., Levandowski, M., Ridout, S. J., Gantz, L., Goonan, K., Palermo, D., Price, L. H.,
 & Tyrka, A. R. (2018). Early life adversity and telomere length: A metaanalysis. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 23(4), 858–871. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2017.26
- Riessman, C. K. (2008). Narrative methods of the human sciences. SAGE Publications.
- Roberts, C. M., & Hyatt, L. (2019). *The dissertation journey: A practical and comprehensive guide to planning, writing, and defending your dissertation*. Corwin.
- Robey, N., Margolies, S., Sutherland, L., Rupp, C., Black, C., Hill, T., & Baker, C. N. (2021). Understanding staff- and system-level contextual factors relevant to trauma-informed care implementation. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 13*(2), 249–257. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000948
- Roseby, S., & Gascoigne, M. (2021). A systematic review on the impact of trauma-informed education programs on academic and academic-related functioning for children who have experienced childhood adversity. *Traumatology*, 27(2), 149–167. https://doi.org/10.1037/trm0000276
- Rosen, J. A., Hong, Y., Rutledge, S., Cannata, M., Rotermund, S., & Leu, K. (2022). Improving SEL outcomes for U.S. 9th graders: Results from a district wide school reform. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 75, Article 101212.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2022.101212

- Rosenbalm, B. (2018, October 4). *Supporting students with adverse childhood experiences*. EdNC. https://www.ednc.org/supporting-students-with-adverse-childhood-experiences/
- Rossen, E. A. (2020). Supporting and educating traumatized children: A guide for school-based professionals. Oxford University Press.

- Sacks, V., & Murphey, D. (2018, February 12). *The prevalence of adverse childhood experiences, nationally, by state, and by race or ethnicity*. Child Trends.
 https://www.childtrends.org/publications/prevalence-adverse-childhood-experiences-nationally-state-race-ethnicity
- Scott, J., Jaber, L. S., & Rinaldi, C. M. (2021). Trauma-informed school strategies for SEL and ACE concerns during COVID-19. *Education Sciences*, 11(12), Article 796. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11120796
- Somers, J., & Wheeler, L. (2022). A blueprint for collaborative action to build a traumainformed school: A case study. *Professional School Counseling*, 26(1c). https://doi.org/10.1177/2156759X221134670
- Souers, K., & Hall, P. A. (2016). *Fostering resilient learners: Strategies for creating a trauma sensitive classroom*. Association for Supervision & Curriculum Development.
- Souers, K., & Hall, P. A. (2019). *Relationship, responsibility, and regulation: Trauma-invested practices for fostering resilient learners*. Association for Supervision & Curriculum Development.
- Sprenger, M. (2020). Social–emotional learning and the brain: Strategies to help your children thrive. Association for Supervision & Curriculum Development.
- Stevens, J. E. (2012, May 31). Massachusetts, Washington state lead U.S. trauma-sensitive school movement. ACEs Too High. https://acestoohigh.com/2012/05/31/massachusettswashington-state-lead-u-s-trauma-sensitive-school-movement/
- Stevens, J. E. (2013, August 20). There's no such thing as a bad kid in these Spokane, WA, trauma-informed elementary schools. ACEs Too High. https://acestoohigh.com/2013/08/20/spokaneschools/

- Stokes, H., & Brunzell, T. (2019). Professional learning in trauma-informed positive education: Moving school communities from trauma affected to trauma aware. *School Leadership Review*, 14(2), Article 6. https://scholarworks.sfasu.edu/slr/vol14/iss2/6
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2014). *SAMHSA's concept of trauma and guidance for a trauma-informed approach*. https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/d7/priv/sma14-4884.pdf
- Thomas, M. S., Crosby, S., & Vanderhaar, J. (2019). Trauma-informed practices in schools across two decades: An interdisciplinary review of research. *Review of Research in Education*, 43(1), 422–452. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732x18821123
- Webster, E. M. (2022). The impact of adverse childhood experiences on health and development in young children. *Global Pediatric Health*, 9. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333794X221078708
- Woods-Jaeger, B. A., Cho, B., Sexton, C. C., Slagel, L., & Goggin, K. (2018). Promoting resilience: Breaking the intergenerational cycle of adverse childhood experiences. *Health Education & Behavior*, 45(5), 772–780. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198117752785
- Zieher, A. K., Cipriano, C., Meyer, J. L., & Strambler, M. J. (2021). Educators' implementation and use of social and emotional learning early in the COVID-19 pandemic. *School Psychology*, 36(5), 388–397. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000461
- Ziv, Y., Sofri, I., Capps Umphlet, K. L., Olarte, S., & Venza, J. (2018). Children and caregivers' exposure to adverse childhood experiences (ACES): Association with children's and caregivers' psychological outcomes in a therapeutic preschool program. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(4), Article 646. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15040646

INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL



INNOVATION FOR A HEALTHIER PLANET

Office of Research Integrity Institutional Review Board

> Biddeford Campus 11 Hills Beach Road Biddeford, ME 04005 (207) 602-2244 T (207) 602-5905 F

Portland Campus 716 Stevens Avenue Portland, ME 04103

DATE OF LETTER:	September 06, 2023
PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR:	Mandy Cyr
FACULTY ADVISOR:	Rosette M. Obedoza, Ed.D.
PROJECT NUMBER:	0923-01
RECORD NUMBER:	0923-01-01
PROJECT TITLE:	Sharing Stories of Development: How Trauma-Informed School Leaders Perceive Developing a Trauma-Informed School: A Qualitative Narrative Study
SUBMISSION TYPE:	New Project
SUBMISSION DATE:	August 31, 2023
ACTION:	Determination of Exempt Status
DECISION DATE:	September 06, 2023
REVIEW CATEGORY:	Exemption Category # 2(ii)

The Office of Research Integrity has reviewed the materials submitted in connection with the abovereferenced project and has determined that the proposed work is exempt from IRB review and oversight as defined by 45 CFR 46.104.

You are responsible for conducting this project in accordance with the approved study documents, and all applicable UNE policies and procedures.

If any changes to the design of the study are contemplated (e.g., revision to the research proposal summary, data collection instruments, and/or other approved study documents), the Principal Investigator must submit an amendment for review to ensure the requested change(s) will not alter the exempt status of the project.

If you have any questions, please send an e-mail to <u>irb@une.edu</u> and reference the project number as specified above within the correspondence.

Best Regards,

Edo Kenne,

Bob Kennedy, MS Director of Research Integrity

Page 1 of 1

APPENDIX B

RECRUITMENT FLYER

<Insert DATE>

Dear <Educational Leader>,

I am seeking participants for my dissertation entitled "Sharing Stories of Development: How School Leaders Perceive Developing a Trauma-Informed School" pursuant to earning my Doctor in Education degree from the University of New England in Biddeford, Maine

The purpose of this research study is to discover how educational leaders describe the strategies, tools, and processes used in the creation of a trauma-informed school.

I am looking for five educational leaders who self-identify as trauma-informed educational leaders (these positions may include principal, assistant principal, instructional coach, Social Emotional Learning Coordinator, and school counselor), in a Maine public school and have the ability to bring professional development opportunities to their trauma-informed school who are willing to participate in a recorded Zoom interview lasting approximately 45–60 minutes. Participation is completely voluntary. All interviews will be conducted using Zoom at a mutually agreeable time. The names of all participants, superintendents, districts, and schools collected for this study will be deidentified.

Please review the attached Participant Information Sheet which outlines the specific details of this study including confidentiality and privacy measures. If you are willing to participate in this study or if you have any questions, please send me an email at XXXX@XXX.XXX.

I look forward to hearing from you.

Regards,

Mandy Cyr

Doctoral Candidate

University of New England

APPENDIX C

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET



Office of Research Integrity Institutional Review Board

INNOVATION FOR A HEALTHIER PLANET

Participant Information Sheet

Version Date:	August 31, 2023
IRB Project #:	[An IRB Study # will be assigned to you upon receipt of your submission]
Title of Project:	Sharing Stories of Development: How Trauma-Informed School Leaders Perceive Developing a Trauma-Informed School
Principal Investigator (PI):	Mandy Cyr
PI Contact Information:	XXXXXXX@XXX.XXX; (XXX)XXX-XXXX

INTRODUCTION

- This is a project being conducted for research purposes. Your participation is completely voluntary.
- The intent of the Participant Information Sheet is to provide you with important details about this research project.
- You are encouraged to ask any questions about this research project, now, during or after the project is complete.
- The use of the word 'we' in the Information Sheet refers to the Principal Investigator and/or other research staff.

WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THIS PROJECT?

The general purpose of this narrative inquiry is to discover how educational leaders describe the strategies, tools, and processes used in the creation of a trauma-informed school. Five participants will be invited to participate in this research as part of the principal investigator's dissertation research.

WHY ARE YOU BEING ASKED TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS PROJECT?

You are being asked to participate in this research project because you are over the age of 18, who self-identify as trauma-informed educational leaders these positions may include principal, assistant principal, instructional coach, Social Emotional Learning coordinator, and school counselor, in a Maine public school and have the ability to bring professional development opportunities to their school. This study seeks five participants.

WHAT IS INVOLVED IN THIS PROJECT?

- You will be asked to participate in one semistructured interview with the principal investigator that will last approximately 45 to 60 minutes over Zoom.
- You can choose a pseudonym to be used in place of your name for the study.
- You will be given the opportunity to leave your camera on or off during the interview, and your interview will be recorded using Zoom.
- You will be emailed a copy of your restoried narrative to review for accuracy. You will have five calendar days to respond, or the principal investigator will assume that you have no comments or revisions, and the restoried narrative will be assumed to be accurate.

WHAT ARE THE POSSIBLE RISKS OR DISCOMFORTS INVOLVED FROM BEING IN THIS PROJECT?

The risks involved with participation in this research project are minimal and may include an invasion of privacy or breach of confidentiality. You have the right to stop, skip questions, or even take a break. You may decide not to answer certain questions and stop the interview at any time.

Please see the 'WHAT ABOUT PRIVACY & CONFIDENTIALITY?' section below for steps we will take to minimize an invasion of privacy or breach of confidentiality from occurring.

WHAT ARE THE POSSIBLE BENEFITS FROM BEING IN THIS PROJECT?

There are no likely benefits to participants from being in this research project; however, the information we collect may help further strategies, tools, and processes used in the creation of a trauma-informed school.

WILL YOU BE COMPENSATED FOR BEING IN THIS PROJECT?

You will not be compensated for being in this research project.

WHAT ABOUT PRIVACY AND CONFIDENTIALITY?

We will do our best to keep your personal information private and confidential. However, we cannot guarantee absolute confidentiality. Your personal information may be disclosed if required by law. Additionally, your information in this research project could be reviewed by representatives of the University such as the Office of Research Integrity and/or the Institutional Review Board.

The results of this research project may be shown at meetings or published in journals to inform other professionals. If any papers or talks are given about this research, your name will not be used. We may use data from this research project that has been permanently stripped of personal identifiers in future research without obtaining your consent.

- Data will only be collected during one on one participant interviews using Zoom, no information will be taken without your consent, and transcribed interviews will be checked by you for accuracy before they are added to the study.
- Pseudonyms will be used for all participants and any personally identifying information will be stripped from the interview transcript.

- All names and e-mails gathered during recruitment will be recorded and linked to a uniquely assigned pseudonym in a master list.
- The master list will be kept securely and separately from the study data and accessible only to the principal investigator.
- The interview will be conducted in a private setting to ensure others cannot hear your conversation.
- You will be given the option to turn off your camera during Zoom interview.
- After you have verified the accuracy of your restoried narrative the recorded Zoom interview will be destroyed. Once all restoried narratives have been verified by the participants of this project, the master list of personal information will be destroyed.
- All other study data will be retained on record for 3 years after the completion of the project and then destroyed. The study data may be accessed upon request by representatives of the University (e.g., faculty advisors, Office of Research Integrity, etc.) when necessary.
- All data collected will be stored on a password protected personal laptop computer accessible only by the principal investigator.

WHAT IF YOU WANT TO WITHDRAW FROM THIS PROJECT?

You have the right to choose not to participate, or to withdraw your participation at any time until the Master List is destroyed without penalty or loss of benefits. You will not be treated differently if you decide to stop taking part in this project.

If you request to withdraw from this project, the data collected about you will be deleted when the master list is in existence, but the researcher may not be able to do so after the master list is destroyed.

WHAT IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS ABOUT THIS PROJECT?

You have the right to ask, and have answered, any questions you may have about this research project. If you have questions about this project, complaints or concerns, you should contact the Principal Investigator listed on the first page of this document.

WHAT IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS ABOUT YOUR RIGHTS AS A RESEARCH PARTICIPANT?

If you have questions or concerns about your rights as a research participant, or if you would like to obtain information or offer input, you may contact the Office of Research Integrity at (207) 602-2244 or via e-mail at <u>irb@une.edu</u>.

For IRB Office Use Only – Do Not Alter or Delete RES-T-001; Rev 1; Effective Date: 11/14/2022

APPENDIX D

INTERVIEW PROTOCOL

1. BACKGROUND INFORMATION

a. What is your role in supporting the trauma-responsive practices in your school? How long have you been involved in creating a trauma-informed school? What was the motivation to pursue this approach?

2. UNDERSTANDING TRAUMA-INFORMED SCHOOLS

- a. In your experience, describe what a trauma-informed school looks like, feels like and sounds like?
- b. How does the trauma-informed approach differ from traditional approaches to education?
 - i. Follow-up question if necessary: What key principles or values underpin your trauma-informed school?

3. STRATEGIES FOR BUILDING A TRAUMA-INFORMED SCHOOL

- a. Could you describe strategies or approaches you have found effective in creating a trauma-informed school?
- b. How do you ensure that all staff members are trained and knowledgeable about trauma and its impact on students?

4. TOOLS AND RESOURCES

- a. Describe specific tools or resources you use to support the implementation of a trauma-informed approach?
 - i. Follow-up question if necessary: How do you select or develop these resources? What criteria do you consider?
- b. Describe the external organizations, partnerships, or collaborations that have been instrumental in supporting this work?

5. PROCESS AND IMPLEMENTATION

- a. Could you describe the process and timeline followed when implementing a traumainformed approach in your school inclusive of barriers.
 - i. Follow-up question if necessary: How were stakeholders engaged such as other leaderships, teachers, staff, and families? Were there any challenges or obstacles you encountered during the implementation phase? If so, how did you address them?

6. IMPACT AND OUTCOMES

- a. Share stories of positive changes or outcomes resulting from the implementation of trauma-informed practices in your school? Describe your school or district initiative that led to the trauma-informed practices implemented in your school?
- b. How do you measure the impact of these practices (i.e., student well-being, academic performance, and school climate)?

7. ADVICE

a. What are some valuable lessons you have learned through your experience in creating a trauma-informed school?

8. CLOSING

a. Thank you for your time today and again, your responses will not be identifiable as I will replace any identifying information with pseudonyms. Do you have any questions for me or any last thoughts to share?